DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 328 263 IR 053 421

AUTHOR

Oakley, Robert L.

TITLE

Copyright and Preservation: A Serious Problem in Need

of a Thoughtful Solution.

INSTITUTION

Commission on Preservation and Access, Washington,

DC.

PUB DATE

Sep 90

NOTE

69p.

AVAILABLE FROM Commission on Preservation and Access, 1785

Massachusetts Avenue, NW, Suite 313, Washington, DC

20036 (\$15.00, U.S. funds only).

PUB TYPE

Information Analyses (070)

EDRS PRICE DESCRIPTORS MFO1 Plus Postage. PC Not Available from EDRS. Archives; *Compliance (Legal); Computer Storage

Devices; *Copyrights; Fair Use (Copyrights); Federal

Legislation; Information Storage; *Library

Collections; *Library Materials; Microreproduction;

*Preservation; Telecommunications

IDENTIFIERS

Book Preservation; Brittle Books

ABSTRACT

The deterioration of printed materials is a problem which is plaguing libraries worldwide. Preservation of these millions of volumes is a daunting task--many of the materials are so brittle that the lightest touch may damage them irrevocably. This paper explores the issues of maintaining preservation efficiency without infringing upon copyright laws. Six major sections explore these issues: (1) Background (the cause and magnitude of deterioration and the creation of the Commission of Preservation and Access in 1984); (2) The U.S. Copyright Scheme (the extent of public domain, copyright status of a work, the rights of and limitations on copyright owners); (3) Reprise--Applying the Act to the Brittle Books Preservation Program; (4) What Have Other Organizations Done about Copyright? (the Library of Congress, Research Libraries Group, National Library of Medicine, and University Microfilms); (5) A Review of Several Possible Solutions (negotiated agreements with publishers, reliance on Fair Use, amendment of the Copyright Act, collective licensing, internal royalty payment fund, creation of quasi-governmental corporation); and (6) Legislative or Other Follow-Up Action (decisions to be made, discussion and agreements among library groups, discussion with publishing community, and discussion with congressional staff and the Copyright Office. A list of the publishing organizations participating in the Copyright Clearance Center's Annual Authorizations Service as of January 1990 is appended. (214 footnotes) (MAB)

Reproductions supplied by EDRS are the best that can be made

from the original document.

THE COMMISSION ON PRESERVATION AND ACCESS

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION Office of Educational Research and Improvement EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC) REPORT

- This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating it.
- Minor changes have been marke to improve reproduction quality
- Points of view or opinions stated in this Jocument do not necessarily represent official OERI position or policy

COPYRIGHT AND PRESERVATION:

A Serious Problem in Need of a Thoughtful Solution

by ROBERT L. OAKLEY

September 1990

"PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE THIS MATERIAL IN MICROFICHE ONLY HAS BEEN GRANTED BY

M.K.Sitts

TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)."

1785 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W., Suite 313, Washington, D.C. 20036 • (202) 493-7474

The Commission on Preservation and Access was established in 1986 to foster and support collaboration among libraries and allied organizations in order to ensure the preservation of the published and documentary record in all formass and to provide enhanced access to scholarly information.

The Commission is accessible via ALANET (ALA2624) and BITNET (CPA+GWUVM, SITTS+GWUVM), and by FAX (202) 483-6410.



Published by The Commission on Preservation and Access 1785 Massachusetts Avenue, NW, Suite 313 Washington, DC 20036

September 1990

Available from the publisher for \$15.00 (prepayment via check in US funds).



The paper used in this publication meets the minimum requirements of the American National Standard for Information Sciences-Permanence of Paper for Printed Library Materials ANSI Z39.48-1984.

© COPYRIGHT 1990 by Robert L. Oakley. Copying without fee is permitted provided that copies are not made or distributed for direct commercial advantage and credit to the source is given. Abstracting with credit is permitted. To copy otherwise, or to republish, requires a fee and specific permission.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
I. Background	1
A. The Cause of the Problem	2
B. The Magnitude of the Problem	3
C. The Commission on Preservation and Access	4
II. The U.S. Copyright Scrieme	6
A. Is the Work Protected?	6
1. Published Works	6
2. Works Published Abroad	9
3. Unpublished Works	10
4. Government Publications	11
B. How Long Does (Did) Protection Last?	12
C. Other Formalities	13
D. Summary—What is Protected and What is in the Public Domain?	13
E. Determining the Copyright Status of a Work	14
F. The Rights of the Copyright Owner	15
1. The Making of Copies	15
2. The Preparatior. of Derivative Works	16
The Distribution of Copies by Sale, or Transfer of Ownership, or by Rental Lease or Lending	16
4. The Public Performance or Display of a Protected Work	17
G. Limitations on the Rights of Copyright Owners	19
1. Fair Use, Section 107	19
2. The Library Exemptions—Section 108	22
3. Compulsory and Voluntary Licenses	31
4. Software	32
III. Reprise—Applying the Act to the Brittle Books Preservation Program	1 33
A. Safe Copying—Materials in the Public Domain	33
B. Protected Works—The First Copy	34



C. Protected Works—Multiple Copies for Other Libraries, for Sale, or for Conversion and Distribution in Digital Formats	35
1. Copies for Other Libraries	36
2. Converting the Material into Electronic Format	36
3. Distribution of Copies Electronically	37
IV. What Have Other Organizations Done About Copyright?	37
A. Library of Congress	37
B. Research Libraries Group	39
C. National Library of Medicine	39
D. University Microfilms	41
V. A Review of Several Possible Solutions	41
A. Negotiate Agreements with Publishers	
B. Reliance on Fair Use: Market Value of Older Works	42
C. Amend Section 108 to Permit Expanded Preservation Copying	43
D. Collective Licensing	44
1. Voluntary Licenses	44
2. Compulsory Licenses	45
3. The Foreign Experience	46
4. Oversight of Collectives	47
5. Collective Administration for Preservation Copying	47
E. Set Up Internal Royalty Payment Fund	50
F. Create Quasi-Governmental Corporation	51
VI. Legislative or Other Follow-Up Action	52
A. Decisions to Be Made	
B. Discussion and Agreement among Library Groups	53
C. Discussion with the Publishing Community	53
D. Discussion with Congressional Staff and the Copyright Office	53
ADDENDIX	55



Copyright and Preservation:

A Serious Problem in Need of a Thoughtful Solution

by Robert L. Oakley²

"The Copyright Office is not prepared to support a broad new privilege allowing libraries largely unrestrained preservation copying rights with respect to published works, and permitting storage in machine-readable, computer-accessed systems. . . . The Office . . . recognizes that libraries should be able to employ new preservation techniques, provided adequate copyright controls are legislated, both with respect to the preservation copying and information supplying functions of libraries. We recommend a thoracreview of these issues by the library, user, author, and publiching communities with a view to developing a common legislative position."

I. BACKGROUND

Virtually every medium of expression is threatened today by the natural forces of deterioration. The destruction of works recorded on paper, film, photographic prints, paint on canvas, phonorecords, video and audio tapes, and even optical and digital disks is proceeding at a pace that threatens to destroy most of the artistic and intellectual works of the past century and a half. The movie industry has been particularly concerned about the preservation of the film records of the twen*ieth century, and many of the newer media such as optical disk appear to have a relatively short life.⁴ But film can be converted to videotape or optical disk, and digital data can be reproduced with no degradation, provided the copy is made before the original deteriorates too far. Art historians are justifiably concerned about the loss of original artwork as well as the threatened deterioration of photoarchives, and for them, the solutions are less obvious because nothing can re-create the original. Overall, however, there is general agreement that the problem of brittle books is a crisis even more urgent than that in the arts.⁵

The deterioration of printed materials, books and serials printed on paper since the middle of the 19th century, is by far the most vexing of the preservation problems. It is a problem made more complicated by the fact that the deterioration has already progressed to the point where the materials are no longer simply threatened, many have already been lost, and others crumble at the slightest touch. Moreover, the sheer magnitude of the problem is daunting: hundreds of millions of volumes have been printed, and most of those are in various states of disrepair. To complicate things further, the materials in question are scattered all over the world. Library collections overlap, but even small libraries contain unique items. As a result, there is an urgent need for a major cooperative effort to preserve everything of value while avoiding unnecessary duplication of effort.



¹ This paper was prepared at the request of the Commission on Preservation and Access which is considering large scale solutions to the problem of detenorating collections in the nation's research libraries. It is intended to be a review of the relevant issues and law, it is not intended to substitute for formal legal advice.

The Copyright 1990 by Robert L. Oakley. Robert Oakley is the Director of the Law Library and Professor of Law at the Georgetown University Law Center in Washington, D.C.

³ Library Reproductions of Copynghted Works (17 U.S.C. 108), Report of the Register of Copynghts 340 (January 1983)

⁴ Paper, properly produced, has a life expectancy far exceeding that of the newer media. Acid free paper has been estimated to have a life expectancy of 300-400 years. By contrast, the newer digital optical disks have an estimated life of only 15 to 20 years.

Scholarly Resources in Art History Issues in Preservation, Report of the Seminar", Spring Hill, Wayzata, MN, Sept. 29-Oct. 1, 1988. Commission on Preservation and Access, 1989.

A. The Cause of the Problem

Virtually everything written or printed on paper since the middle of the 19th century is self-destructing at a rate that will soon make it unusable. Interestingly, older papers are actually more permanent and in better condition than those produced in the last hundred years. The cause of the problem lies in modern methods of paper manufacture.

Among the expanding population of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, advances in medicine, industrial invention, and new patterns of social interaction led to educational reform and increased literacy.⁶ An increasing demand for reading material coincided with two innovations—mechanical printing and mechanized papermaking⁷—which accelerated the growth of mass communications through new forms of cheap publication like books, tracts, newspapers, and encyclopedias.⁸ Mechanization, aided by the increasing use of steam power from burning coal, made it possible for paper manufacturers and printers to meet the rising demands of the population.

The increased production of paper, however, placed new demands on the suppliers of raw materials. For centuries, the source of the essential chemical constituent of paper, cellulose, was primarily linen and cotton rags. Unfortunately, the methods of rag collection remained unchanged during the age of expansion. The itinerant ragman and wholesale rag merchant could not come close to meeting the tremendous and unexpected demand for the raw material of paper. Further aggravating the supply problem was the reduction of a major source of rags—the waste product of the textile industry. The mechanization of that industry rendered it more efficient, and thereby reduced dramatically the amount of waste. By the mid-nineteenth century, the pressure from market forces stimulated the search for a new source of cellulose—a source eventually found in wood pulp.

Following decades of experiments with alternatives to rags by paper manufacturers, the German F.G. Keller patented an invention for the use of ground wood for paper pulp in 1840. ¹⁰ But this revolution in papermaking brought with it a new problem, since the wood pulp fibers that form the paper mes¹⁻ were substantially shorter and weaker than the fibers in rags. In addition, certain chemical compounds¹¹ used in the manufacturing process remain in unpurified wood pulp and then degrade to form acids and peroxides that promote the aging of the paper. Newspapers and less expensive books have been printed on paper made of unpurified ground wood pulp, thereby rendering them susceptible to especially rapid deterioration. Yet newsprint continues to be popular because of its low price and high absorbency, which make it an economical and efficient medium for high speed presses. Many important documents are printed on such paper, including daily newspapers, the Federal Register, the Code of Federal Regulations, and the daily Congressional record.



⁶ Coleman, D.C. The British Paper Industry, 1495-1860. (Oxford Univ. Pr., 1958) 208

⁷ The mechanization of the paper industry came in 1799 with the invention of the first, albeit crude, papermaking machine by the Frenchman Nicholas Louis Robert. News of the machine spread quickly to England, the one country which at that time possessed the capital, the enterprise, and the skill necessary to develop industrial mechanization. The Robert invention was later perfected and developed under the auspices of the London firm of Fourdinnier, the leading British wholesale stationer of the time, which obtained all rights to the patent. The Fourdinnier machine represented a straightforward mechanization of what formerly had been done by hand. Still, mechanization of papermaking did not have a great impact before the 1830's, at which time the output of hand made paper began to fall off sharply. It was not until wood pulp was incorporated into the process that the industry was able to meet the needs of modern consumption. Id.

⁹ Id. at 33C

¹⁰ Id 343

¹¹ Lignins and hemicelluloses 'Paper and its Preservation'. Library of Congress National Preservation Program Publications, Preservation Leaflet #2, October 1983, 1

The invention of wood pulp paper was the first step in creating short-lived paper. But an even more significant problem was the introduction of a new size in paper manufacture. "Size" is a chemical applied to the cellulose fiber of pulp to help prevent ink from spreading. A new size called alum-rosin became popular by the mid-nineteenth century. It was economical, easy to use, and produced an excellent product. But it also had a serious effect on the permanence of the paper.

At the molecular level, cellulose fibers resemble a chain. This fiber chain gives paper its strength. But alum-rosin sizing reacts with available moisture to produce sulfuric acid, which in turn reacts with the chemical groups in the chain and eventually causes breaks in the structure. Thus the fibers are weakened and the paper becomes brittle. This process of deterioration is accelerated by the presence of high temperatures, humidity and atmospheric pollutants.

These modern methods of paper-making bring with them the seeds of the eventual self-destruction of the paper produced. Although techniques have been developed to stop further deterioration of the paper, there is no known way to repair the damage that has already occurred to make brittle paper flexible again. Such restoration is unlikely because it would involve repairing the damage—restoring the cellulose chains—that occurred at the molecular level.¹⁶

Because for now we can only arrest the damage, not repair the damage already done, the eventual loss of the documents contained on paper appears to be inevitable. It is therefore imperative that some means be found to use modem technology to preserve the material by copying it to alternate formats.

B. The Magnitude of the Problem

The problem of paper deterioration affects virtually everything printed from the middle of the nineteenth century until today. To understand more precisely how much material is currently at risk, and how much should be converted to other formats, Robert Hayes did a study in 1987 to estimate the magnitude, costs, and benefits of preserving brittle books in the research libraries of the United States.¹⁷

The Hayes study concludes that there are approximately 305 million volumes in the nation's research libraries, and that approximately 25 percent of them, or 76 million volumes, are currently at risk. Making some further assumptions about the extent of further deterioration over the next 20 years (38 million more volumes) and the extent of overlap among collections (10 libraries hold any given title), the author concludes that there are 11.4 million unique items to be preserved. Further assuming that some have already been filmed and only one third of the rest will be saved, Hayes concludes that the conversion effort will total approximately 3.3 million volumes.

Turning to the cost, Hayes estimates that it will take approximately \$358 million, or about \$108 per volume, simply to make the initial conversion of the material. He believes that those costs can be shared by the institutions themselves, the Federal and state governments, foundations, and the commercial sector.

¹⁷ Robert M. Hayes, "The Magnitude. Costs. and Benefits of the Preservation of Britle Books", Report *0 on the Preservation Project, November 30, 1987



¹² Coleman, supra nt. o at 32

¹³ Id For centures, paper makers used size made from animal gelatin. By the close of the seventeenth century, however, aluminum sulfate, was added to sizes. From this practice grew the use of aluminosin.

¹⁴ U.S. Congress "Hearings of the Senate Rules and Administration Committee on the Construction and Maintenance of the Proposed Library of Congress Mass Book Deacidification Facility to be located at Fort Detrick, MD", April 11, 1984.

¹⁵ Scientific tests show that with every increase of 10 degrees Fahrenheit in temperature (5.5 degrees Celsius) the useful life of paper is approximately halved in mosphenic pollutants, common in urban areas, damage paper becase of their tendency to combine with atmosphenic moisture to form acids. "Newsprint and its Preservation," Library of Congress, National Preservation Program Publication, Preservation Leaflet #5, November 1981, 1

¹⁶ Interestingly, the author has recently learned that research is currently under way at the University of Illinois to restore paper, not by reassembling the cellulose chains, but by coating it and rebonding the fibers on the surface

17 Pobert M. Hange "The Mannet of Coating it and rebonding the fibers on the surface

Using similar methodology, the Commission on Preservation and Access has determined that the number of volumes to be preserved ranges from 3.3 million to 10 million. They believe that the lower number is "an estimate of the *minimum* number of volumes to be saved on microfilm if the core of important holdings is not to be lost. Were funding available, it would be important to save as many of the entire 10 million as possible." Their estimate of the cost is somewhat lower than that of the Hayes study, since they concluded that the project can be undertaken for \$270 million including the development of a central system for retrieval and distribution of needed items. For 3.3 million volumes, the unit cost would be approximately \$82 per volume.¹⁸

Both of these studies are built around a large number of assumptions. However, they do make clear that the problem is a large one, with an immediate need to save (*i.e.*, copy) at least 3.3 million volumes and possibly as many as 10 million volumes. The cost for this effort is likely to be at least \$250 million and could reach as much as \$1 billion.

C. The Commission on Preservation and Access

In response to such seemingly insurmountable problems, the Council on Library Resources created a Committee on Preservation and Access¹⁹ in 1984. Composed of library directors, university officers, and scholars, the Committee was charged "to develop a realistic plan to preserve large quantities of library materials and to find ways to encourage action." The Committee conducted a number of studies and met several times before issuing its final report in 1986.

The final report of the Committee urged purposeful, resolute, and efficient movement toward a solution. The brittle books problem, it said, "will not be solved by accident. The scale is too great, the cost too large, and the setting too complex." In order to create a coordinating structure for the effort, the Committee recommended the creation of a Commission on Preservation and Access and a National Advisory Council on Preservation. The Commission, with paid staff, was to develop plans (including funding plans) and procedures to establish and carry out a collaborative brittle book preservation program. It was also expected to encourage research into preservation issues and to promote access to preserved materials.²¹

The Commission held its first meeting in April of 1986, and developed an ambitious plan to achieve its objectives. Enlisting the support of many of the nation's largest research libraries and the Library of Congress (L.C.), the Commission proposed a 20- year program to microfilm the contents of over 3 million brittle volumes. In 1989, Congress authorized increased funding to the National Endowment for the Humanities to significantly expand the activities of its Office of Preservation. The multi-year preservation plan that NEH has submitted to Congress includes as its major component enhanced support for projects to microfilm brittle books and serials. The goal of the NEH initiative is to raise the rate of preservation microfilming over the next five years to a level that will enable the country to preserve the intellectual content of three million volumes by 2009.

¹⁸ See generally, Information about the Brittle Books Program", Commission on Preservation and Access, June 1988

19 Actually, the Committee began as the Preservation Committee, but quickly decided that "access is the corollary of preservation. The cost of preserving a significant portion of those materials now unusable in research libranes will be justified only if access is enhanced. This implies effective bibliographic information about what has been preserved and a responsive system for securing copies of the texts themselves." Interim Report of the Committee on Preservation and Access in Britle Books. Reports of the Committee on Preservation and Access at Appendix 1, p. 22 (1986). This expansion of the mission of the original committee has significant copyright implications.





The Commission and the libraries with which it is working will not be content to stop with the simple conversion of the material to another format. They are exploring the development of a central distribution facility to retrieve items as needed, and to reproduce them in film, fiche, or paper. Eventually, they may convert the documents again, to digital format for electronic storage and distribution.

The ultimate vision is the existence of a collective knowledge base, in digitized format, from which institutions and individuals can obtain information in a variety of formats to serve the scholarly objectives and programs. . . . This initial system would exist with the expectation that storage, access, and service enhancements would evolve with the increasing use of technology by scholars, and with the expanded availability of network capabilities to the research community.²²

The ultimate goal is to create a large electronic "library" which scholars and libraries worldwide could use, not only to read documents, but also to produce subsequent copies if desired. The scholar could locate an article in a serial, and direct the article to his or her high speed printer or to a disk. Similarly, the college library that wanted to replace a deteriorated run of serials in its collection could have them reproduced in film or could have them printed on acid-free paper and bound to replace the ones falling apart on the shelf. It is even possible that this electronic library would, in time, replace existing research libraries as we know them because unless those libraries replace their collections as they deteriorate, they will soon consist only of current materials (materials printed on acid free paper from the 1980's on) and rare older materials (printed before the 1820's or 30's). There will be a substantial gap of materials printed on paper for the 150 years or so in between.

Carrying out such a mission will plainly involve making multiple copies of each work. The first will be made when the works are converted to film. A master copy will be stored and another copy will be used as the working copy. Subsequent copies to be sold or converted to electronic format will be the third copy. If the works in electronic form are then made available to users or libraries by display, downloading, or printing on paper, yet another "copy" has been made. Some of these "copies" may not result in tangible paper or film products.

From the earliest days, the Commission has been concerned about the copyright implications of the brittle books preservation program. Although much of the material is in the public domain, some is not. Moreover, it is not always easy to determine which is which. Without protection, libraries participating in the program may run the risk that copyright owners may wish to assert a claim for some or all of the copyring.

The library and archives community is, therefore, anxious to move forward with the preservation program with reasonable efficiency while minimizing the potential exposure to copyright claims and litigation. To do so, the Commission and its constitutents need to know on which works they can move forward, where there are likely to be problems with copyright owners, and how best to resolve those problems and minimize the risk. If a legislative solution is required, they want to begin discussions with the Congress. The balance of this paper will explore these issues, define their parameters, and, hopefully, begin to move the discussion toward a resolution.

ί,



10

²² "Organization, Goals, and Activities of the Commission" p. 2, (mimeo, n.d.)

II. THE U.S. COPYRIGHT SCHEME²²

Copyright has been part of the U.S. legal system since the earliest days of the Republic. It is specifically authorized in the Constitution²⁴, and the first U.S. Copyright Act was passed in 1789.25 The Acts most relevant to the brittle book program are the Copyright Act of 190926 which was in effect for 69 years and the current Copyright Act of 197627 which took effect January 1, 1978. Throughout this paper, references will be made to the "old act" and the "new act". since the rules of the old act are still applicable in some cases.

A. Is the Work Protected?

The threshold question is whether or not a work is protected. Many older works that need preservation treatment are now unprotected in the public domain. They might be in the public domain for a variety of reasons: because copyright protection was never properly secured, because the term of copyright has passed or the copyright was not renewed in a timely manner, or because they were ineligible for protection (government documents, blank forms, facts and ideas, etc.). Any work that came into the public domain 'sfore the new Act took effect in 1978 may be copied freely because nothing in the new Act restores the copyright of such a work.²⁸

1. Published Works

Under the old Act, copyright protection came into being when a work was "published with notice". "Publication" was the dividing line since there was no statutory protection without publication. But if a work was published without the requisite formalities, it went into the public domain immediately. As a result of this dual requirement, there was a great deal of litigation over the concept of publication and the requirement of notice.

Interestingly, despite the importance of publication, the 1909 Act did not explicitly define the term, and its meaning in the copyright context may be different than what it means to most librarians.29 Section 26 of the Act hints at a possible definition, at least for those works that are reproduced for sale or distribution. There, it states that the date of publication is:

the earliest date when copies of the first authorized edition were placed on sale, sold, or publicly distributed by the proprietor of the coryright or under his authority. \dots 30



²¹ Throughout this section, the author has relied on the work of other authors, and he wishes to acknowledge that reliance here. Among the most important works used are Nimmer on Copyright by Mathew Bender (1989) and Latin an 5 The Copyright Latic Soxth edi by William F

Patry (1986)
²⁴ Article I, Section 8 of the Constitution provides that "Congress shall have the power To promote the Progress of Science and useful Arts, by securing for limited Times to Authors and Inventors the exclusive Right to their respective Writings and Discoveries.

The U.S. Copyright Act is based upon the earlier English Copyright Act, the Statute of Anne. first passed in 1709 (8 Anne. c. 19 (1709)).

and effective in 1710

Laws of 1909 c.320, 35 Stat. 1075 (1909) ²⁷ PL 94 553, 90 Stat 2541, October 19, 1976

Despite this fact, the author of this paper has learned that there have been discussions at the Copyright Office this year concerning the possibility of amending the Act to permit copyright owners who failed to renew prior to January 1, 1978, to renew retroactively on a volum tary basis. Such a change could have a dramatic effect on the ability of the britle books program to proceed on pre-1950 materials it would

also complicate the determination of what is protected.

29 The need for some precision in figure the date of publication is important because the date for renewal, the date when a work would so into the public domain, or indeed, the way a work is treated under the new Act is dependent on frang the publication date. A work which is widely distributed to the public, but never - published - by a publisher or placed on sale in regular distribution channels might inonetheless be held to have been published for purposes of the Act 30 17 USC Sec 26 (1970 ed.)

Librarians may tend to think of publication as occurring when a work is printed by a publisher. Under the 1909 Act, however, the printing date was largely irrelevant.31 The key concept was the release of the work to the public, and the key words are "placed on sale" or "publicly distributed".

The phrase "publicly distributed" permits protection even for items that are handed out free, provided they meet the requisite formalities. But, just because a work is distributed does not necessarily mean it has been published. For example, distribution to a limited group of people for limited purposes and without a right of further distribution³² does not constitute publication ³³ Similarly, the oral presentation of a play or a speech does not constitute "publication", even though it may have been heard by thousands of people.34 For statutory protection on such a work to be secured under the old Act, it still had to be published (in the traditional sense) with notice. Thus, for example, if someone wished to film Martin Luther King's "I Have a Dream" speech from the press copy, they could not conclude that the speech must be in the public domain simply based on the fact that millions of people have heard it and the document carried no notice. 35 Statutory protection might well have been secured later or it could have been protected under common law copyright as an unpublished work.36

In order to secure copyright protection under the Act, the owner had to affix the prescribed notice³⁷ in a prescribed location³⁸ on each authorized copy³⁹ of the work published ir, the United States. The omission⁴⁰ of the notice was generally fatal to a claim of copyright.⁴¹ Although in many cases defective notices⁴² also invalidated a claim of copyright, in some cases courts were inclined to construe the form requirements liberally, rather than invalidating a claim based on a minor technicality. As a result, it seems reasonable and prudent, if a notice of copyright is found on a published work, to presume its validity even if the notice is not on the back of the title page or is in non-standard form.

In summary, for works published in the United States between 1909 and 1978, the Copyright Act required publication with notice. If those requirements are met, it would be prudent to assume the presence of a valid claim of copyright, at least as of the indicated date.

⁴¹ Section 21 of the Act provides a saving clause for the protection of the work if the omission was by accident or mistake on only a limited number of copies. Nonetheless no damages could be recovered from an innocert infiniger who was misked by the absence of a notice. In the wrong place, locking one of the required elements, or with an incorrect dats. Although the date is supposed to be the same as the actual date of publication in practice there can be delays between typesetting and printing that result in a delay in publication. Courts held that if the date on the work was earlier than the actual date of publication it would be accepted since it did not extend the term of copyright See Callaghan v. Mycrs, 128 U.S. 617 (1888). In such a circumstance, the copyright term was based on the printed date, rather than on the publication date. On the other, and for many years of the date on the work was later than the actual date of publication, the claim of copy right was invalidated. Eventually, the Copyright Office liberalized this rule to permit postdated proties if there was no more than a one year discrepancy 37 CFR 202 2(bX6) (1959)



³¹ Although it may cause complications with the date of the notice. See infra-

For example, a draft of an article written by a faculty member and handed out to a class or circulated to colleagues for comment does

not constitute publication.

33 Nonetheless, authors are well advised to protect themselves by affixing a proper notice of copyright to the work before distributing it in

^{34.} To consider a speech a publication would create some serious practical problems about how the notice requirement could be met. See King v. Mister Micstri. Inc. 224 F Supp. 101 (S.D.N.Y. 1963) for litigation about whether or not Martin Luther King's. I Have a Dream speech was placed in the public domain when he gave it at a public demonstration before at least 200,000 people in Washington, D < At that time, with Dr. King's authority, copies of the speech were distributed, without a copyright notice, to the press. Even there, the court found copyright was not lost because distribution was to a limited group for a limited purpose.

** If under the old Actione is certain that a work has been published without notice, then it is a fair inference that the work is unprotected.

If however it is not clear that the work was published it is problematic to infer anything from the absence of a notice

The notice was required to include either the word. Copyright, the abbreviation. COPI or the symbol of the mark of the copyright propri etor and few literary works, the year in which copyright was secured by publication

³⁸ For books, etc. the notice was to be on the fittle page or the page immediately after the fittle page. For periodicals, the notice was to be or the title page or on the first page of text of each issue, or under the title heading (e.g., beneath the masthead), 17 USC Sec., 20 (1970). Copyright protection could not be defeated by an unauthorized copy being distributed without notice

⁴th This commonly is curred when contributors to a periodical or a collective work wanted to preserve their own rights in their contribution The general notice at the beginning of the book or periodical was not sufficient, they needed to be sure that they had the cown notice at the beginning of their part

Under the Copyright Act of 1976, publication is no longer required for statutory protection.⁴³ and the notice requirements were liberalized by the addition of a statutory provision designed to permit a defect in the notice to be remedied within a limited period of time.

Instead of requiring publication with notice for protection, section 302(a) now states that:

Copyright in a work created on or after January 1, 1978 subsists from its creation. . .

This provision brings into the statutory scheme many unpublished works that previously fell outside the protection of the Act.44

Nonetheless, because there are several ramifications that flow from publication, Section 101 of the new Act defines the term, incorporating much of what was discussed above. There, the Act provides that publication is:

the distribution of copies . . . of a work to the public by sale or other transfer of ownership, or by rental, lease, or lending.... A public performance or display of a work does not of itself constitute a publication.

The new Act, from January 1, 1978 to March 1, 1989, required notice of copyright on all publicly distributed copies of a published work.⁴⁵ The position of the notice was, however, more flexible than before; the new Act only required that the notice "shall be affixed to the copies in such manner and location as to give reasonable notice of the claim of copyright."46 In addition, under the new Act, the total omission of a notice did not automatically result in the forfeiture of copyright. Section 405(a) provided that the copyright was not invalidated if (1) the notice was omitted from only a relatively small number of copies, or (2) registration was made within five years and a reasonable effort was made to add the notice to all copies distributed after the omission had been discovered, or (3) the omission was in violation of an express written agreement. The language of these curative provisions is far from precise,⁴⁷ but cases have filled in some answers. The curative provisions suggest that under the 1976 Act, one cannot simply rely on the absence of a notice to determine that a work was in the public domain. If, however, one did rely on the absence of a notice for works published during that period, and can prove they were misled⁴⁸ because of its absence, Section 405(b) eliminates their liability.

The notice provisions changed again on March 1, 1989, the date the United States joined the Berne Convention. The Berne Convention is an international copyright convention that attempts to harmonize the copyright laws of different countries. In addition to affecting the way in which the United States treats materials published in other jurisdictions, implementation of the Convention required some changes to our own Act,49 including the notice requirement. In order to bring U.S. law into conformity with that of other Berne Convention countries which have abandoned the notice requirement, the U.S. law now states that for works published on or after March 1, 1989, a copyright notice may be placed on all publicly distributed copies. 50 For works published



³ Despite this fact, published works and unpublished works are treated differently in important ways, some of which relate directly to the brittle books program. See also sections on unpublished works and Section 108 of tile Act, infra.

See section on unpublished works, infra.

⁴⁵ Section 401(a) provides that "Whenever a work protected under this title is published in the United States or elsewhere by authority of the copyright owner, a notice of copyright as provided by this section shall be placed on all publicly distributed copies from which the work can be visually perceived, either directly or with the aid of a machine or device." Section 401(c)

⁴⁷ Eg., what constitutes a "relatively small number of copies?" Does the omission have to be inadvertent so that it can be "discovered"?

What constitutes a "reasonable effort" to add the notice?

48 Being misled is a factual question, in which the jury is likely to consider whether or not a library was acting reasonably in a slightly differ ent context, Quanto v Legal Times of Washington, Inc (506 F Supp 554,562 (D.C.D C., 1981)), suggests that good faith entails not only honesty in fact, but reasonableness as well. In that case, when a general legal newspaper reproduced an article from a student newspaper and the original article bore the author's name, the court found that [a]t a minimum [the defendant] had a duty to inquire to determine own ership of the copyright before claiming that he was misled and acted in good faith (*Id.* at 563).

Legislation implementing the Berne Convention was passed at PL 100-568, 702 Stat 2853 (Oct. 31, 1988).

⁵⁰ 17 U.S.C.A. Sec. 401(a) (1990 pp.)

after that date, a notice of copyright is not required, but the Copyright Office is continuing to encourage the use of the notice on a voluntary basis to allow a copyright owner to defeat a claim of innocent infringement. As a result, for works published after March 1, 1989, with or without a notice of copyright, one should presume they are protected.

2. Works Published Abroad

Copyright legislation here and abroad is national in scope. Each nation has its own copyright laws applicable to the uses of a work within its borders, and whether or not a work is protected in another country is dictated by the laws of that country. Thus a work may be in the public domain in the United Sta es, but be fully protected under the laws of other countries. Conversely, whether or not a work is protected in the United States is governed by U.S. law. It is beyond the scope of this paper to review the copyright legislation of every jurisdiction, worldwide, but libraries participating in the brittle books program should be aware of a possible problem if they intend to make documents available overseas. They may well preserve and disseminate documents perfectly legally in the United States that would cause problems in other jurisdictions.

Generally speaking, copyright protection in the United States for published works requires first publication in the United States or in a country with whom we have a copyright treaty.51 Protection is also granted if the author is domiciled in one of those countries. In addition, the President may issue a proclamation granting protection for works and authors from particular countries if he finds that those countries accord nondiscriminatory treatment to U.S. works. 52 Finally, works published by the United Nations or by the Organization of American States are granted protection.

Under the Universal Copyright Convention, the normal U.S. formalities⁵³ were not required for non-domestic authors, provided published works contained the U.C.C. notice, consisting of (1) the "c" in a circle, (2) the name of the proprietor, and (3) the year of first publication, placed on the work in such a way as to give "reasonable notice" of the claim. Thus, although the dates when different countries signed the conventions are certainly relevant, it would be prudent to consider any work published with the requisite notice in any of these countries, or by a domiciliary of one these countries, protected in a manner equivalent to U.S. works.

See 1988 Treaties in Force 379
53 Registration and deposit with the Library of Congress



⁵¹ See 17 USC 134(b) The old Act contained a similar provision in Section 9. The United States has been a member of the Universal Copy nglit Convention since 1955. That convention requires non-discrimination among member nations, i.e., a member nation is required to give the same protection to authors domiciled in, or works published in, member countries as it does for it's own authors and publications. The members of the U.C.C. include Algena, Andorra, Argentina, Australia, Australia, Bahamas, Banqiadesh, Barbados, Belgium, Belize, Brazil, Bulgana, Cameroon Canada, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Czechoslovalua, Democratic Kampuchea, Denmark, Dominican Republic Ecuador, El Salvacior, Fiji, Finland, France, German Democratic Republic, Federal Republic of Germany, Ghana, Greece, Guaternala, Guinea, Haiti, Holy See, Hungary, Iceland, India, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Laos, Lebanon, Libena, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg Malawi, Malta, Mauntius, Mexico, Monaco, Morocco, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nica, gua, Nigeria, Norway, Palustan, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, Senegal, Soviet Union, Spain, Sn Lanka, Sweden, Switzerland, Tinnidad and Tobago, Tunisia, United Kingdom. United States of America, Venezuela, Yugoslavia, Zambia. See 1989 Copyright 13 (January 1989). The United States has also established copyright relations with other American republics through the Buenos Aires Con vention (1911) and its predecessor, the Mexico City Convention Members of the Buenos Aires Convention include Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil Chile, Colombia. Costa Rica. Dominican Republic. Ecuador. Guatemala. Haiti. Honduras. Mexico. Nicaragua. Panama, Paraguay. Peru, and

Uniquay. See 1988 Treaties in Force 381

Such proclamations have been issued for the following countries: Argentina, Australia, Austria, Barbados, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Chile. Costa Rica, Cuba, Czechoslovakia, Danzig, Denmark, Egypt, El Salvador, Fiji, Finland, France, Germany (pre-war), Federal Republic of Germany, Greece, Guatemala, Holy See, Hungary, India, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Republic of Korea, Luxembourg, Mexico, Monaco, Morocco, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nicaragua, Norway, Palestine (pre 1950), Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Poland Portugal, Romania, Singapore, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Tunisia, United Kingdom, Uruquay, Venezuela, Yuqoslavia, Zaire

The Berne Convention substantially expands the number of countries⁵⁴ having reciprocal relations with the United States. However, the Convention, which became effective on March 1, 1989, is entirely prospective. As a result, adherence to Berne does not add any protection to works already in the public domain in the United States. Works published before March 1989 in Berne countries that do not have another copyright agreement with the United States are, therefore, unprotected in the U.S. even though they may be protected elsewhere. As noted above, the Berne Convention also does away with the notice requirement. As a result, works published in any Berne country after March 1, 1989, with or without a notice of copyright, should be presumed to be protected for the statutory duration. (See infra.)

3. Unpublished Works

Up to this point, the discussion has been limited to published works which, historically, have been treated very differently than unpublished works. Under the old Act, works published with notice were protected, and works published without notice were not. Those works that were not even published fell or side the ambit of the statute altogether. They were governed by state statute or the common law, in a way that is usually referred to as "common law copyright". In general, protection under state law came into being from "the moment of creation" and terminated upon publication. Except for the examples of unfixed creation noted in infra, the types of works that were the subject of state copyright protection were essentially the same in unpublished form as those covered by the statute. State copyright protected manuscripts and unpublished speeches. Infringing actions included acts of reproduction, performance, and distribution. Thus, although unpublished works were not covered by the old Act, common law copyright provided them with essentially similar protection.55

For the brittle books program, the key question is when does common law copyright terminate? The basic rule was that common law copyright continued unless and until the work was published. In that sense, it was sometimes referred to as a right of first publication.⁵⁶ Common law copyright was also terminated if the work was registered with the Copyright Office as an unpublished work.⁵⁷ In general, then, under the old Act, common law copyright existed for unpublished or unregistered works in perpetuity.58



⁵⁴ Eighty-one states are members of the Berne Convention, including. Argentina, Australia, Austria, Bahamas, Barbados, Belgium, Benin. Brazil, Bulgana, Burkma Faso, Cameroon, Canada, Central African Republic, Chad, Chile, Colombia, Congo, Costa Rica, Cote d'Ivoire, Cyprus, Czechoslovakia, Denmark, Egypt, Fiji, Finland, France, Gabon, German Democratic Republic, Federal Republic of Germany, Greece, Guinea, Holy See, Hungary, Iceland, India, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Lebenon, Libena, Libya, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, Madagascar, Mali, Malta, Mauritania, Mexico, Monaco, Morocco, Netherlands, New Zealand, Niger, Norway, Pakistan, Peru, Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Rwanda, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Sn Lanka, Sunname, Sweden, Switzerland, Thailand, Togo, Trinidad and Tobago, Tunisia, Turkey, United Kingdom, United States of America, Uruguay, Venezuela, Yugoslavia, Zaire, and Zimbabwe. See 1989 Copyright 7 (January 1989). ⁵⁵ Nummer on Copynglit Sec. 2.02 (1988)

⁵⁶ Id., sec 401[B] The case law developing this area dates to the very earliest days of copyright. See Donaldson v. Becket, 4 Burr. 2408 (HL 1774). Under the new act, this tradition has continued, but with less certainty. In the case of Harper & Row Publishers Inc. v. Nation Enterprises, 471 U.S. 539, 225 USPQ2d 1073 (1985), the Supreme Court held that a magazine's publication of verbatim excerpts from a manuscript of President Ford's unpublished biography constituted copyright infringement. The Court stated that "under ordinary circumstances, the author's right to control the first public appearance of his undisseminated expression will outweigh a claim of fair use." ld. at 555. This result is not based on state law, but it does reflect a desire to continue the old right of first publication. See also section on fair use", infra.

Jones v Virgin Records, Ltd., 643 F.Supp. 1153, 1158 (S.D.N.Y. 1986), cited in Nimmer, supra, nt. 33 at Sec. 4.01[B].

⁵⁸ Upon publication, of course, works either became protected by the statute if the requisite formalities were followed, or they went into the public domain.

All this changed under the Copyright Act of 1976, and many of the problems created by the dual system (state and Federal) of copyright protection have been substantially eliminated. The new Act explicitly covers all works—published or unpublished—and preempts any state law purporting to create equivalent rights.⁵⁹

In addition, under the new Act, publication is no longer the critical dividing line that it once was, and unpublished works are brought fully into the statutory framework.⁶⁰ As a practical matter, since the statute requires a work to be "fixed in a tangible medium of expression", protection now dates from the time of fixation, whether on paper, film, or disk,⁶¹ rather than from the time of publication. Generally speaking, then, under the new Act, all newly created but as yet unpublished works should be regarded as protected in the same manner as any other work.

Those works which were created before the new Act went into force (January 1, 1978) but had not been published and had not gone into the public domain are also brought under the statute. They are protected for the ordinary term (see *infra*), but because that duration might be short, they are provided a minimum period of protection to December 31, 2002. If they should be published prior to that date, the minimum period of protection is extended to December 31, 2027.62

In summary, under the old Act unpublished works were protected in perpetuity under state "common law" copyright. Under the new Act, they are protected along with other works for the ordinary term of copyright. But, because of the minimum period of protection provided for such works, any work unpublished, unregistered, and not in the public domain as of January 1, 1978 should be presumed to be protected at least through the year 2002.

4. Government Publications

The Copyright Act provides that:

Copyright protection under this title is not available for any work of the United States Government. . 63

Although this provision seems simple and straightforward, there is one limitation. A work that is otherwise protected and is subsequently published in a government publication is not thereby placed into the public dornain. In the original enactment of this provision in the 1909 Act, section 8 stated:

The publication or republication by the Government . . . of any material in which copyright is subsisting shall not be taken to cause any abridgement or annulment of the copyright or to authorize any use or appropriation of such copyrighted material without the consent of the copyright proprietor.

⁶¹ Presumably, this means that if there were a work that were not fixed, it could still be the subject of state copyright law. As examples, Nimmer suggests that states might still protect choreography that has not been filmed or recorded, an extemporaneous speech, live broadcasts, and other works developed from memory and without being written down or otherwise recorded. Of course, in these circumstances there is a difficult problem of proof of ownership of the work or its infungement. Additionally, it is not yet clear whether the states will protect such works. See generally *Nummer on Copyright*. Sec. 2.02 (Bender, 1988)

62 See 17 USC 303 (1986)

63 17 USC 105 (1988)



⁵⁹ The Act in Sec 301(a) reads.

On and after January 1, 1978, all legal or equitable rights that are equivalent to any of the exclusive rights within the general scope of copyright as specified by section 106 in works of authorship that are fixed in a tangible medium of expression and come within the subject matter of copyright as specified by sections 102 and 103, whether created before or after that date and whether published or unpublished, are governed exclusively by this title. Thereafter, no person is entitled to any such right or equivalent right in any such work under the common law or statutes of any State.

60 But see nt. 56, supra.

Although this language is omitted from the current Act, the definition of "work of the United States Government" in the 1976 Act states that it is "a work prepared by an officer or employee of the United States Government as part of that person's official duties."64 Presumably, then, if some other work is reprinted in a government publication, it does not itself become a government publication and lose protection. That this is the intended result under the current Act is made explicit in the legislative reports.⁶⁵ If government publications are reproduced as part of the brittle books program, participating libraries should be aware that although such documents are generally in the public domain, some materials within them may not be.

With regard to state or local publications there is no exclusion from protection. However, several court opinions have suggested that federal copyright protection should not be available at least for the official text⁶⁶ of the state statutes or court decisions.⁶⁷ Although it has not been so held, the principles enunciated in those cases would also seem to preclude protection for state administrative regulations, local ordinances, and the decisions of any judicial or administrative tribunal. Nonetheless, all other state publications presumably can be copyrighted. In any event, it must be said that this area is unsettled. If a state claims copyright protection in a work, the prudent person would accept that claim, unless he or she specifically wanted to challenge it.

B. How Long Does (Did) Protection Last?

The foregoing discussion indicates which works may be protected. Such protection is limited, however.68 When the term of protection expires, the work goes into the public domain and may be copied freely. As a result, it is important to be aware of the duration for which each work is protected.

Under the 1909 Act, copyright protection began when the work was published with notice (or in the case of some unpublished works, such as dramatic works, when it was registered) and ran for a period of 28 years. At the expiration of the first term, the copyright could be renewed for an additional 28 years if the application for renewal was made before the end of the first term. Those works which were not renewed at the expiration of the initial term are now in the public domain.

In anticipation of a new copyright law with a longer term of protection, in the 1960's Congress began extending protection for those works already in their renewal term. Eventually these extensions totaled 19 years, and subsequent renewal terms were made for 47 years (the original renewal of 28 years + the 19 additional years). This meant that the period of total potential protection



^{64 17} USC 101 (1988)

⁶⁵ The Report of the House Judiciary Committee stated Section 8 of the statute now in effect includes a saving clause intended to make clear that the copyright protection of a private work is not affected if the work is published by the Government. This provision serves a real purpose in the present law because of the ambiguity of the undefined term any publication of the United States Government. Section 105 of the bill, however, uses the operative term 'work of the United States Government' and defines it in such a way that privately written works are clearly excluded from the prohibition, accordingly, a saving clause becomes superfluous."

[&]quot;Retention of a saving clause has been urged on the ground that the present statutory provision is frequently cited, and that having the provision expressly stated in the law would avoid questions and explanations. The committee here observes (1) there is nothing in section 105 that would relieve the Government of its obligation to secure permission in order to publish a copyrighted work, and (2) publication or other use by the Government of a private work would not affect its copyright protection in any wav "H Rept. 94 1476, 94th Cong. 2d Sess 60

<sup>(1976)

66</sup> Even though the official *text* may not be protected, a publisher might well add supplemental material such as indexes, digests, and innotations that do qualify for protection. Even the pagination may be protected as was suggested in the case of West Publishing Co. v Mead Data Central 799 F2d 1219 (8th Cir., 1986)

The principle goes as far back as Wheaton v. Peters, 33 U.S. 591 (1834), where the Supreme Court refused to enforce an alleged copy right on their opinions. In Nash v. Lathrop, 142 Mass. 29, the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court states

Every citizen is presumed to know the law thus declared, and it needs no argument to show that justice requires that all should have free access to the opinions, and that it is against sound public policy to prevent this

or more decisions see Building Officials and Code Administrators v. Code Technology. Inc. 628 F2d 730 (1st Cir. 1980)

For more decisions see Building Officials and Code Admiritistrations v. Code recordings in the Second Code and Code Admiritistrations v. Code recordings in the Second Code and Code and Code Admiritistrations v. Code recordings in the Second Code and Code and Code Admiritistration v. Code and Code an

was 75 years. For works published prior to 1978 this system was left unchanged by the new Act. Thus, the initial 28 year term of a work published in 1957 would expire at the end of 1985⁶⁹, if renewed during that year, protection would be extended for another 47 years to the end of the calendar year 2032. If not renewed, the work would now be in the public domain.

For works created or published after 1978, the new Act adopted new rules designed to bring the United States into conformity with other countries of the world. Under the new Act, basic protection begins when the work is created and lasts for the life of the author plus 50 years. For joint works by two or more authors, protection lasts for 50 years after the dean of the last surviving author. Works made for hire or anonymous works are protected for a period of 75 years from first publication or 100 years from creation, whichever expires first. Similarly, the law creates a presumption as to the author's death at 75 years after first publication or 100 years after creation, whichever comes first, provided there is nothing in the records of the copyright office indicating that the author is still living or died less than 50 years before.

C. Other Formalities

161 F 2d 406 (2d Cir 1946)

This paper has already discussed the importance of publication with notice. The other formalities required by the Act include registering the work with the Copyright Office and depositing two copies with the Library of Congress. The purpose of the deposit requirement is to enrich the collection of the library and to provide the Copyright Office with a copy of the work in case it needs to be consulted as a result of a subsequent claim. The registration requirement creates a written record of the claim of copyright. These issues are not likely to be a major concem, and only a few comments need be made about them.

The 1909 Copyright Act required "prompt" registration and deposit. Deposit of the work was required for registration, but not the reverse. In any case, neither of these formalities was a condition of copyright, and their absence did not void a claim of copyright. Completion of the registration requirement was, however, necessary before an action for infringement could be initiated; it was also necessary for renewal. If one is investigating a work that should have been renewed under the old Act and there is no record of registration in the Copyright office, it can be presumed to be in the public domain.

As under the old Act, the absence of registration under the new Act does not void the copyright but registration is required before an infringement action can be brought. Moreover, registration can now be used to cure a defect caused by the omission of the statutory notice, a defect that was fatal under the old Act.

D. Summary—What is Protected and What is in the Public Domain?

As of 1990, anything published before 1915 is in the public domain. Moreover, if a work was published before 1950, it must have been renewed under the old Act. If it was, it gained an



⁶⁹ The new Act did make all copyright terms reminate at the end of the calendar year when they would otherwise expire. This change helps to avoid much of the confusion that previously resulted with copyrights terminating throughout the year. See 17 U.S.C. 305. See 17 U.S.C. 302(a)

⁷¹ The definition of work made for hire' makes clear that it not only includes works created in the traditional employment context, but also includes works specially commissioned for use in a collective work or compilation if the parties explicitly agree that the work should be so considered. See 17 U.S.C. 101. A collective work as a whole, such as a journal, as distinct from the individual contributions in the larger work (see 17 U.S.C. 201(c)), is also protected as a work made for hire because, in most cases, it is owned by an institution or corporation and published as part of that relationship. Protection for such works exists for 75 years from the date of first publication.

and published as part of that relationship Protection for such works exists for 75 years from the date of first publication 72 if information is provided to the Copyright Office about the true author of such a work, then the actual life plus 50 rules apply instead of the 75-100 year presumption. See 17 USC 302(c) 73 See 17 USC 302(e)

⁷⁴ As noted previously, however, a work that was protected under common law copyright could secure statutory copyright by registration ⁷⁵ In the case of *Washingtonian Publishing* Co v *Pearson*, 306 U.S. 30 (1939), the Supreme Court found that deposit and registration could be made at any time after publication as long as it occurred prior to filing the infiningement action. Subsequent cases allowed ever longer penods of time, including at least one where the delay was twenty seven years (*Shapiro*, *Bernstein & Co v Jerry Vogel Music Co*

additional 47 years (provided, of course, it was published with the requisite notice), but if it was not, it is now in the public domain. ⁷⁶ If it was published between 1950 and 1978, renewal registration must be completed by the end of the calendar year in which the twenty eighth anniversary of publication occurs. If the renewal is not (or was not) made in a timely manner, the work is in the public domain. If the work was first published after 1978, then it should be presumed to be protected. Finally, all U.S. government documents are in the public domain, except where they reproduce protected materials.

Until the new Copyright Act took over, unpublished works were protected in perpetuity unless they were registered with the Copyright Office. If they were registered, they were subject to the same statutory rules listed above. Under the new Act, unpublished works, like published works, are protected for the life of the author plus 50 years. For such works in existence before the new Act, the duration of protection varies, but in no case does protection expire before December 31, 2002. As a result, such unpublished works should, for the time being, be presumed to be protected.

E. Determining the Copyright Status of a Work

As noted above, works published prior to 1915 can be presumed to be in the public domain. Similarly, works published after 1978 can be presumed to be protected. For works published between those dates, some research at the Copyright Office is likely to be necessary to determine whether the work was registered, by whom, and whether or not it was renewed. Eventually, for works published after 1978, research will also be needed to determine the date of death of the author.

The starting point is the work itself. Assuming that it was "published", the work should be checked to determine whether or not the requisite notice is present. If not, it can be presumed to be in the public domain. If the notice is present, the date in the notice provides the first clue. If the work is older than 28 years, the records of the Copyright Office should be searched since the work should have been registered in order to renew the Copyright. If a renewal registration was not made, the work is in the public domain; if it was made, then the work is protected for 75 years from the date of first publication.

The basic file at the Copyright Office is the Catalog of Copyright Entries, which includes both initial registrations made during the covered period and renewals. The catalog is organized into different parts according to the different classes of works. These classes include "Nondramatic Literary Works", "Performing Arts", "Motion Pictures and Filmstrips", "Sound Recordings", "Serials and Periodicals", "Visual Arts", "Maps", and "Renewals". Before 1978, the Catalog was similarly divided into the classes contained in the statute at that time. Renewals. however, were at the back of each class, rather than in a separate section of their own. The Catalog of Copyright Entries is available for purchase from the Government Printing Office, and is also available for selection through the Depository Program. It is, therefore, likely to be available in many libraries. In addition, the staff at the Library of Congress is working on a retrospective conversion project for this file, and it may eventually be available online.

The Copyright Office also maintains files and indexes covering the assignment and ownership of copyright. These may be searched at the Copyright Office, or the staff there will search the records for a \$10 per hour fee. The records of ownership are extensive and useful, but there is no recordation requirement for copyright transfers, so they cannot be thought to be complete.



According to the Copynght Office, 90 percent of all copynghts are not renewed. For books an renewed. See Copynght Law Revision Study No. 30, "Duration of Copynght", Appendix B (Comm. 1961).
 Of course, it could be registered during the initial term as well, but such registration is not a cor Julian of protection.

One problem is that even with all of this, the searches may not be conclusive.78 As noted before, works need not be registered to be protected (except after renewal). The information known about a work may not be sufficient to identify it in the records of the Office or it may also have been registered under a different title or as part of a larger work. Similarly, copyright owners may have transferred some or all of their rights in ways that are difficult to trace. Unless a way can be found to provide some certainty (see section on possible solutions, infra), it would be wise to presume that a work is protected unless it can be shown that it is not. (One may certainly choose not to take such a conservative approach, but that is certainly the approach of least risk.)

F. The Rights of the Copyright Owner

When a work is protected by copyright, the statute grants the owner a series of exclusive rights activities the owner may do or authorize to be done. Subject to some major limitations⁷⁹, anything that impinges on those rights is potentially an infringement. The exclusive rights of the copyright owner include (1) the right to reproduce the work, (2) the right to prepare derivative works, (3) the right to distribute copies of the work by sale or transfer of ownership, or by rental, lease or lending, and (4) the right to perform or display the work publicly in the case of literary, musical, dramatic, choreographic, audiovisual or other similar works.80

1. The Making of Copies

The right to make copies for sale or distribution is at the heart of the Copyright Act. In the traditional paper-based environment, the right to authorize the making of copies for sale provides the basis from which authors ultimately derive compensation. This right has been in some tension in recent years because of the development of modern reproductive technology that permits relatively easy and inexpensive copying of complete works in single or multiple copies. The tension has been exacerbated by personal computer networks and compact disk technology, which not only increase the speed with which a work can be copied but also permit its almost instantaneous transmission from a single central datafile to a remote location.

Even though some sections of the Copyright Act support preservation within certain limits⁸¹, it is clear that much of what is planned is the making of copies of existing works. The initial film copy is clearly a copy, although probably not an infringing one. (See infra.) Subsequent copies of the master are also copies, but may be somewhat more troublesome, particularly if they are sold to libraries or individual readers. Loading the work into an online datafile is also probably copying, although until the work is distributed to a user, there may be no actual harm to the copyright owner. When the work is distributed electronically, in whole or in part, some of the copying that occurs may be problematic and some may not. One screen of data from a remote file need not be permanent, and in most cases would certainly be insubstantial. But, if an entire work were copied from a remote datafile into the memory of a personal computer, a copyright owner might have a greater claim. He or she would be still more concerned if the work were saved to disk for later use or were printed out on paper.

⁸¹ See discussion of Sec. 108(b), 108(c) and 117, infra.



⁷⁸ Even the Library of Congress itself found it difficult to rely on searches of the records. (See discussion of the Library of Congress preser

vation project, *infra.*)
⁷⁹ See generally, 17 U.S.C. Sections 107 112, and Section 117 (1982). The major limitations include fair use (Section 107), certain uses by libranes and archives (section 108), the first sale doctrine (section 109), performances or displays of certain works in educational, religious or other limited and non public settings (section 110), some secondary transmissions (section 111), and the making of copies of computer programs as an essential step in using the program or for archival purposes (section 117). Some of these, especially those in section 108, are explicitly related to preservation. For a full discussion of those limitations see infra.

80 The exclusive rights of the copyright owner are enumerated in 17 U.S.C. Section 106 (1982).

Some commentators have noted that compensation to an author based on the sale of copies may be outmoded because works need no longer be contained in physical objects called copies. Rather, they can be transmitted to a user in whole or in part electronically without a permanent copy ever having been made. Ultimately, it may be that a new means of compensating authors will have to be developed. Many computer services now compensate copyright owners based on use. Some increase the level of compensation if a permanent copy is made, but compensation based on use rather than copies seems to be the norm in the electronic environment. This development has prompted at least one commentator to posit the need for a "useright" to supplement existing copyright and to provide a new basis for compensation. The development of such a concept could be useful since it might permit the copying of the works, but necessitate compensation to the owner when the work was actually used by an individual. Use could be tracked by the computer storing the works with an accounting made on a periodic basis.

2. The Preparation of Derivative Works

The right to control the making of derivative works was originally designed to permit an author to take advantage of foreign translations of his or her written work. It has also been very useful for authors who prepare a stageplay or a movie from an earlier novel. In the computer context, new questions are being raised about derivative works since computers can be easily used to generate a new work from older data or information.⁸⁴

The simple preservation of existing works is unlikely to create any issues of derivative works. If, however, libraries decide to provide "improvements", they may run into the gray area caused by the use of new technology to enhance existing works. Colorized films are one example of a derivative work causing potential problems.⁸⁵ If libraries were to use computer software to automatically generate summaries or indexes of works,⁸⁶ or if they developed other ways to enhance the original—for example through the enhancement of photographic images—they should be aware of a potential problem area.

3. The Distribution of Copies by Sale, or Transfer of Ownership, or by Rental Lease or Lending

The right to control the distribution of copies is a corollary of the right to control reproduction since it has been from 'he distribution of copies that income to the owner has been derived. Similarly, those who established the Commission on Preservation and Access determined that the mere making of the preservation copy is insufficient; those copies need to be made available to libraries and scholars since there is no point in creating the copy if it can never be used.

An important limitation on the right to control the distribution of a work is provided in Section 109 of the statute. That section permits a lawful owner of a particular copy of a work to sell or otherwise dispose of a work or to display it publicly.⁸⁷ In other words, when someone purchases a copy of a work, the original creator no longer has control over what happens to that copy.



⁸² See generally Intellectual Property Rights in an Age of Electronics and Information, U.S. Congress, Office of Technology Assessment, 1986

⁸³ See Kost, "USERIGHT", in Intellectual Property issues in the Library Network Context, Proceedings of the Library of Congress Network Advisory Committee Meeting, March 23 25, 1988, Library of Congress Network Planning Paper Number 17 at 71 (1989)

84 See generally, OTA Report, supra nt. 81

⁸⁵ Colorized films raise at least two problems. The first is whether or not the new film is a derivative work and who owns the rights to it. An even earlier question is whether the "owner" of an artistic work can change it in a way that is significantly different from what the original art ist produced. See Moral Right Protections in the Colorization of Black and White Motion Pictures. A Black and White Issue, "16 Hofstra LR 503 (1988) and "Motion Picture Colorization, Authenticity, and the Exclusive Moral Right." 64 N.Y.U. L.Rev. 628 (1989). Indexes and summanes are usually seen as new works, not infringing on the original, but if they are automatically generated by a com-

The deves and summanes are usually seen as new works, not infinging on the original, but if they are automatically generated by a computer working on the text itself, they could begin to blur the line. If, in particular, high quality summanes were generated that could be used in place of the original then the author might have some concern. Abridgments or condensations have long been considered to be two works (See Copyright Law Revision, Part 6. Supplementary Report Committee Print, 1965, 17), and the fact that such works be generated automatically is unlikely to affect the basic principle.

The creator retains rights in the intellectual component of the work, but not in the physical object.⁸⁸ This policy, known as the first sale doctrine, is a fundamental principle in American copyright law and provides the legal foundation for library lending. Absent this provision, libraries might well find themselves unable to lend a work without the permission of the author.⁸⁹

One exception to the first sale doctrine was recently enacted prohibiting the rental, lease or lending of phonorecords for commercial gain without the permission of the copyright holder. This amendment to the law was enacted to stop the spread of record piracy shops which would rent or lend records in a way that permitted (and even encouraged) users to make recordings of the work. An exemption for libraries specifically permits them to continue their practices of lending such materials.⁹⁰ In 1989 another exception to the first sale doctrine prohibiting the rental, lease or lending of software was introduced in the Senate.⁹¹ It is expected that if enacted, this new bill will also contain an exemption for non-profit libraries.

All of this suggests that the right to control the distribution of a work is an area of some ferment and that if copyright owners perceive that preservation activities and programs are interfering with that right, they might become concerned.

4. The Public Performance or Display of a Protected Work

Under Section 106, the copyright owner has the exclusive right to publicly perform or display certain works, including literary works. Proposals to make and distribute physical copies of a work do not implicate either of these rights, but making them available through an online database without the permission of the copyright holder might constitute an infringing public display. Under the statute

The . . . definition of "display" covers any showing of a "copy" of the work, "either directly or by means of a film, slide, television image, or any other device or process." In addition to the direct showings of a copy of a work, "display" would include the projection of an image on a screen or other surface by any method, the transmission of an image by electronic or other means, and the showing of an image on a cathode ray tube or similar viewing apparatus connected with any sort of information storage and retrieval system.⁹²

Thus, showing a work on a computer terminal would almost certainly constitute a display. However, a display infinges the rights of the owner only if it is public. Section 101 of the Act states that to perform or display a work publicly means—

- (1) to perform or display it at a place open to the public or at any place where a substantial number of persons outside of a normal circle of a family and its social acquaintances is gathered; or
- (2) to transmit or otherwise communicate a performance or display of the work to a place specified by clause (1) or to the public, by means of any device or process, whether the members of the public capable of receiving the performance or display receive it in the same place or in separate places and at the same time or at different times.



⁸⁸ For an explanation of the distinction between the literary work which is protected and the jinysical embodiment of it which is not, see Nimmer Section 2 03/C1 1987/rev.)

Nummer Section 2 03[C] 1987(rev.)

89 Several countines have enacted statutes creating a public lending right. Such statutes exist in Great Britain. Canada. Australia. New Zealand, the Netherlands, West Germany, Iceland, Denmark, Norway, Sweden, Finland, and others. Under such statutes, authors are compensated for library holdings or library circulation of their works. In some cases, the charges are made annually based on a survey of circulation statistics or library holdings records. In some cases, a surcharge is added on once at the time of purchase. For a review and survey of issues concerning the Public Lending Right see. Closing the Book on the Public Lending Right. 63 NYU. Likev. 878 (1988)

90 17 (LIS CA. Sec. 109(b), PL. 98-450, 98 Stat. 1727 (1984)

⁹¹ See S 198 introduced by Senator Hatch on January 25, 1989

⁹² See 17 US C.A. Sec 106. nt (1977)

Under these definitions, the transmission of a work for display in a library is likely to be considered a public display, even if it is only viewed by one person at a time. If the work is transmitted to an individual member of the faculty for use in his or her office, the situation is less clear, but assuming the datafile is available to anyone (*i.e.*, the public), then again it is likely that an infringing display has been made.

To eraphasize this probable outcome, the legislative history of this provision makes it clear that one of the most important reasons for giving copyright owners the right to control public displays was precisely to prevent the development of a large library database whereby a single copy of a work could be loaded into a datafile for subsequent distribution to libraries without appropriate compensation to the copyright owner. In a report prepared by the Register of Copyrights, the Copyright Office indicated particular concern over developing information technology:

The use of closed and open-circuit television for presenting images for graphic and textual material to large audiences . . . could, in the near future, have drastic effects upon copyright owners' rights. Equally if not more significant for the future are the implications of information storage and retrieval devices; when linked together by communication satellites or other means, these could eventually provide libraries and individuals throughout the world with access to a single copy of a work by transmission of electronic images. It is not inconceivable that, in certain areas at least, "exhibition" may take over from "reproduction" of "copies" as the means of presenting authors' works to the public, and we are now convinced that a basic right of public exhibition should be expressly recognized in the statute.⁹³

Absent an amendment to the statute, because of this history caution is needed in this area. If protected works are to be distributed over an electronic network, permission should be secured from the affected copyright owners and reasonable royalties or use charges may be need to be negotiated.

Sections 110 and 111 of the Act do carve out some important exceptions to this right that might be helpful, although they are carefully circumscribed and therefore limited in application. Section 110 exempts performances or displays used in the course of face-to-face teaching activities, for certain other related instructional purposes, for use in worship services, and for transmission to the blind or physically handicapped who are unable to read or receive the material by ordinary means. By virtue of this last exception, under appropriate circumstances spelled out in Section 110 (8), materials loaded into an online datafile could be combined with artificial speech systems to enhance the availability of library materials to the visually handicapped. This could be a major new service to the handicapped but is, of course, a narrow exemption to the broader display policy. The exemption for instructional uses could also be helpful, but it, too, seems far too limited to be useful in the context of the broad range of materials in need of preservation.

Section 111 provides exemptions for secondary transmissions, *i.e.*, the retransmission within a hotel or for instructional purposes or by cable systems subject to a compulsory licensing scheme. This section establishes limited exemptions for carriers who act passively to relay data created or originally transmitted by others. To come under the provisions of 111, the carrier must have:

no direct or indirect control over the content or selection of the primary transmission or over the particular recipients of the secondary transmission,⁹⁴



⁹³ Copyright Law Revision Part 6 Supplementary Report of the Register of Copyrights on the General Revision of the U.S. Copyright Law 1965 Revision Bill 189th Cong. 1st Sess 20 (Comm Print 1965)
94 17 (U.S.C. Sec. 111 (1982)

and its activities must:

consist solely of providing wires, cables, or other communications channels for the use of others. . . . 95

Since the brittle books program is focused on the preservation, conversion, and possible initial transmission of the information, this section is not likely to be relevant, although it might be relevant to a network that provided a delivery system on behalf of a cooperative library effort.

G. Limitations on the Rights of Copyright Owners

Section 106 of the Act (discussed above) defines the rights held by a creator. The next several sections establish limits on those rights in order to balance the rights of information users with those of the creators. Unlike the patent system, which grants a virtual monopoly for new inventions, the copyright system tries to strike a much more delicate balance among many competing interests. In furtherance of the broad social goal of disseminating knowledge, Congress has, therefore, carved out a series of exemptions to the "exclusive rights" of the owner to permit uses of a work that would otherwise constitute an infringement.

This paper has already discussed three of the limits on the rights of the owner provided under the Act: the First Sale Doctrine contained in Section 109, the educational and religious exemption for displays and performances provided in Section 110, and the exemption for secondary transmissions in Section 111. Sections 107 on fair use and 108 on reproduction by libraries will be discussed at some length below since they are the sections most directly relevant to this paper. Sections 112 through 118 create some additional exemptions.% Ifost of these are not substantively relevant here and will not be discussed at length. However, a few of them-most especially those related to compulsory licensing-might provide a useful model for a solution to the preservation problem, and will be discussed in that section of the paper.

1. Fair Use⁹⁷. Section 107

Fair use is a judicially created equitable rule of reason to permit limited copying of protected works.98 It was developed to permit researchers to copy portions of a work into their notes and to use excerpts from a protected work in a subsequent work. Examples of the use of protected work in the creation of a new work include literary criticism, scholarship, news reporting, parody. etc. When the new Act was passed, it attempted to incorporate the judicial doctrine of fair use as it had developed to that time.⁹⁹ As enacted, the statute gives examples of possible fair use and provides a list of criteria for the courts to review in individual cases to determine whether or not a particular use is fair:

96 Section 112 exempts some very limited copying of performances or displays by groups that already have a license to transmit them After transmitting the copy, it must be destroyed or preserved solely for archival purposes

Section 113 grants rights to produce useful articles from pictonal, graphic, and sculptural viorks but limits those rights to those granted by the copyright statute or state law as of December 31, 1977

Section 114 limits the copyright in a sound recording to the duplication of that actual recording. It does not include a performance right or prevent someone else from independently recording the same pattern of sounds

Section 115 creates a compulsory license for the making of a sound recording from a musical work. Section 116 creates a compulsory license for juke boxes. Section 118 creates a compulsory license to public broadcasting for the use of non-dramatic literary and musical works as well as pictorial graphic, and sculptural works. Compulsory licensing offers a possible vehicle by which the brittle books program might be able to proceed and will be discussed more fully infra.

Section 117 establishes some irr.portant rights vis a vis computer programs

7 The first part of this section is taken largely from the author's paper Intellectual Property Issues and Information Networks. A Back ground Paper , published in Library of Congress Network Planning Paper Number 17, 1989, Proceedings of the Library of Congress Net work Advisory Committee Meeting held March 23 25, 1988

Of course, to the extent that the brittle books program is dealing with works that are no longer protected, the fair use and other copying

provisions are not of concern. They are, however, of concern when a library wants to copy—on paper, film, or electronically—more current materials, still protected by the Copyright Act

⁹⁹ Both the House and Senate reports indicated their intent 'to restate the present judicul doctrine of fair use, not to change, narrow, or en large it in any way. At the same time, however, they were also careful to indicate that it was not their intention to freeze the doctrine in the statute especially during a period of rapid technological change See HR Rep. 94 1476 at 66 (1976) and S Rep. 94 473 at 62 (1975). cited in Patry. The Fair Use Privilege in Copyright Law at vii (1985)



⁹⁵ Id

Notwithstanding the provisions of section 106, the fair use of a copyrighted work . . . for purposes such as criticism, comment, news reporting, teaching (including multiple copies for classroom use), scholarship, or research, is not an infringement of copyright. In determining whether the use made of a work in any particular case is a fair use the factors to be considered shall include-

- (1) the purpose and character of the use, including whether such use is of a commercial nature or is for nonprofit educational purposes;
- (2) the nature of the copyrighted work;
- (3) the amount and substantiality of the portion used in relation to the copyrighted work as a whole; and
- (4) the effect of the use upon the potential market for or value of the copyrighted work.™

Researchers who have reviewed the history of the fair use doctrine have found that in most cases finding fair use before the 1970's, the use in question was for a second author to use portions of a copyrighted work in a new creative work. 101 (This is sometimes referred to as "productive use".) In any event, in no cases before Williams and Wilkins v. U.S.102 was the copying of an entire work to be used in the same manner as the original found to be fair use. 103 That case ended when the Supreme Court affirmed the Court of Claims opinion in favor of the Library by a 4 to 4 vote, with no opinion. The Court's failure to rule on the issue left the law in a state of some uncertainty.

The nature of the question and the terms of the discussion had changed by the time of Williams and Wilkins because photocopying technology had become sufficiently advanced to permit the development of such a large-scale program. The continuing advance of technology and the development of online full text information networks takes this question one step further. Now the same documents from which the copies were made in Williams and Wilkins can be stored in a network and delivered directly to the user electronically. In one sense, if such a database were established for document delivery over a network, it would simply make the delivery of the information already upheld by the court more efficient. In another sense, though, it is a further step down the road of making copies available to readers without compensation to the author. This is a long way from the original notion of fair use and a long way from the foundation of copyright that sought to provide an economic incentive for the production of new works.

Adding to the complexity of the question is the issue of private use. In Sony v. Universal Studios¹⁰⁴ the Court held that private off-air videotaping of free broadcast programs for purposes of time shifting was fair use. The Court defined time shifting as:

the practice of recording a program to view it once at a later time, and thereafter erasing it. Time-shifting enables viewers to see programs they otherwise would miss because they are not at home, are occupied with other tasks, or are viewing a program on another station at the time of a broadcast they desire to watch.105



^{100 17} USC Sec 107 (1982)

¹⁰¹ Patry, supraint 98 at ix.

¹⁰² In Williams and Wilkins v. U.S. the National Library of Medicine was sued for infingement by a medical publisher for providing photocopies of articles to medical professionals. Among the findings were that in 1970 the National Institutes of Health made 86,000 copies constituting 930,000 pages and in 1968 the National Library of Medicine made 120,000 copies, totalling 1.2 million pages. The trial judge found that this kind of copying constituted infiningement in a ruling that alarmed the library community (See 172 USPQ, 670 (1970)) The Court of Claims reversed at 487 F.2d 1345 (CLCI 1973) and the Supreme Court upheld that reversal, without opinion, by an equally divided court at 420 U.S. 376 (1975) 103 Setzer, Exemptions and Fair Use in Copyright 24 (1978)

^{104 464} U.S. 417, 78 L.Ed 2d 574, 104 S.Ct. 774 (1984), reheaning denied March. 19, 1984, 465 U.S. 1112, 104 S.Ct. 1619, 80 L.Ed 2d 148 105 id at 423

Although the discussion of the Court is quite broad, the actual holding is limited to the factual situation of private home videotaping for later viewing and ultimate erasure. In reaching that conclusion, the Court emphasized the private, noncommercial character of the use. In *Sony*, the copy was not a substitute for a purchase, it was a substitute for viewing at a particular time.

Seltzer, too, identifies private use as one of the critical points in fair use analysis. The traditional fair use cases involve copying by hand (or by a typewriter) "by a private reader, scholar, writer, student or teacher for the copier's own private use." ¹⁰⁶ In a note in *Williams and Wilkins*, the Court of Claims says "it is almost unanimously accepted that a scholar can make a handwritten copy of an entire copyrighted article for his own use" ¹⁰⁷ Traditionally, then, copies made by hand for private use are considered fair use. Moreover, after *Sony*, the mechanical reproduction of a complete work under very limited circumstances has also been held to be fair use.

Commentators have suggested that of the four factors listed in the statute, the most important is the last ¹⁰⁸, dealing with the economic impact of copying. The economic impact of copying by hand is limited, but high speed photocopiers and computers can now reproduce even more efficiently than printing. Even if it is not the dominant criterion, the original purposes of copyright—providing an economic incentive for creation—suggest that fair use is far more likely to be found where the copying has a limited impact on the "potential market for or value of the copyrighted work." ¹⁰⁹ In *Sony*, the Court seems to have moved toward the economic analysis, since it created a presumption against all commercial use.

... every commercial use of copyrighted material is presumptively an unfair exploitation of the monopoly privilege that belongs to the owner of the copyright....¹¹⁰

In this context, commercial use would probably include commercial copying as well as copying for use in a trade, business, or profession. It might or might not include the preservation proposals of the brittle books program depending on how many copies are made and whether or not there is a profit.

Several recent decisions have raised serious questions about fair use in the context of unpublished material. In *Harper and Row Publishers Inc.* v. *Nation*¹¹¹ the Supreme Court held that publication of verbatim excerpts from a manuscript due for publication was not fair use. No doubt, this result was due to the old doctrine that gives the author the right of first publication.¹¹² The Second Circuit in *Salinger* v. *Hamilton*¹¹³ held that a biographer's quoting and paraphrasing of unpublished letters by author J.D. Salinger was not a fair use. The Salinger decision has been widely criticized as presenting a major roadblock to the use of unpublished scholarly material, particularly manuscript collections that have been placed in libraries by still living individuals. Most recently, the Second Circuit again addressed the question in *New Era Publications International* v. *Henry Holt &* Co.¹¹⁴, a case involving the use of both published and unpublished writings of L. Ron Hubbard, the founder of the Church of Scientology. Although it did not need to address the fair use question to reach the result in the case, the Court did reaffirm its view that "unpublished works normally enjoy complete protection" The results in these cases all clearly turn on the fact that the copied materials were unpublished.

¹¹⁵ kt at 583



¹⁰⁶ Seltzer supraint 102 at 26

^{107 487} F2d 1345 1350 (CLCI 1973)

¹⁰⁸ The Copyright Office is not so sure about this view and David Ladd believes it is simply incorrect. They find nothing in the statute to distinguish any one criteria from another and believe the entire point of the section is to suggest a weighing and balancing of all the criteria. To suggest that one is more important impermissably reduces the relevance of the others. Conversation with Mary Beth Peters, May 5, 1989. 109. 10.5 C. Sec. 107(4)(1982).

¹¹⁰ Sony, nt. 103 at p 451

^{111 471} U.S. 539, 225 USPQ2d 1073 (1985)

¹¹² See supra.

¹¹³ B11 F2d 90 (CA2 1987)

^{114 873} F2d 576 (2d Cir 1989)

In response to these cases, Representative Kastenmeier introduced HR 4263 on March 14, 1990 to clarify that fair use applies to both published and unpublished works. The proposed legislation would amend Section 107 of the Act by inserting the phrase "whether published or unpublished" after the phrase "the fair use of a copyrighted work".

Seltzer has suggested a simpler formulation of the fair use doctrine than that contained in the statute that helps the analysis in all the fair use cases:

Fair use is use that is necessary for the furtherance of knowledge, literature, and the arts AND does not deprive the creator of the work of an appropriately expected economic reward.¹¹⁶

Such a formulation is consistent with the underlying purposes of the Copyright Act. Furthermore, it would nicely accommodate preservation since libraries in general, and preservation programs in particular, exist primarily "for the furtherance of knowledge, literature, and the arts." This formulation does raise the issue of what is an "appropriately expected economic reward", a question implicit in any discussion of fair use. That question will be particularly relevant for the preservation program as libraries bargain with publishers over preservation (and subsequent redistribution) of out-of-print works.

Some have suggested that new technology has changed the concept of what is "fair". It may be instead that the new technology has changed the perception in the Seltzer formulation of what constitutes something for which it is appropriate to expect an economic reward. In the preservation context, publishers of the majority of works from the 1940's, 50's, and 60's would probably not have anticipated continuing economic reward from a program simply designed to keep their works on library shelves. Alan Latman has suggested that the answer to the question of what constitutes an appropriate expectation might be whether the reasonable owner would consent to the use. 117 Early experience with medical publishers at the National Library of Medicine 118 suggests that publishers will work with the library community on this problem and that they will consent to at least limited copying for preservation purposes. Although the Seltzer/Latman formulations are still equitable rules of reason, they adopt the traditional "reasonable man" approach familiar in other legal contexts and may be somewhat simpler to apply than the four-part test of the statute. They also suggest an analytical framework that helps to solve the preservation dilemma, at least in part.

2. The Library Exemptions—Section 108

During the early discussions about the proposals for the new Act, the application of fair use to library photocopying seemed uncertain. Some of the participants believed that fair use photocopying was a contradiction in terms, ¹¹⁹ and the library community became increasingly concerned that fair use might not meet its needs for protection. As a result, librarians sought either specific exemptions for library copying or a fair use provision that expressly included photocopying. ¹²⁰ As the debate became increasingly acrimonious, Williams and Wilkins filed its



¹¹⁶ Seltzer, nt. 102 at p.31

¹¹⁷ Latman. Fair Use of Copyrighted Works in U.S. Copyright Office, Copyright Law Revision, Study No. 14, 86th Cong., 2d Sess. 31 (Senate Judiciary Comm. Print 1960)

¹¹⁸ See infra.

¹¹⁹ Irwin Karp of the Authors League said categorically

Fair use doesn't cover photocopying, and I don't think that any court would field that it did. Certainly those of us who were opposed to the photocopying section in the earlier draft do not assume for a moment that this section on fair use by any means permits the types of activities that were covered by that section. Cited in *Report of the Register of Copynghts, Library Reproduction of Copynghted Works* (17 U.S.C. 108), 22 (1983).

The difficulty the Courts had with the Williams and Willams case demonstrates, at least, the difficulty of applying fair use to photocopying, especially photocopying on a large scale

especially photocopying on a large scale 120 For a review of the background to the library exemption, see the Report of the Register of Copyrights on Library Photocopying, id. at 12 et.sea.

lawsuit against the National Library of Medicine, raising squarely the question of whether library photocopying fit within fair use at all. As the litigation progressed and the apparent result swung from one side to the other, the need for a safe haven for at least some library copying became clear.

The earliest copying provision to be included in the draft bills was a provision for the preservation and security of unpublished works and manuscripts.¹²¹ This proposal was very similar to the language that eventually became Section 108(b) and reflects both an early concern with preservation—particularly for unpublished materials—and a recognition that copying such materials for the purposes of preservation is not likely to infringe on any publisher's existing economic interests.

The section on the copying of archival materials remained the only copying provision in the various bills until late January 1969 when S.543 introduced the basic structure and elements of 108 as it is today, including both preservation sections, 108(b) and 108(c). When section 108 was added, the report of the Senate Judiciary Committee stated that its provisions vare not intended to eliminate the possibility of fair use for library copying, noting that "[t]he rights given to the libraries and archives by this provision of the bill are in addition to those granted under the fair use doctrine." (Emphasis added.) Similar language was incorporated directly into the statute in section 108(f)(4) which states that the rights of "this section" do not "in any way affect the right of fair use. . . . " The relationship between fair use copying and 108 copying has been hotly debated. Some contend that 108 dealt with library copying exhaustively and it would be unfair to publishers to build further copying on top of it. Others believe that 108 simply carved out a safe haven to provide libraries with known areas of certainty. This debate will be discussed more fully *infra*.

Section 108 is a complex section of the Act in which one section grants rights while other sections balance those rights from the point of view of the publisher by limiting their applicability or creating barriers to their use. The basic structure of 108 is to establish conditions for the applicability of the section in subsection (a) and to limit the kinds of works to which it applies in subsection (h). Subsections (b) through (f) establish three basic categories of exemptions including, under specified circumstances, preservation copying, copying for interlibrary loan, and unsupervised coin-operated photocopying. Section (g) together with the fist part of section (a) make it clear that 108 only permits the making of single copies.

In addition to limiting all 108 copying to single copies, section 108(a) establishes three conditions which must be met for a library to take advantage of the exemptions. First, the copying must be made without any purpose of "commercial advantage." Second, the library must either be "open to the public" or at least available "to other persons doing work in a specialized field." Third, the copy must bear a notice of copyright. The first pre-condition requiring no commercial advantage is not likely to be a major problem for preservation program. Should the nature of the program c' ange character in the future, however, to become, for example, a commercial supplier of out-of-print works to libraries and scholars, then this cor, dition would, of course, not be met. 123 The second condition—that the library must be "available" to researchers beyond the organization of which the library is a part has been generally found to be no condition at all. Seltzer writes:



¹²¹ In a draft version of the bill. Section 108 provided. Notstanding [sic] the provision of section 106, it is not an infiningement of copyright for a nonprofit institution. having archival custody over collections of manuscripts, documents, or other unpublished works of value to schol arry research, to reproduce without any purpose of direct or indirect commercial advantage, any such work in its. allection in facsimile copies or phonorecords for purposes of preservation and security or for deposit for research use in any other such institution. At at 38, nt 53, no bill number cited. S. Rept. 91 1219, September 22, 1970 p. 6. Unfortunately, the report has no further elaboration of this contention.

¹²³ Such a scenario can easily be envisioned if funding for preservation efforts becomes problematic. At that point, a more commercial approach might be seen as the only viable way to fixely the effort alive.

... the sole requirement that a collection be 'available...to other persons doing research in a specialized field' is wide enough, for practical purposes, to leave no institution or collection of works outside it. There are no enforceable limitations on 'specialized fields,' no encumbrances on the meaning of 'available,' no requirement that the collection be publicly owned or nonprofit, and accordingly no definition of the terms 'library or archives'.... In short, the definition of what might constitute a qualifying library, permitted under the copyright law to provide photocopies for individual users, might well be: 'almost anything at all.' 124

The third precondition is relatively easy to meet since copying the full work will automatically contain the original copyright notice. Participating libraries may also want to take affirmative steps to protect themselves by applying a further warning or notice of copyright to each work copied.¹²⁵

Section 108(h) states that most of the copying rights granted to libraries under 108 do not apply to certain types of works, including pictorial works, graphic works, motion pictures, etc. 126 The net result of this subsection is to limit the general applicability of the library exemption to traditional printed works—books and periodicals—as well as audio-visual news programs. Fortunately, this limitation on library copying by type of materials does not apply to preservation copying, indicating a statutory design to permit preservation copying of the broadest range of materials, including films, musical works, and other pictorial or graphic works.

The specific rights given to libraries to copy for preservation purposes are now contained in two sections, 108(b) dealing with unpublished works, and 108(c) dealing with published works:

- (b) The rights of reproduction and distribution under this section apply to a copy or phonorecord of an unpublished work duplicated in facsimile form solely for purposes of preservation and security or for deposit for research use in another library or archives of the type described by clause (2) of subsection (a), if the copy or phonorecord reproduced is currently in the collection of the library or archives.
- (c) The right of reproduction under this section applies to a copy or phonorecord of a published work duplicated in facsimile form solely for the purpose of replacement of a copy or phonorecord that is damaged, deteriorating, lost, or stolen, if the library or archives has, after reasonable effort, determined that an unused replacement cannot be obtained at a fair price.

The two sections grant slightly different rights. For published works, only a limited right to copy is permitted. This copy should presumably be retained by the library. By contrast, for unpublished works there is also a limited distribution right. A copy made under that section might be retained by the library, but it might also be deposited in another library. Provided the other conditions are met (see *infra*), these sections will permit libraries (not other organizations) to



¹²⁴ Seltzer, nt. 102, supra. at 99

¹²⁵ The form of the notice required by this section has been the subject of considerable debate. Publishers want the full statutory notice of copyright to be applied in all cases. Librarians, for reasons of efficiency, would like to limit the notice requirement to a simple, general warning that the material is (or may be) protected by copyright. The Register found no clear Congressional intent on this point, but believes that since the phrase used was inotice of copyright, it is more likely that the full notice was desired. (See 1983 Report of the Register of Copyright supraint, 103 at 74.) Since at least at the outset libraries participating in the preservation program will be copyright unorks, the copies will, of necessity, contain the original notice of copyright. That should meet the requirement of the statute, even under the Register's interpretation. The libraries might wish to protect themselves further, however, by incorporating a generalized copyright warning on each film image and in eye-legible form on each piece, or on the fiche envelope or other packaging. The problem will need further evaluation, how ever, if in the future the libraries distribute works or parts of works online. At a minimum, it that case, the screen display and any printouts should have a line displaying a copyright warning.

¹²⁶ An exception to this is allowed for pictonal or graphic works that are illustrations in other works lawfully copied for distribution on interlibraryloan under section 108(d) or 108(e).

All copying permitted by Section 108 is controlled by the single copy limitation established in 108(a)

¹²⁸ Alternatively, if the library would be depositing its original in a central storage facility, presumably it could do the same thing with the copy it could not, however, do both under the authority of this section

make single copies of protected works for preservation purposes. Copies of unpublished works may be deposited in another library, but the copy of the published work should be probably be retained be in the originating library, although it is at least arguable that it could be deposited in a central facility provided the copy has, in fact, replaced the original.

Both sections permit copying "in facsimile form". "Facsimile form" is not defined in the statute, but it appears that the intention of the section was to limit reproduction to analog copies of the work, rather than any digital or machine-readable form. Although it is arguable that other newer processes that produce the same result should also be permitted, it is unlikely—without an amendment to the statute—that such an argument could be applied to the direct conversion and storage of documents in machine-readable form. This limitation will not hinder the initial work of the preservation program since at the outset, most works will be preserved by filming. Should it become desirable (or even just more efficient) to digitize such documents directly from the original, that appears to be beyond the scope of what is now permitted under section 108.

The purposes for which such copies can be made are also slightly different in the two sections. Unpublished works may be copied for preservation and security, or for deposit¹³¹ in another library. As written, preservation and security appear as one standard, although they are different concepts. If they are a single standard, then presumably a work may not be copied for security reasons alone, or for preservation alone. Such works may be copied for both reasons together. The thinking about this language may have been that the integrity (security) of a deteriorating collection may need to be assured through preservation efforts. Nonetheless, this interpretation seems strained and it could easily be found that there really are three distinct reasons (preservation, security, and deposit) for which unpublished materials might be reproduced by a library under this section. ¹³²

The purposes for which a published work may be copied are more amited. Section 108(c) permits such copying for replacement of a copy that is damaged, deteriorating, lost, or stolen. It is potentially important to note that this is not a right to copy for general preservation purposes; it is a right to copy for replacement under certain specified conditions.

It may be, for example, that libraries will want to make preservation copies before the work is too badly deteriorated but retain the original work until such time as it is no longer usable. It is unclear whether a literal reading of the current section would permit such activity. Yet it is reasonable to assume that the preservation copy will have to be made sometime before the work is completely lost, and that a library may prefer to continue to use the original as long as possible. This may be the kind of situation where a "reasonableness" standard needs to be elaborated. On the one hand, the section does not appear to contemplate the making of a preservation copy as the work arrives new in the library, as some librarians have (for very good reasons) proposed. Rather, it contemplates that there has already been some level of deterioration. On the other hand, it would be unreasonable to wait so long that the work is so far deteriorated that it is problematic to make the preservation copy. Somewhere in between there is a middle ground where the library would not be making copies of new works but where the original is not so far gone as to put it at risk in its entirety.



¹²⁹ The House Report specifically indicates an intention to limit such reproduction to microfilm or electrostatic process. See House Report 94, 1476 at 75 (September 3, 1976)

¹³¹ After the Salinger case and the L. Ron Hubbard case, described supra, a library would be wise to be careful about this deposit privilege. Although those cases appeared in the fair use context, they did uphold an author's right to first publication. Despite the fact that section 108 gives libraries the right to deposit such works in another library, they should not do so in a way or in such a number of copies that it might be viewed as tantamount to "publication." Again, the single copy rule is important.

be viewed as tantamount to "publication. Again, the single copy rule is important.

132 This language was in the first version of the section cited at nt. 120, supra. The report issued at that time sheds no light on the interpretation of this section.

Both sections establish conditions for reproduction, although the conditions on copying published works are more significant. Unpublished works copied under section (b) to be deposited in another library may be placed there "for research purposes". In the case of print material, it is hard to imagine any other reason for such copies being made, although an unpublished film could presumably be copied and deposited with another library to be used for instruction or even just for entertainment. Although neither of those purposes would appear to qualify for protection under this section, the first might be found to be fair use. This section also requires that the publication already be in the library or archive supplying the copy. Presumably, this is to prevent multi-generational copying, where the supplying library is actually making a copy of a work supplied to it by another library under authority of the same section.

Before a replacement copy of a published work may be made under section 108(c), the library must first make a reasonable effort to obtain an unused replacement at a fair price. For relatively new materials that simply wear out from heavy use, this requirement makes some sense as an effort to protect the economic interests of the publisher. In the context of a brittle books preservation program, however, this condition makes little sense. In most cases of brittle pages, absent reprinting, another unused copy is likely to be virtually the same age as the deteriorated volume, and therefore in the same poor condition. Interestingly, in Seltzer's paraphrase of this section, he uses the word "new" rather than "unused" 135, and it may be that that is the real intent of the statute: to insure, before copying, that the publisher does not still have copies available for sale. At the very least, it is reasonable to expect that the replacement copy will not merely be unused; it should also be in sufficiently better condition to justify the price paid. For the older materials involved in the preservation program, this is unlikely.

The committee reports do not shed much light on when and to what extent an investigation is necessary. The House report states:

The scope and nature of a reasonable investigation to determine that an unused replacement cannot be obtained will vary according to the circumstances of a particular situation. It will always require recourse to commonly known trade sources in the United States, and in the normal situation also to the publisher or other copyright owner (if such owner can be located at the address listed in the copyright registration), or an authorized reproducing service.

Although this report language sounds absolute, a "reasonableness" standard must take into account varying situations. In the case of long out-of-print works with brittle paper, it may be perfectly reasonable to proceed on the assumption that a copy with better paper is highly unlikely to be available. On the other hand, the question of reasonableness is a question of fact on which a jury or a judge might have to make a finding. The prudent course is to make an inquiry of the publisher at least where the publisher is known and readily accessible. Such efforts word only protect the library, they will also demonstrate a good faith intention to comply with the statute.

Sections 108(b) and 108(c) have been discussed at length here because they are the central provisions in the Copyright Act relating to preservation copying. In reality, however, the whole preservation effort may not be a significant factor in publisher economics. In categorizing all the various exemptions provided in the statute, Seltzer includes both preservation sections in a small group that he says are "essentially not part of the usual commodity-market mechanism", "thus having minimal impact on copyright-scheme economics". ¹³⁶ This is an important point, one that argues strongly that preservation copying has so little impact on publisher economics

¹³⁶ Seltzer, supra. nt. 102 at 71 S a tables of exemptions and exclusion from copyright at 66



¹³³ But see nt 130 supra.

¹³⁴ Actually, the wording of the statute is somewhat ambiguous as to which library must hold the work, it is logical, of course, that it be held by the supplying library, and the House Report makes it explicit. See H. Rep. 94 1476 at 75.
135 Seltzer, supra nt. 102 at 53

that it ought to be allowed to proceed unhindered. If this is true, then it seems highly desirable to clarify the situation through a statutory amendment. Yet the Register of Copyright, in his 1983 report, refused to take the lead, urging that librarians work with the publishing community to develop a joint proposal for such an amendment:

The Copyright Office is not prepared to support a broad new privilege allowing libraries largely unrestrained preservation copying rights with respect to published works, and permitting storage in machine-readable, computer-accessed systems. . . . However, the Office also recognizes that libraries should be able to employ new preservation techniques, provided adequate copyright controls are legislated, both with respect to the preservation copying and information supplying functions of libraries. We recommend a thorough review of these issues by the library, user, author, and publishing communities with a view to developing a common legislative position.¹³⁷

Some possible ideas for such an amendment, or at least for opening the discussion with publisher representatives, are suggested below.

Despite the importance of sections 108(b) and (c) to the preservation program, overarching all of 108 is section 108(g), which limits the amount and kind of copying permitted to libraries under the other subsections of 108. In addition, section 108 does not eliminate the possibility of fair use under section 107. The relationship between copying under the 108 exemptions and fair use is an extremely difficult area, one over which there has been considerable debate and little agreement. Regrettably, there is not a clear answer, although it must be said that 108 appears to create some difficulties that may not be solved by 107. Section 108(g) provides:

The rights of reproduction and distribution under this section extend to the isolated and unrelated reproduction or distribution of a single copy or phonorecord of the same material on separate occasions, but do not extend to cases where the library or archives, or its employee

- (1) is aware or has substantial reason to believe that it is engaging in the related or concerted reproduction or distribution of multiple copies of the same material, whether made on one occasion or over a period of time, and whether intended for aggregate use by one or more individuals or for separate use by the individual members of a group; or
- (2) engages in the systematic reproduction or distribution of single or multiple copies or phonorecords of material described in subsection (d): *Provided*, That nothing in this clause prevents a library or archives from participating in interlibrary arrangements that do not have, as their purpose or effect, that the library or archives receiving such copies or phonorecords for distribution does so in such aggregate quantities as to substitute for a subscription to or purchase of such work.

All copying under section 108 is limited to one copy at a time. That limitation is stated explicitly in subsections (a) and (g), and by implication in the other sections that permit the making of "a copy." Moreover, all of this copying must be a result of unrelated transactions, and the library may not, under this section, knowingly engage in the "related or concerted" reproduction of multiple copies of a work. For individual articles or a contribution to a collection, or a small part of a longer copyrighted work, there is a further limitation that such copying may not be "systematic," but "systematic" does not preclude permitted interlibrary arrangements.

"Related or concerted" is not defined in the statute, but the Senate Report explains, by way of example, that on this basis a library would not be permitted to make copies of copyrighted material for each member of a class with a particular reading assignment. 138 In such a situation, the library would clearly know that it was making multiple copies and the activity would undoubtedly be "related."

138 S Rept. 94-473 at 70 (1975)



^{137 1983} Report of the Register of Copyright. supra nt. 3 at 340

"Systematic" is also undefined in the statute. The Register's Report suggests that it basically means that there is a "system" and that "the mere existence of the system is enough to render all copying done via that system infringing, uriless authorized. . . ."139 The committees seemed to mean something more than the mere existence of a system because they did not attempt such a definition but explained the term by example in the Committee Report: (1) one library agrees to maintain a certain title and supply it to other libraries, thereby causing the others to cancel their subscriptions; (2) a research center or office subscribes to one or two copies of a title and provides photocopies of material to individual researchers instead of subscribing to additional copies; (3) one branch library of a system maintains the only subscription to a title and supplies copies of material to the other branches. 140 The Committee explains that

This language illustrates what is undoubtedly the key concern underlying the limits established in (g) for the rest of section 108—interference with a publisher's subscription base or its reasonably anticipated income stream from royalties (e.g., from reprints for classroom distribution). Note that this is very similar to Seltzer's formulation of the fair use doctrine as not interfering with the publisher's "reasonably anticipated economic reward." It is also similar to the analysis of fair use that suggests that the most important of the four factors is the one dealing with the effect of the use on the potential market for the work.

If this is correct—that the factors underlying the section 108 limitations are the reasonable economic expectations of the copyright owner—then it is fair to inquire further about what those expectations would be in the preservation context. For the older materials being preserved under the brittle books program, it seems likely that the publisher has little expectation of further economic reward. This is especially true for those libraries that already hold the title and are merely replacing a set that is deteriorating. Somewhat more troublesome is the case of a library that did not already have a work, but nonetheless decided to purchase it from a library participating in the brittle books program. Under that circumstance—a new purchaser—the publisher might expect some modest compensation. But such cases are likely to be few in number and, as a result, the appropriate compensation is likely to be de minimus.

The author of this paper believes that the above analysis provides a useful approach to understanding what 108 is all about. Regrettably, the 1983 Report of the Register of Copyright does not follow such an approach and seriously muddies the water by overstating his belief that librarians do not understand the section and have applied it to permit copying far beyond what was intended, causing publishers to "forego" some \$38.6 million in revenue annually.¹⁴²

See generally 1983 Report of the Register of Copyrights 138.44 See especially, statistics on 142.3



¹³⁹ Many managers would quickly respond that such a narrow reading is not helpful, since in any operation that occurs regularly in any business, there must be a routine or systematic way in which the task gets done. To conclude that merely because a library has made a task more routine or efficient it has also made it illegal is to make this section appear to be absurd.

140 S Rept. nt. 137, supra. at 122

^{141 14}

First, the Register expresses great concern that the discussion about 108(g)(2) has centered on interlibrary loan, and says that such an approach is "letting the proviso tail wag the systematic dog." It is true that with the exception of the proviso, section 108 is worded generally. But the focus on interlibrary loan (ILL) is perfectly understandable since one of the fears of the library community was that, without the proviso, the bar on systematic copying could be used to curtail interlibrary cooperation.

Then, trying to emphasize the point that (g)(2) is not limited to interlibrary transactions (a correct point), but in a tone that seems intended to lecture the library community, the Register mis-states the law himself three times in a way that could lead to potentially erroneous conclusions. At various points, the Register states: "all 'systematic' photocopying is forbidden except such ILL photocopying as the proviso permits . . . [Emphasis in original.]" '143; "all 'systematic' copying is against the law except the 'non-substitutional' ILL copying permitted by the proviso" '144; "the 'quantitative substitution' language in the proviso to (g)(2) applies only to interlibrary arrangements—all other 'systematic' photocopying is forbidden—without regard to quantities . . . [Emphasis in original.]" '145 Such absolute statements are plainly incorrect.

By the explicit terms of the section, the systematic copying provisions do not apply to all copying; they only apply to the copying of certain works described in another section, *i.e.*, an "article or other contribution to a copyrighted collection or periodical issue, or to a copy of a phonorecord or a small part of any other copyrighted work," as provided in section (d). This limitation is made explicit by both Committee reports. 146 Importantly for the brittle books program, because of that language, the "systematic" language does not seem to apply to complete works copied for preservation purposes under sections 108(b) and (c) or to complete out-of-print works copied for a user under 108(e). Of course, it could be argued that if the limitation applies to articles or small parts of works it should also apply to a complete journal or to an entire work. But, since the purposes of the preservation sections are quite different from those of the other sections—necessitating the copying of complete works—it seems entirely reasonable to assume that Congress meant what it said in establishing the "no systematic copying rule" only for articles and portions of other works. No doubt, Congress realized the necessity of treating differently those materials that can be legitimately copied in their entirety, *i.e.*, works being preserved under 108(b) and (c).

With all this in mind, subsection 108(g)(2) is not likely to apply to the immediate work of the brittle books program. ¹⁴⁷ However, (g)(1) and the opening paragraph of 108 will apply if multiple copies of protected material are made for distribution—other libraries. Thus, while libraries may be able to develop a relatively formal system for copying, they will still be limited to one copy at a time and there may not be any related or concerted reproduction or distribution of multiple copies.

The author of this paper believes that the best way to understand section 108(g) is to follow the analysis suggested by the Senate Committee—to consider whether the copying is of such a nature or in such quantities as to substitute for a purchase or otherwise interfere with the reasonably anticipated income stream to the publisher. The author further believes that the anticipated income stream from preserving out-of-print brittle works is small and that the brittle books program participants will be able to proceed easily or work well with publishers to obtain permission to copy.



¹⁴³ Report of the Register at 138

¹⁴⁴ Id

¹⁴⁵ Id at 140

¹⁴⁶ S Rept 94-473 at 70 (1975) and H Rept 94 1476 at 76 (1976)

¹⁴⁷ if, however, in the future, libranes begin to use their publications file to distribute individual works to libranes or readers, they will be subject to this provision.

Regardless of the applicability of 108, the relationship between the 108 exemptions and fair use is another difficult issue, one which has also generated animosity and controversy. The 1983 Report of the Register of Copyrights discussed the issue at length, but did not completely dispose of it. Although both sides insist that theirs is the correct way to interpret the statute, this author believes that at the polar positions neither side is completely right, and that there remains a serious dispute.

The publishing community asserts that Section 108 sets out the libraries' rights, and therefore creates a cap on library copying.

... whether or not section 108 rights are ... intended as a restatement or a clarification of library copying rights or whether they are, as we think, additional property rights, the converse cannot be true. Section 107 rights cannot for all practical purposes exceed those granted by section 108.148

The library community, relying on Section 108(f)¹⁴⁹, understands that it has been given certain rights under 108, but also believes that section 107 may be applicable in certain cases. It is clear, however, that the sections are separate, and that this provision cannot be used, as the Register says "to read section 108 out of the statute." 150

The Register sets up the issue as "whether a librarian who has made all of the photocopies permitted by section 108 in a given type of transaction may thereafter make one or more additional photocopies under the fair use provisions of section 107 or whether such copying is infringing unless authorized by the copyright owner." 151 Although the Register correctly answers that question by saying "it depends," he nonetheless seems to strike the balance very close to the publisher's position, in a way that is likely to restrict library copying. The Register says, for example, that only "[o]n certain infrequent occasions, such copying may be permitted."152 He then goes on to define a two-part test for the permissibility of "post 108" copying:

Library photocopying "beyond" 108 may be fair use if both:

- (a) the transaction is of a tupe which could be fair use in the absence of section 108. and
- (b) the fair use analysis (conducted only if (a) applies) of this transaction takes into account the "108" copying which has already occurred. [Emphasis in original.] 153

Using this test, the Register then goes on to exclude all interlibrary photocopying from the analysis by saying it does not meet the first prong of the test because it is not of a type that could be fair use in the absence of section 108. (Fortunately, he does indicate that preservation copying would be likely to be fair use even without section 108.) The author believes that the Register has gone too far in excluding all ILL photocopying from fair use. Whether or not one agrees with the result in Williams and Wilkins, at the very least that case demonstrates the difficulty of reaching such a conclusion. Before the Act was passed, there was great uncertainty about the applicability of fair use to photocopying. In enacting into statute the state of fair use as it existed at the time, Congress preserved the uncertainty, and the Register's attempts to cut off that discussion seem inappropriate.



¹⁴⁸ Statement of Charles L. °b, representing the AAP, quoted in the 1983 Report of the Register of Copynghts at 95 149 (f) Nothing in this section—

⁽⁴⁾ in any way affects the right of fair use as provided by section 107 150 Id. at 98 Actually, the publishers' position appears to read 108(f)(4) out of the statute

¹⁵¹ Id. at 95.

¹⁵² Id at 96

¹⁵³ Id at 98

It may be that, as a matter of fact, copying beyond section 108 will, indeed, be infrequent. If the section was well-crafted, then it will cover most library copying and set some reasonable limits upon it. If, however, certain needs were overlooked, fair use provides a possible escape valve. To conclude that recourse to fair use should be discouraged as a matter of law is to distort the balance that was carefully built into the statute.

It may be that how one approaches the question of the relationship between the two sections depends to a large degree on how one views the purposes of section 108. The Register says that section 108 was needed to make lawful what would have otherwise been unlawful, a view that presumes the outcome of the legal debate. The author's view is that section 108 was designed to provide some certainty in an area where the state of the prior law was highly uncertain and where the technology was changing very rapidly. it was intended, as was said before, to create a safe haven for limited library copying. Beyond the limits, of course, libraries go back into uncertain temtory where they must argue fair use. 154 Arguing fair use, however, does not mean a court will find fair use. Section 107, as now incorporated in the statute, should remain an equitable rule of reason in which a variety of circumstances (including, as suggested by the Register, any pnor 108 copying) are considered.

3. Compulsory and Voluntary Licenses 155

Compulsory licenses do not currently affect regular library operations or the britle books preservation program. However, they have been used to solve difficult problems in other areas of copyright and they are widely used in other countries. Such a mechanism may not be needed for basic preservation work, but it might provide a useful legal solution to allow the preservation program to develop the wider electronic distribution ultimately envisioned. 156

Compulsory licenses provide a mechanism for compensation to creators in situations where control of copies or control over use is difficult. Essentially, the compulsory license statutorily grants blanket permission to use a particular K d of work in a way that would otherwise violate one of the exclusive rights of the creator in return for payment of a fee to a central agency. The royalties thus collected form a pool of funds from which compensation is provided to creators participating in the system.

Under United States law, compulsory licenses began with a license for the reproduction of copyrighted music. The case of White-Smith Music Publishing Co. v. Apollo Co., 209 U.S. 1 (1908) found that piano rolls were not copies of copyrighted music, but part of a machine that played the musical works. In response to this case, in the Copyright Act of 1909 Congress established a provision to allow any manufacturer of recordings or mechanical reproductions to use a musical composition that had previously been recorded provided the manufacturer paid a royalty to the copyright owner. This scheme has been administered by ASCAP and BMI, which collect and distribute the statutory royalty (2 cents per disk until 1976, 2 ¾ cents per disk or ½ cent per minute, whichever is larger, after 1976). Under the 1909 Act, once the copyright owner had licensed the first recording, subsequent recordings of the same musical composition could be made by paying a royalty. With a few changes, this basic scheme for sound recordings was camed forward into the Copyright Act of 1976.157 The 1976 Act also added compulsory licenses for jukeboxes, 158 public broadcasting, 159 and cable television. 160



¹⁵⁴ See Latman's Copyright Law, 6th ed., by William S. Patry 254 (1996), in which he refers to this argument as controversial, citing the

Report of the Ringister

155 Portions of this section are taken from the author's background paper for the March 1988 meeting of the Network Advisory Committee of the Library of Congression intellectual Property Issues and Information Networks in published in Network Planning Paper No. 17 by the Library of Congress (1989)

¹⁵⁶ See generally Hyman, 'The Socialization of Copyngl. The Increased Use of Compulsory Licenses', 4 Cardoza Arts & Entertainment Law Journal 105 (1985)

See 17 U.S.C. Sec 115 (1982)

^{158 17} USC Sec 116 (1982)

^{159 17} USC Sec 118 (1982)

^{160 17 (}JSC Sec 111 (1982)

In each case, the statute provides for a mechanism to collect royalty payments that will provide a pool of funds for distribution to copyright holders. In the case of cable television, the rates are established as a percentage of the gross receipts of the company; for jukeboxes, an annual fee is paid for each machine; for making and distributing phonorecords, a fee for each disk is levied for each work on the disk; and for public broadcasting, fees are collected for each performance of a covered work. 161 The fees for cable television and jukebox royalties are collected by the Register of Copyrights and distributed by the Copyright Royalty Tribunal (CRT). The Copyright Royalty Tribunal also sets or reviews the rates for cable television, for phonorecords and coin-operated phonorecord players, and for non-commercial broadcasting. In setting the rates for phonorecords and jukeboxes, the CRT is specifically directed to balance several potential. It competing objectives. 162

Because of the relative success of compulsory licenses, similar systems have been established on a voluntary basis in other parts of the information industry. For example, the Copyright Clearance Center (CCC) has been established to provide a cleaninghouse for the copyring of journals beyond what is permitted under the statute. Originally, payment to the CCC was made on a per copy basis, and royalties were distributed accordingly. In recent years, the CCC has developed an annual license program for its major corporate users. In that program, payments are based on industry surveys and sophisticated econometric modeling. Similarly, for the non-theatrical institutional market¹⁶³, the Motion Picture Licensing Corporation (MPLC) has been established to provide a mechanism for the collection of royalties and payment to owners for the institutional showing of home video cassettes and videodiscs. In most cases, the MPLC is negotiating a blanket agreement with each participating institution. The existence of voluntary licensing groups suggests that the industry sees them as a viable way to provide compensation to creators for the use of their work. However, without the clear force of law behind them, participation has been limited.

4. Software

Other than Section 108, the only place in the Act where copying of a protected work is permitted for preservation purposes is in Section 117, covering software. There, the Act specifically provides that the owner of a computer program may make or authorize the making of another copy or adaptation of that computer program provided:

(2) that such new copy or adaptation is for archival purposes only and that all archival copies are destroyed in the event that continued possession of the computer program should cease to be lawful.

The purpose of this section (along with the other half of 117, permitting copying that is an essential step in using the program) is to allow the owner to make such copies as are needed for the program to be used. 165 This obviously includes loading (copying) the program into memory but does not include the making of multiple copies, the use of the copies on more than one machine simultaneously, or the making of copies for sale or lending to others. Copying for archival purposes allows the owner to make copies where the original might be damaged due to the fragility of the storage medium or mechanical or electrical failure. It does not allow the copying of ROM cartridges, put may permit the copying of more fragile media, such as floppy disks. In construing this section the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Illinois said:



¹⁶¹ See generally 37 C FR Sec 303 308 (July 1, 1989)

locluded in those objectives are (1) to maximize the availability of creative works to the public, (2) to provide the copyright owner a fair return on his work, (3) to reflect the relative roles of the copyright owner and the copyright user, and (4) to minimize any disruptive impact on the industry (See 17 U.S.C. Sec. 801 (b)(1) (1982) 163. Fig. missing booms and the copyright owner and the copyright user.

¹⁶³ E.g., nursing homes and libranes where there is a limited audience and their viewing is incidental to their use of the institution 164. The use of the word "owner" in the statute is significant. CONTU had recommended that the privilege be granted to "licensees", but Congress chose to extend it only to owners. Many * fixare programs purport, through the use of "shinik wrap licenses", to convey only a license to use the software, rather than an ownership in the copy. The validity of such licenses is highly questionable and has even been outlawed in some states. If valid, however, such licenses would preclude a lawful purchaser from making copies under this section. 165. See Final Report of the Commission on New Technological Uses of Copyrighted Works at 13.

Congress did not enact a general rule that making back-up copies of copyrighted works would not infringe. Rather, according to the CONTU report, it limited its exception to computer programs which are subject to 'destruction or damage by mechanical or electrical failure.' Some media must be especially susceptible to this danger. JS&A has simply offered no evidence that a ROM chip is such a medium.¹⁶⁶

Section 117 is not, of course, immediately applicable to brittle books. However, it does again show Congressional sensitivity to the problem of preserving fragile material, in this case in the context of an individual owner rather than a library owner.

III. REPRISE—APPLYING THE ACT TO THE BRITTLE BOOKS PRESERVATION PROGRAM

This section will summarize and restate where the brittle books preservation program can proceed with relative certainty, and where there might be some uncertainty under the law.

A. Safe Copying—Materials in the Public Domain

There is a vast body of published material on which all the elements of the brittle books program can proceed, including preservation copying, making multiple copies for distribution to other libraries, and even building an electronic datafile. Materials which are in the public domain are not protected by copyright, and libraries are free to copy, distribute, or display them. They may also develop new value-added products or services such as computer-produced digests or indexes, thereby providing new means of access to historical materials.

Among the materials thus available are all materials published prior to 1915. This date moves up each year, and by the end of the twenty-year preservation project, all materials published prior to the middle 1930's will be in the public domain. In addition, materials published without the statutory notice requirement are also in the public domain. Although libraries are likely to find that most of the major publishers complied with the notice requirement, some periodicals, newspapers, and small presses may not have done so. Finally, all United States government publications, unless they contain separately protected works, are in the public domain.

Another important category of unprotected materials are those for which copyright was not renewed. All materials published prior to January 1, 1950 should have had their copyright renewed before 1978, and there should be a record of that renewal in the Copyright Office. If they were renewed, copyright protection is extended to seventy-five years from the date copyright was originally secured. If they did not, the works are in the public domain. Statistics from the Copyright Office show that only 9.5 percent¹⁶⁷ of existing copyrights were renewed under the old system, with the majority of works lapsing into the public domain at the end of the first term. This fact suggests that the majority of materials published prior to 1950 are no longer protected by copyright. Therefore, 1950¹⁶⁹ may be a convenient cutoff date from which much (but not all) of the work could be accomplished, without the necessity of statutory amendments. Participating libraries



¹⁶⁶ Atan, Inc v JSA, Inc. 597 F.Supp 5, 9-10

¹⁶⁷ See nt. 76, supra.

¹⁶⁸ Conveniently, some (including NEH) have already adopted pre-1950 materials as the target group. Of course, some would like to convert much more recent materials and these comments obviously do not apply to them.

of the program would, of course, still need to conduct their research at the Copyright Office to determine which of such works are protected and which are not. For those which are not, the full program may safely proceed. Those which were renewed, however, are still protected and are subject to all the comments in this paper about protected works.

B. Protected Works—The First Copy

Protected works are subject to the full range of exclusive rights and the limitations on those rights granted by the Act. Since the right to make or authorize the making of copies is one of the exclusive rights of the owner, any copying must come under some provision of the Act that authorizes the copy. For the first copy, this is not difficult, although even here the law is somewhat ambiguous.

Section 108 grants *libraries*—not some other entity—the right to make preservation copies under certain circumstances. In general, it appears that participating libraries may make single copies of actually deteriorating published works (*i.e.*, not new works in anticipation of future deterioration) for replacement purposes. Under the current law, such copying should be in analog—not digital—format and the library should make a reasonable effort to determine whether or not an unused copy is available. Since other old copies are also likely to be deteriorated, such an effort may consist simply of checking with the publisher or in sources of reprint information to see if the work has been reprinted and is currently available.

The biggest stumbling block is likely to be the prohibition on "systematic copying" provided in section 108 (g). The Register and others have read that section as prohibiting *all* systematic copying, and have defined systematic as any program where there is a "system" involved. 169 By this definition, any copying activity that is organized or routine and not random and isolated is problematic. This would appear to rule out all copying done as part of an organized program. As shown earlier, however, the author of this paper believes that the Register has erred in defining systematic copying as broadly he has and in applying it to all copying, including preservation copying. The Congressional Committee's clear concern was with copying that allowed libraries to substitute the copy for a purchase; rarely is that the case with preservation copying. Moreover, the terms of the section do not even seem to apply to the copying of complete works under the preservation sections. As a result, although there is a serious conflict on this point, this author believes that preservation copying (at least the first copy clearly permitted under the statute) is not subject to the prohibition on systematic copying. 170

Even if section 108 were unavailable for some reason, fair use might still be used to permit preservation copying. By its nature, however, what constitutes fair use is often uncertain. Each case calls for an application of particular facts to the four-part standard, including (1) the purpose and character of the use; (2) the nature of the copyrighted work; (3) the amount and substantiality of the portion used; and (4) the effect of the use on the publisher's potential market.

Despite the need for such an analysis, most preservation copying would probably meet the test. Virtually everyone views preservation copying as socially beneficial. It is consistent with the Constitutional purposes for copynght since the preservation of printed knowledge is necessary for the progress of science and the useful arts. Even publishers and individual copyright owners are likely to support such copying (as long as it does not interfere with sales) since it keeps their works on the shelves of libraries and in use by researchers.



¹⁶⁹ But see discussion at note 144 of say

¹⁷⁰ This point is reinforced by section 108(h) which evidences a statutory intent to permit greater latitude to posservation copying than other forms of copying. There, all the copying permitted under 108 generally is denied for the copying of films, audit his works, etc. However, the copying of such works for preservation purposes under 108(b) and (c) is expressly permitted.

The nature of the work might be a factor, but in many different places in the Act and its legislative history, Congress signaled an intent to allow broad preservation copying on a wide range of materials, including not just books, but also films and other copyrighted materials. Moreover, the economic impact of making of a single copy of an out-of-print work for use in a library is de minimus. If publishers really thought there was a significant market for sales of such works, they probably would have reprinted them. Thus, only the third factor, the proportion of a work that is copied, is likely to weigh against the copying under fair use.

Seltzer again focuses attention on the basic issue when he states that preservation copying is "essentially not part of the usual commodity market mechanism," and thus has "minimal impact yright-scheme economics."171 Under his formulation of the fair use doctrine, it is even clearer why such copying should be fair use since preservation copying furthers the progress of knowledge, literature and the arts and does not deprive the publisher of an appropriately expected economic reward.

Further support for the idea that preservation copying would be "fair use" is found both in the legislative history of the Act and in the 1983 Report of the Register of Copyrights. In the context of film preservation, the Senate Committee Report said:

"A proble a of particular urgency is that of preserving for posterity prints of motion pictures made before 1942. ... [T]hose that remain are in immediate danger of disintegration; they were printed on film stock with a nitrate base that will inevitably decompose in time. The efforts of the Library of Congress, the American Film Institute, and other organizations to rescue and preserve this irreplaceable contribution to our cultural life are to be applicated. and the making of duplicate copies for purposes of archival preser ation certainly falls within the scope of 'fair use'."172

Although the life of a film is substantially shorter than that of a book, the parallel between the brittle books program and the situation described in the Senate Report is striking. It suggests that as the full magnitude of the brittle books problem becomes known, both fair use and section 108 may be used to justify such copying as may be necessary to preserve our heritage.

Finally, even the Register of Copyright seems to have agreed that preservation copying can be fair use. In his discussion of copying beyond section 108, the Register states:

... one would likely conclude that the replacement of a lost, solen, damaged, or deteriorating copy could be a fair use, while all ILL copying, a form of systematic copying lawful only via the proviso, could not be a fair use."173

C. Protected Works—Multiple Copies for Other Libraries, for Sale. or for Conversion and Distribution in Digital Formats

Conceptually the questions are more difficult after the initial preservation copy has been made. When libraries consider making or selling multiple copies, or loading the documents into an online file for electronic distribution to other libraries or end users, they have moved into more uncertain temtory. Some of these activities may be permitted; some seem unlikely to be permitted under the current Act. In all such cases, however, the situation is ambiguous and the library and archives community might wish to seek a statutory clanfication or find other protection before proceeding.



¹⁷¹ Seltzer, nt. 102, supra, at 71. Seltzer does point out at 72 that without the express exemption in *38 preservation copying would put the notion of fair use at some strain 172 S Rept. 94-473. supra nt. 137 at 66 (1975)

^{173 1983} Report of the Register of Copyright, nt. 3, at 90

1. Copies for Other Libraries

Section 108 permits a library to make a replacement copy of a published work for itself. It also permits a library to make a copy of an unpublished work for deposit in another library. It does not explicitly permit a library to make a replacement copy of a published work for another library, and copies of unpublished works may be deposited in other libraries only "for research use", not for general development of the collection. For obvious reasons, libraries want to use the master copies of materials to make them available to other interested libraries. Although such a program is problematic under the statute, some such copying may be permissible, some may not be.

Systematic copying aside, Section 108 only permits the making of a single copy of a work.¹⁷⁴ But the magnitude of the preservation problem is such that no library can realistically convert everything, and it i highly desirable for one library to make a master and then supply copies to other libraries needing the same work. On the face of it, such activity does not appear to come under section 108(c) since that section does not include a distribution right. However, if the second library already holds the item in the collection, it would be entitled to make its own copy. Can it delegate that privilege to another library to act as its agent to make a copy of the work from an existing master? Such activity seems beyond the literal wording of 108, both because another library is involved and because it may naturally lead the library holding the master to make multiple copies. Nonetheless, it does not stretch the spirit of the law too far to argue that such copying should be permissible. The key elements of the section are undoubtedly the fact that the original is deteriorating and that the copy will replace¹⁷⁵ an existing copy from which the publisher has already received a royalty. Limiting a library to doing its own preservation copying from its own collection is a built-in constraint against large-scale preservation copying that could cripple a coordinated national program. This is an area where the program might be on safer ground if an amendment to the Act were sought to explicitly permit libraries to engage in cooperative preservation programs.¹⁷⁶

In the case of libraries that did not own the work in the first place, it is harder to make the case that the copying is for preservation purposes unless one library is withdrawing its copy in order to allow another to house the preservation copy. In the ordinary case of a library using the master microfilm to acquire new materials for its collection, it seems reasonably clear that under the Act the copyright owner is entitled to compensation for the copying of the work. It would be a copy of a complete work to be used in exactly the same manner as the original. It does not appear to fall under any of the library exemptions and it would be hard to make the case for fair usc since the sale of new materials to libraries is a fundamental part of the market for any publisher. Absent a statutory amendment, it appears to this writer that the line must be drawn here, and that if libraries begin to make copies of preserved works available in this way, they will also need to be prepared to negotiate and pay appropriate royalties to copyright owners.

By extension, the same might be thought to be true about making such works available to individuals. However, in isolated cases (*i.e.*, not related or concerted), a library may make a copy of a complete work for a user under the interlibrary provision of 108(e). That section requires that the copy become the property of the user for private research or scholarship and that the library taking the user's request display the appropriate copyright warnings.

2. Converting the Material into Electronic Format

Conversion of materials into electronic formats under the authority of the preservation sections is also clearly beyond the intention of the drafters. Nonetheless, it may not be beyond the spirit

¹⁷⁶ See infra for some specific statutory language offered for consideration



¹⁷⁴ See discussion of 108(g) supra.

¹⁷⁵ If not immediately, at least in the near term

of the section if the conversion could be carefully confined to such preservation copying as would otherwise be permitted. This could occur, for instance, by converting materials to CD-ROM instead of microfilm for storage but not enhancing the product digitally and not distributing it electronically. Such a limited conversion would not take full advantage of the digital format; it would simply permit more compact storage. In effect, it would be just a more compact version of the microform. In such a case, the limitation to "facsimile form" makes the law seem fundamentally anachronistic. The real issue is not digital versus analog; the real issue is, as always, subsequent distribution of multiple copies and keeping those copies under control. Despite this argument, the law as written limits the conversion to analog formats, and conversion to electronic form seems clearly proscribed.

3. Distribution of Copies Electronically

If the mere conversion and storage of materials electronically is not permitted, then a fortion the electronic dissemination of protected materials is also problematic. In fact, however, but for the display right granted under 106, the electronic transmission of individual protected works could easily be governed by other parts of the act—fair use, interlibrary copying of individual works, etc. Indeed, the arguments of the Sony case could be easily extended to such a situation. Instead of time-shifting, for library materials the need might be for location shifting. For example, suppose the only copy of a 1963 medical journal needed by a physician in Oregon for research purposes was held by the National Library of Medicine in Bethesda, Maryland. From the point of view of the physician, if that material were transmitted electronically and read with no permanent copies being made, there is little difference in circumstances from the Sony case, and a court might find fair use. If, however, researchers used such arrangements to create their own paper or disk-based libraries then the copying would clearly be beyond what is permitted under Sony.

The difference, of course, is that the television station was lawfully broadcasting a movie or other program that was in the public domain or for which it had paid an appropriate royalty. Because of the language and legislative hisrory of Sections 106 and 108, it appears to this writer that the construction of an online file of protected works and subsequently transmitting those works electronically to libraries or individual users is beyond what the act contemplates. If the brittle books program wishes to pursue this activity with works that are still protected, it would be wise to seek the permission of the individual publishers or to push for the development of a voluntary or compulsory licensing 178 mechanism to provide appropriate royalties to claimants.

IV. WHAT HAVE OTHER ORGANIZATIONS DONE ABOUT COPYRIGHT?

A. Library of Congress

The Library of Congress has several programs under way for the conversion of materials from one format to another. The author discussed with library staff their microfilm-based preservation project and the American Memory Project.

The rnicrofilm preservation project has similar objectives to those of the cooperative brittle books program. It began in 1969, and identifies materials in the collection that have deteriorated to the point where they need to be filmed or otherwise preserved in order to keep them in service. In general, when the book can no longer be made serviceable through rebinding, it is a candidate

178 See infra



¹⁷⁷ Or. if disk or paper copies are made, the copies were destroyed after reading, us in Sony

for filming. Once the materials are identified and prepared for preservation filming, they are sent to the library's photoduplication department which produces the camera negative and a use copy for the collection. Between 1968 and 1989, the library filmed some 128 million pages, and it is currently filming about 6 million pages per year.

Much of the material copied under this program was published before 1915, but some is more recent. Nonetheless, since all materials are being filmed for the purpose of replacing deteriorated items in the collection, the library's activities come within the copying permitted under Section 108 of the Act. The only relatively current materials being filmed are those in the public domain.

When the microfilming project began, the library endeavored to conduct an exhaustive search of the records of the Copyright Office and to seek permission of the copyright owner wherever they could identify one. The library found that effort to be seriously problematic, however, particularly with respect to serial publications. They found—in reality—all the same problems that the brittle books program has been concerned about in theory. Checking the records was very time consuming and far from reliable. Serials change title and each of those titles needs to be checked. Serials change ownership, and as noted above, there is no requirement that a change of ownership needs to be filed with the Copyright Office. Individual issues of serials may be separately copyrighted and permission needs to be granted for each of them. Finally, individual authors may retain the rights to individual articles within a journal. As a result of these problems, the Library of Congress stopped seeking permissions about eight years ago. On the advice of counsel, they now rely on Section 108 for their copying under this program.¹⁷⁹

The American Memory Project has begun to capture in videodisc or CD-ROM format complete archives documenting American history and culture. In the future, this program is expected to evolve into an online service. The first prototype collections consist of photographs and political cartoons. They will soon expand to include European folk music recorded in California in the 1930's, sound recordings from the "Nation's Forum" of political speeches and orations. life history manuscripts created in a WPA Writers Project, very early motion picture copyright deposits, African-American pamphlets from the 1860's to 1920, and California local histones, among other collections.

The American Memory prototype collections are all images, consisting of some 25.000 photographs and 530 editorial cartoons, most of which are in the public domain. Where the material is protected by copyright, the Library of Congress identified the copyright owner and received permission to load the item into the datafile. When they could not get permission, they did not use the item. It should be noted that at this preliminary stage, the Library of Congress sought and was given only very limited permission for the use of the material in a demonstration project and for the development of the prototype. The explicit agreement was that when the system becomes permanent, a further long-term agreement would be negotiated.

In an approach now under discussion at the library, the next phase of the American Memory Project will continue the library's traditional practice of seeking permission from the apparent owners of copyrighted works, whenever feasible. Some of these works are sound recordings. Sound recordings were not copyrightable under the Federal Copyright Act until 1972 and are not protected, although the underlying work, which might have been published in print form, might be. The library proposes to seek permission for the use of folk music that seems "likely" to specialists to have been protected or for which copyright records show registrations and/or renewals. To avoid a potentially large administrative burden, the library is "disinclined" to seek individual permissions for the speeches since many of them were by Federal officials and could not be copyrighted and there seems little likelihood that the heirs of those who were not public officials would have renewed the copyright and would now object to the inclusion of a speech in this project.

¹⁷⁹ Conversations with Tamara Swora, March 29 and April 1, 1990



Both of these new American Memory programs will be converted to electronic form from existing compilations. Since a compilation might be copyrighted, even where the original work was not, the library will seek permission from the current owners of the compilation.¹⁸⁰

B. Research Libraries Group¹⁸¹

The Research Libraries Group (RLG) has coordinated several preservation projects over the last few years. It has received over \$6 million to fund cooperative projects from the National Endowment for the Humanities, the Andrew W. Mellon Foundation, and other granting agencies. Through those projects, at least twenty different institutions have received support for their preservation efforts. In the first cooperative project, finished in 1987, 30,000 volumes were copied. In the second project, about 15,000 more volumes were copied. Two projects under way now will result in an additional 52,000 volumes being filmed. Beginning in May 1990 a program for the preservation of some archival collections will begin.

The RLG projects are all film oriented. For each work filmed three copies are made. One is the master and is deposited in a vault, to be used only in the event that no other copy is available. The second is a duplicate of the first and is kept at the library for purposes of making additional copies. The third is a use copy and is available in the library for general research and use.

For RLG-coordinated projects, RLG has developed some copyright guidelines but, in the end, it is up to each individual institution to decide what it is going to do. The RLG guidelines advise libraries that they should not copy publications published after 1915 unless they have first ascertained that the material is either in the public domain or they have acquired permission to make the copy. In addition, libraries are advised not to copy for other libraries or individuals unless ('\) the material is in the public domain, or (2) the other library indicates that it has complied with the requirements of the Act (either investigated or obtained permission), or (3) the copy is for an individual and compliance under the interlibrary loan provisions of the Act is indicated appropriately.

In practice, in indiridual libraries, copying under the preservation program is merged internally with other copying projects, and libraries usually rely on guidance (or the lack thereof) from their own counsel. In most cases, for interlibrary borrowing for a user, the standard 108 certification is required. If copying is requested from one library to another for preservation or collection purposes, the copying is likely to be made "copyright permitting".

C. National Library of Medicine

The National Library of Medicine (NLM) began a major preservation project in 1986. Although it hopes to convert materials to electronic form eventually, it has begun its work by converting deteriorated materials to film. It made that decision both for reasons of economics and because more is known about film as a preservation medium.

Since NLM began its project, it has copied 23,000 volumes. According to NLM's National Preservation Plan, 182 it expects to copy 35,000 pages and 100,000 volumes in a very short period of time. NLM expects to make copies of these films available to other libraries which need them for preservation purposes. Whether or not they will make them available to libraries that never had the title before will turn, in some measure, on the copyright implications of such a decision.



¹⁸⁰ Library of Congress, draft policy Internal memo dated March 9, 1990

¹⁸¹ Conversation with Patricia McClung, March 4, 1990

National Preservation Plan for the Biomedical Literature. (Mimeo 1988)

The National Library of Medicine reports that the vast majority of materials copied so far are in the public domain because they were published before 1914. Those which are not in the public domain have been copied under the preservation provisions of section 108(c), as discussed supra. Before filming, NLM tries to determine whether someone else has already filmed the work. If such a film already exists and it meets NLM technical specifications, NLM will not copy it again but will instead purchase it from that source. Since U.S. micropublishers have already filmed a high proportion of U.S. titles, NLM has found that most actual filming is for foreign imprints. With regard to locating an unused copy, as provided in Section 108(c), the National Library of Medicine believes that that is a viable option only if the work has been reprinted or has remained in print, since an old original is likely to be in essentially the same brittle condition as the one already in the library. Accordingly, if the work is not currently in print, NLM does not seek a copy in the second-hand trade but proceeds directly to filming.

In contemplation of converting preserved materials to electronic form, NLM convened a working group on compensation for intellectual property rights in the context of full-text storage and retrieval of scientific and technical information. Their Final Report was issued on September 3, 1983 and contained the following statement of principle:

With specific reference to the National Library of Medicine and considering the archival preservation of deteriorating or damaged out-of-print materials in the context of scientific and technical information, the conversion of them to machine processible form (such as, specifically, optical disc storage in either image form or digital form) should by agreement be regarded as remissible provided the use of such forms was limited to image display on the premises of the library. Any other use—copying, transmitting to locations other than the premises of the library, or processing for purposes other than direct display—would be subject to copyright protection.¹⁸³

This statement of principle followed some correspondence requesting the American Medical Publishers Association to agree to permit the National Library of Medicine to "transform into 'electronic' format out-of-print deteriorating volumes without seeking to determine if another paper copy is available." ¹⁸⁴ In that letter NLM stipulated that they understood the concern about possible subsequent uses of material stored electronically and that they would "treat the electronic copy as the book and . . . {would} use it only in exactly the same way the volume might now be used until such time as subsequent arrangements may clarify the conditions of retrieval and possible dissemination." ¹⁸⁵ In a subsequent letter, James Gallagher of the Williams and Wilkins Co. agreed to take up the issue with the Board of the Medical Publishers Association. The Association agreed to these principles at its meeting in the first week of February 1983.

The legal authority of such an agreement is limited since the Association has no authority to bind its members. However, it does demonstrate good faith on the part of the library and it suggests that the publisher members of the Board have considered the issues and shown a willingness to work with the library in the preservation effort. It also puts the Association on record as supporting this type of program.

Based on their experience, the National Library of Medicine is optimistic that publishers will work with the library community to solve the preservation problem. As a result, they believe a negotiated solution similar to the one they worked out with AMPA could also be worked out in a broader context.

¹⁸⁶ Reported to the author at a meeting at NLM on October 16, 1989



¹⁸³ Hayes, Robert M. Final Report of the Working Group on Compensation for Intellectual Property Rights in the Context of Full Text Storage and Retneval of Scientific and Technical Information" p 4. National Library of Medicine, 1983

Letter from Harold Schoolman, Deputy Director for Research and Education, National Library of Medicine, dated January 31, 1983

D. University Microfilms

University Microfilms (UMI) is a private company that has been in the business of converting print materials to microfilm for many years. Not only does UMI film for its own commercial purposes, it also films on a contract basis with individual libraries, and it is currently engaged in such work on behalf of a number of libraries that have received preservation grants.

CIMI is careful to operate within the confines of the copyright law, and always obtains the permission of the copyright holder before filming. ¹⁸⁷ Joe Fitzsimmons, the president of the company, described their rights and permissions files as the "essence of their business" ¹⁸⁸ since they contain contracts with over 10,000 publishers. This part of the enterprise is done with such care that for their dissertation program they actually have separate contracts with each individual author.

Because of the importance of rights and permissions to their business, UMI has developed a large and sophisticated staff to handle such matters. The staff seeks permission to copy not only for the basic microfilm operation, but also for their article reprint service and for online and CD-ROM document delivery. The staff devoted to this activity includes one vice resident, two managers, three publisher representatives, four clerical staff, and ten people in the database management department.

According to Fitzsimmons in a presentation made at the Library of Congress in the spring of 1989, the royalty payment schemes are individually negotiated with each copyright owner, and the publishers' desires drive the compensation package.

Often, UMI responds to librarian requests to add a new publication. They then negotiate an agreement with the publisher that satisfies the library needs and provides the publisher with a new source of revenue at no additional cost. Typically, the resulting contracts are non-exclusive, and the royalties are based on net sales revenue for the title. Records of sales are maintained in an elaborate sales history file. Licenses for electronic distribution are similar, but they specifically give UMI a non-exclusive worldwide license to reproduce, distribute, and transmit the title in question. Again, the royalty is negotiated individually and based on net revenues.

The elaborate program developed by UMI is necessary because it operates in the commercial environment. The transaction costs are high, however, and to the extent that the brittle books program expands from narrow preservation work to the sale and distribution of protected works, it would be well advised to seek to minimize the transaction costs by the types of statutory changes noted *infra* or by working through a collective such as the Copyright Clearance Center.

V. A REVIEW OF SEVERAL POSSIBLE SOLUTIONS

A. Negotiate Agreements with Publishers

The most obvious approach is to work within the existing statutory framework and to seek permission from the various copyright owners. The tumultuous years during and immediately following the passage of the new Act were characterized by uncertainty on both sides of the library/publisher copyright debate. But after 12 years of experience with the Act, librarians are



¹⁸⁷ For preservation filming done under contract for libranes, the library takes responsibility for obtaining whatever permission is necessary, or certifying that the material is in the public domain or that the copyring is lawful under section 108 of the Copyright Act 188 Phone conversation with Joe Fitzsimmons, March 16, 1990

used to the way in which it works, and they seem reasonably content with the balance struck by Section 108.¹⁸⁹ Similarly, the revolution in photocopying technology has stabilized, and publishers may no longer feel as threatened by basic library copying as they once did. The new threat is electronic dissemination, known as electro-copying. But even in the electronic environment, progress has been made. As commercially available full text retrieval systems have matured, publishers have routinely negotiated royalty mechanisms to compensate copyright owners for the electronic use and distribution of their works. These arrangements have demonstrated that agreement is possible, and that there can actually be more control, not less, over the distribution of a work in an electronic environment. For the print publisher, negotiation of such an agreement can provide a new income stream at no additional cost.

The difficulty with negotiating with publishers is largely one of scale. There are so many publishers that it would be difficult, if not impossible, to locate and negotiate with all of them without a staff dedicated to that activity similar in size to the one at UMI. This problem suggests the need to deal with a group of publishers, through an organization such as the American Association of Publishers (AAP) or a collective such as the Copyright Clearance Center (CCC). However, a group of publishers such as the AAP typically has no authority to bind its members. Moreover, the AAP has generally taken hard-line positions on copyright matters and may not be willing to back away from that stance even to consider preservation issues from a fresh perspective. (The CCC will be discussed, *infra*, under "collectives".) Nonetheless, it may be worthwhile to explore the issues with a representative cross-section of publishers from commercial and academic sectors and wide- and special-circulation publishers. If agreement were possible, it could not only open up the publications of those publishers to the preservation program, it could also demonstrate good faith and have precedential or persuasive value when dealing with other publishers.

B. Reliance on Fair Use: Market Value of Older Works

Although fair use is a judicially created rule of reason, it has now been incorporated into the Copyright Act. As a result, it could be modified directly through the legislative process or it could continue to grow through judicial interpretation of the statute.

Since one of the key elements of fair use is the market value of a work, it is reasonable to inquire at what point the market value is sufficiently diminished to permit a generally desirable activity such as preservation copying to go forward. One might think of this approach as being similar to investigating the half-life of a radioactive specimen. The maximum value of a work to its owner occurs, in most cases, shortly after publication. At some point, the value is diminished to only half of what it was then. At another point, it is half again, or only one quarter of its maximum value. Somewhere on this curve, there is likely to be a point at which other socially desirable uses become more acceptable than they were when the value of the work was at its peak. Where might that point be?

There are several ways to approach the question. At the outside, one might argue that the statute incorporates, or has at various times tried to incorporate, this idea by making copyright finite in duration. Thus, it might be suggested that the point occurs at the life of the author plus 50 years. Or it might be suggested that 75 years, 56 years, 28 years, or 14 years, the previous terms of copyright, best represent the concept. But as these figures have changed over time, they seem largely arbitrary, chosen for a variety of reasons, without any actual market analysis.



¹⁸⁹ See generally Second Report of the Register of Copyrights on Library Reproduction of Copyrighted Works (17 U.S.C. 108) at 39 ct seq. (January 1988)

Some recent studies suggest a more scientific approach to the issue. According to a study conducted at the American Bookseller Association convention in 1987 and reported in *Publishers Weekly*¹⁹⁰, most books published in the United States go out of print in about three years.¹⁹¹ Presumably, the implication of this fact is that ongoing sales of the work have diminished to the point where it is no longer economically viable for the publisher to keep the work in print. Even more graphic is that when asked about the "typical" pattern of sales for a book with a 2.5-year life cycle, publishers reported that 91.14 percent of all sales occur in the first year.¹⁹²

Similarly, public library use studies suggest that with the exception of a relatively small number of classic titles, the circulation of most new popular books diminishes each year. ¹⁹³ Interlibrary loan studies are similar, with most of the requests occurring during the first few years after publication, but with a somewhat higher level of residual interest. According to a study published in 1979, about half (48.6%) of all interlibrary photocopy requests are for articles published within the last five years and 69.5% are for articles less than ten years old. ¹⁹⁴

Citation studies reveal similar patterns. Even in law, where precedent is vital, citation of decisions decreases substantially with time. According to a citation study done in 1976 by Posner and Landes, the median age of precedent cited by the Supreme Court was 5.4 years and by the U.S. Courts of Appeals was 4.3 years. Decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court had a much longer half-life than others at about 9.8 years, although the age of cited cases varied somewhat with the legal issue involved. The half-life of citations in scholarly journals is somewhat shorter than citations in judicial opinions. According to at least one study of the literature, the inalf-life appears to be about 5.5 years in economic and sociological literature and 4 years in physics. 195

All of this suggests that the use of most works drops off significantly after about five years. Most book sales occur during the first year after publication; most uses of journal literature occur within the first five years. Even if a substantially longer period were adopted—perhaps as much as ten years—to avoid compromising the rights of the copyright owner, it would still seem reasonable then to permit certain preservation-oriented copying beyond the limits of section 108 (b) and (c) under fair use. Under Seltzer's formulation of fair use, such copying could easily be seen as being "necessary for the furtherance of knowledge, literature, and the arts" and not depriving the creator of the work of an appropriately expected economic reward. Similarly, in Latman's analysis, after that period of time has passed, the reasonable copyright owner has little expectation of further economic reward and would be likely to consent to limited preservation copying to keep his or her book on the shelves of libraries.

C. Amend Section 108 to Permit Expanded Preservation Copying

One way to deal with the uncertainties in the Act is to seek an amendment to Section 108 to clarify the aspects of the law that now appear to constrain preservation. Based on the issues identified in this paper, such an amendment might eliminate the requirement that the copying of published works be for replacement purposes only. It might also delete the need to check with the publisher. Finally, it might clarify that preservation copies could be distributed, at least to other libraries in like circumstances, and it might at least be silent on the formats into which the materials could be copied, thus permitting by implication copying into electronic formats.



¹⁹⁰ Crowther Quantifying the Sales Push April 8, 1988 Publishers Weekly, 15

¹⁹¹ The mean number of months a book remains in print was reported to be 43.07 but that included classics , textbooks, and reference materials that basically never go out of print. Of the total, about 40% indicated a life expectancy of between 31.6 and 41.4 months. Id. 192. Id.

¹⁹³ See Morse, Library Effectiveness: A System Approach 93 (MTT, 1968)

¹⁹⁴ Steuben, "Interlibrary Loan of Photocopies of Articles Unuer the New Copyright Law., 1979 Special Libraries 227-230 (May, June 1970)

<sup>1979)

195</sup> Lovell, 'The Production of Economic Literature an Interpretation , 11 J Econ Lit 27 45 (1973) Of course these figures represent the entire body of literature in the discipline Exceptions will occur for individual reference works and other works frequently revised and issued in new editions

¹⁹⁶ Seltzer, supra, nt. 102

¹⁹⁷ See discussion at nt. 116, supra

Some years ago, Dr. Martin Cummings proposed such an amendment to the Register of Copyright:

"The right [cf] reproduction under this section applies to a copy or phonorecord of a published work duplicated in facsimile form, in the same or in a different medium, for the purpose of archival preservation."198

At the time, the Register rejected this idea, but urged the library community to pursue the idea with other groups, including the user, author and publishing communities "with a view to developing a common legislative position". 199 The Register was worned about the use of the phrase "in the same or in a different medium" after the reference to "facsimile form" since the more expansive clause was not used elsewhere in the Act and could be confusing. He was also worried about the potential for using such copying to create a system for "mass facsimile document storage" and "electronic transmission, and display and printout at multiple remote cites [sic]"200 He noted that "facsimile form" was used specifically to exclude the reproduction of a work in machine-readable form.

The author of this paper suggests the following language as a pasis for discussion among the communities mentioned in the Register's Report:

- (b) The rights of reproduction and distribution under this section apply to a copy or phonorecord of an unpublished work duplicated in any medium now known or later developed solely for the purpose of preservation or security, or for deposit for research use in another library or archives of the type described by clause (2) of subsection (a), if the copy or phonorecord reproduced is currently in the collection of the library or archives.
- (c) The rights of reproduction and distribution under this section apply to a copy or phonorecord of a published work duplicated in any medium now known or later developed solely for the purpose of replacement or preservation of a copy or phonorecord that is damaged, deteriorating, lost, or stolen.

This language seems to meet the goals identified above and would permit the preservation program to go forward using all available formats. It should be noted, however, that by its own terrns ("a copy"), and by virtue of the fact that it would be part of Section 108, the proposed section would still limit preservation copying to single copies.

D. Collective Licensing

A license agreement can provide certainty by giving permission to copy in return for the payment of a fee. If the license covers a large number of publishers, it can also help to keep the transaction costs for individual titles to a minimum. Such a license agreement could be either a voluntary agreement between the parties or a compulsory arrangement required under law. A compulsory license would provide great certainty, but might also create a record-keeping burden. A voluntary agreement can demonstrate good faith but only binds the parties. Since some publishers might elect not to participate, the voluntary license cames potentially higher transaction costs for the negotiation of many separate agreements. A voluntary agreement would also be unlikely to solve the problem for publishers no longer in business.

1. Voluntary Licenses

Voluntary license agreements could be negotiated with individual publishers, as discussed earlier, or with a collective reproducing rights organization such as the Copyright Clearance Center (CCC).

¹⁹⁹ *Id.* at 340. 200 *Id.* at 338



¹⁹⁸ Quoted in 1983 Report of the Register of Copynghts, supra. nt. 3 at 337

The Copyright Clearance Center was created after the passage of the 1976 Act as an organization to represent publishers and provide a centralized mechanism for the collection and payment of royalties. Beginning with a relatively small list of publishers and titles, the Copyright Clearance Center today represents over 6,300 publishers worldwide, covering some 1.1 million published titles.

The initial focus of the Copyright Clearance Center was on corporate users, and both collections and payments were based on individual copying transactions.²⁰¹ More recently, however, the Copyright Clearance Center has developed a program for blanket licensing in the corporate sector, and it has begun to explore the development of similar programs for academic institutions. Such programs are typically based on a sampling of actual photocopying during a specified period of time. As a result, they avoid the necessity of keeping detailed records of all copying throughout the year. A two-year pilot study now under way at Columbia University, Northeastem University, and Stanford University will collect similar information about the amount and kind of copying done on those campuses. At the conclusion of the study, a recommendation will be made for a blanket license to cover university copying. Some institutions participating in the brittle books program may come under the protection of such agreements. It is important to keep in mind, however, that the CCC cannot license all university copying; it can only license copying for those publishers that participate in their programs.²⁰²

No license is needed for copying permitted under the statute. However, wherever the preservation program might exceed those limits, participating institutions might find it appropriate to negotiate a license agreement with the Copyright Clearance Center, at least for those publis ers which the CCC has authority to represent. Nost such agreements are separately negotiated based on the type of industry (profit-making vs. non-profit), the amount of copying, etc. But as with the agreements UMI has reached, the amount of the royalties tends to be based on the demands and needs of individual publishers. As a result, it is difficult to speculate precisely about what kind of agreement might be reached. Nonetheless, it is a mechanism worth exploring since it could provide a great deal of certainty without much administrative cost.

The CCC has concentrated its work to date on traditional photocopying; it is just beginning to explore the implications of electronic dissemination. The CCC has established a task force that is looking into a program to license scanning and reproducing materials in electronic format for distribution within a corporation, much as the National Library of Medicine has begun its programs wholly inside the library. The CCC's investigations do not include, however, resale of the documents or wider distribution beyond the individual company. For now, at least, that type of electronic copying and distribution will still have to be negotiated individually with individual publishers.

2. Compulsory Licenses²⁰³

Compulsory licenses have been used²⁰⁴ historically to provide a mechanism for compensation to creators in situations where control of copies or control over the use of a particular work



²⁰¹ Royalty information on individual publications has been compiled by the CCC into a book known as the Publisher's Photocupy Fee Cat alog and is also available on software. The software not only provides a list of royalties, it also provides a mechanism for storing information about thems covered. The disk or a post-out can be sent to the CCC for invocing.

about items copied. The disk or a print-out can be sent to the CCC for invoicing.

202 A list of publishers currently participating in the annual authorization service of the CCC is attached as an appendix to this report. All though the list is lengthy, many will be found missing.

For a good discussion of compulsory licenses generally, and compulsory licenses for cable TV in particular, see Hyman, The Socialization of Copyright The Increased Use of Compulsory Licenses', 4 Cardozo Arts & Entertainment Law Journal 105 (1985) Compulsory licenses first came ii o U.S. copyright law for the reproduction of copyright discussed Under the 1909 Copyright Act, once the copyright owner had licensed the first recording, subsequent recordings of the same musical composition could be made by paying a royalty. With a few changes, this basic scheme was camed forward into the Copyright Act of 1976 (17 U.S.C. 115). The 1976 Act also added compulsory licenses for jukeboxes (17 U.S.C. 116), public broadcasting (17 U.S.C. 118), and cable television (17 U.S.C. 111).

is difficult.²⁰⁵ Many commentators have suggested that the electronic environment is exactly the type of situation where control over a work can be lost since such works can easily be copied to disk or paper or copied from one datafile to another.²⁰⁶ However, it now seems that at least the first generation electronic copy can be easily controlled if the supplier is acting in good faith. The experience with full-text information retrieval systems such as DIALOG and NEXIS demonstrates that the computer itself can keep track of the use of documents and provide the necessary data to pay royalties to the copyright owner. Nonetheless, a compulsory license might be desirable for the brittle books program because it would draw in all publishers and provide the library community with maximum certainty.

Essentially, a compulsory license grants a statutory blanket permission to use a particular kind of work in a way that would otherwise violate one of the exclusive rights of the creator in return for the payment of a single fee to a central agency. The royalties thus collected form a pool of funds from which compensation is provided to creators participating in the system. In the preservation context, such a license could authorize the copying of complete protected works into facsimile or electronic formats in return for the payment of a fixed fee. Libraries would then no longer have to worry about whether or not a work was still protected; they would not have to locate the publisher and seek permission; they would not have to pay individual royalties or worry about the copyright owner who comes out of the woodwork later to make trouble.

The different compulsory licenses that now exist provide different bases for the collection of royalties and suggest different models for compensation. For cable television, rates are established as a percentage of the gross receipts of the company; for jukeboxes, an annual fee is raid for each machine; for making and distributing phonorecords, a fee for each disk is levied for each work on the disk; and for public broadcasting, fees are collected for each performance of a covered work.²⁰⁷ The fees for cable television and jukebox royalties are collected by the Register of Copyrights and distributed by the Copyright Royalty Tribunal. The Copyright Royalty Tribunal also sets or reviews the rates for cable television, for phonorecords and coin-operated phonorecord players, and for non-commercial broadcasting.

3. The Foreign Experience

Several foreign countries²⁰⁸ have experimented with licenses administered through organizations similar to the Copyright Clearance Center (CCC), known as Reproducing Rights Organizations (RRO's). Those RRO's meet regularly in an organization known as the International Federation of Reproduction Rights Organizations.

By and large, RRO's are not neutral third parties. They are made up either of individual publishers or of groups of publishers and/or authors ²⁰⁹ Although the CCC began its work in the United States by seeking royalties primarily from the commercial sector, in many of the European countries collecting societies have t egun in the educational sector. This is true, for example, in Great Britain, Australia, and Norway. Many of these collectives are voluntary organizations operated by copyright

²⁰⁹ Although in United States the CCC is made up of individual publishers, in Great Britain the Copyright Licensing Agency (CLA) is composed of organizations representing publishers. In Germany authors and publishers can be individual members of the organization while in Norway authors and publishers are represented by their respective organizations.



Indeed, one of the principal conclusions of a Rand Corp study was that collective administration should be limited to instances in which infringements cannot be dealt with individually [Emphasis added] See Besen & Kirby, Compensating Creators of Intellectual Property p. vi (Rand, 1989)

See generally Office of Technology Assessment, Intellectual Property Rights in an Age of Electronics and Information (1986)
 See generally 37 C FR Sec. 303 to 308 (July 1987)

At least 15 . Ictions have Reproducing Rights Organizations They include Great Bntain (Copyright Licensing Agency), Australia (The Copyright Licensing Agency), Australia Licensing Agency Lic

owners to simplify the negotiation of license agreements and to provide a convenient mechanism for the collection of royalties. Some, such as the CCC, and the CLA in Great Britain, were created in response to a legislative or study commission suggestion. Others, such as those in the Nordic countries, operate under a statute providing for a system of collective license agreements.²¹⁰

The mechanisms established by each organization for the collection and payment of royalties differ from one country to another, although in most cases, the basis of the charge is per page copied, rather than an annual blanket license. The Copyright Clearance Center has tried several different approaches, but in each of them the individual publisher determines its own per page rate of compensation. By contrast, in many other countries there is an agreed-upon fixed rate for all publishers.²¹¹ In Finland, licenses provide for a lump sum, rather than a per page, payment. In most cases, distribution of royalties is based on a sampling of actual copies made. Some organizations, such as the CCC, have tried to base payments on actual copies, but the record-keeping burden is high and sampling techniques have been found to be less problematic.

4. Oversight of Collectives

The downside of collectives is that they inevitably gain substantial economic power over information users. As a result, most countries have found it desirable to have some form of oversight. Such oversight provides a means of controlling the potential monopolistic power of the organization as well as a means of resolving disputes about the amount of royalties or the types of licensing arrangements that can be negotiated.

France²¹² now requires authors' societies to notify the Minister of Culture of proposed changes in rules for the collection and distribution of royalties. In addition, a levy on blank tapes is set by a broad-based committee that includes consumers. In Switzerland, an organization seeking to collect copyright royalties must submit an application to the Federal Department of Justice and Police. Thereafter, a subdivision of the department, k. own as the Bureau of Intellectual Property, supervises the activities of the society and an Arbitral Commission oversees and approves the rate structure. Germany licenses collecting societies under the German Patent Office. Collecting societies and users' organizations negotiate and enter into contracts with each other subject to arbitration if there is a dispute about the reasonableness of the fees or the willingness of another party to negotiate. A new law in Great Britain has created an expanded copyright tribunal that has jurisdiction over licensing disputes. With regard to photocopying licenses, the tribunal is specifically instructed to consider three factors; (a) to what extent published editions of the work are available; (b) the use to which photocopies will be put; and (c) the proportion of the work that will be photocopied under the license. 213 In the United States, the Copyright Royalty Tribunal administers some royalties (cable TV, record production, and jukeboxes) and has the power to take action when the parties cannot agree.

Collective Administration for Preservation Copying

Some form of collective agreement for the payment of copyright royalties can give the library community protection against future litigation. A voluntary agreement negotiated with the Copyright Clearance Center (CCC) should provide protection from at least those publishers for whom the CCC is authorized to act. Such an agreement would require no legislative action and could proceed immediately. The role of the CCC could be strengthened, however, if it was given more explicit



²¹⁰ See Karnell. Extended Collective License Clauses and Agreements in Nordic Copyright Law., 10 Columbia VLA Journal of Law & the Arts 73 (1985)

Arts 73 (1985)
211 In Britain, the fee is 1 1p per page, in Germany, it is DM 0.05 per page from a school book and DM 0.02 per page for all other copying, in France it is 10 centimes per page, in Switzerland, the price is 6 Swiss centimes per page, and in the Netherlands the fee is 0.025 guilder per page for scientific publications and 0.10 guilder per page for other publications. In most of the Scandinawan countries except Finland pricing is also on a per page basis.

pncing is also on a per page basis ²¹² The information on oversight is drawn largely from Besen and Kirby, *supra* nt 209

²¹³ Laws of Grei Britain, 1988 Current Law States Annotated c 48, Sec. 130 (Sweet & Maxwell 1989)

statutory authority to act on behalf of a group of publishers much as is done for the music industry. Going further, a compulsory license for preservation copying would give libraries blanket permission to go forward with designated activities subject to the payment of a statutory royalty fee to the appropriate tribunal.

A first try at a compulsory license section might be provided by using different sections of the current Act as models:

PROPOSED Section 119. Compulsory license for the preservation of deteriorating works.

In the case of literary works, musical works, dramatic works, pantomimes and choreographic works, pictorial or graphic works, motion pictures and other audio-visual works, reproduced on a Jetenorating medium,²¹⁴ such as paper or film, the exclusive rights provided by clauses (1), (3), and (5) of section 106, to make, distribute, and display publicly such works, are subject to compulsory licensing under the conditions specified by this section.

- (a) Availability and Scope of Compulsory License.
 - (1) Any library or archive meeting the requirements of Section 108(a) which is the lawful owner of a published or unpublished literary work, musical work, dramatic work, pantomime or choreographic work, pictorial or graphic work, motion picture, or other audio-visual work reproduced on a deteriorating medium and fixed on that medium more than ten years previously, may obtain a compulsory license for the reproduction of the work in any format and for the distribution and display of that work to other libraries and to individual users, provided that the library has no notice that the copy would be used for any purpose other than private study, scholarship or research.
 - (2) The compulsory license obtained by a library includes the privilege of making and distributing a copy of the work in any form or displaying the work publicly, but it does not include the making of derivative products or permitting a general right of resale other than as provided above. Such copies will not themselves be granted protection as a derivative work or a compilation, except with the express consent of the copyright owner.
 - (3) The library may obtain a compulsory license by filing the application with the Register of Copyrights and paying the royalties provided by subsection (b).
- (b) Royalty Payable Under Compulsory License.—
 - (1) The royalty under a compulsory license shall be payable for every copy made and distributed in accordance with the license, but not for copies merely displayed at another library or displayed to an individual user for private study, scholarship, or research. For this purpose, a copy is considered "distributed" when a subsequent copy is made in any tangible form, whether copied to paper, downloaded to computer disk, or transferred to any other medium from which it can be perceived, either directly or with the aid of a machine or device.
 - (2) With respect to each work copied and distributed, the royalty shall be 0.1 cents per page.
 - (3) A library that has obtained a compulsory license and made and distributed copies thereunder shall, on an annual basis, deposit a statement of account with the Register of Copyright, in accordance with requirements that the Register shall, after consultation with the Copyright Royalty Tribunal, prescribe. That statement of account shall cover the



²¹⁴ Legislative history should provide illustrations of detenorating media but should be sure to state that they are non-exclusive

12 months next preceding, and shall specify the number of copies made and distributed and such other data as the Register of Copyrights may, after consultation with the Copyright Royalty Tribunal, require. The regulations covering the annual statement of account shall prescribe the form, content, and manner of certification with respect to the number of copies made and distributed.

(c) Distribution of Royalties .-

- (1) To be entitled to receive royalties under a compulsory license, the copyright owner must be identified in the registration or other public records of the Copyright Office. The owner is entitled to royalties for copies made and distributed after being so identified, but is not entitled to recover for any copy previously made and distributed.
- (2) The Register of Copyright shall receive all fees deposited under this section and, after deducting the reasonable costs incurred by the Copyright Office under this section, shall deposit the balance in the Treasury of the United States, in such manner as the Secretary of the Treasury directs. All funds held by the Secretary of the Treasury shall be invested in interest-bearing United States securities for later distribution with interest by the Copyright Royalty Tribunal as provided by this title. The Register shall submit to the Copyright Royalty Tribunal on an annual basis, a detailed statement of account covering all fees received for the relevant period provided by subsection (c) (3).
- (3) During the month of January in each year, every person claiming to be entitled to compulsory license fees under this section for copies made and distributed during the preceding twelve-month period shall file a claim with the Copyright Royalty Tribunal, in accordance with requirements that the Tribunal shall prescribe by regulation. Such claim shall include an agreement to accept as final, except as provided in section 810 of this title, the determination of the Copyright Royalty Tribunal in any controversy concerning the distribution of royalty fees deposited under this section to which the claimant is a party. Notwithstanding any provisions of the antitrust laws, for purposes of this subsection any claimants may agree among themselves as to the proportionate division of compulsory licensing fees among them, may lump their claims together and file them jointly or as a single claim, or may designate a common agent to receive payment on their behalf.
- (4) After the first day of July of each year, the Copyright Royalty Tribunal shall determine whether there exists a controversy concerning the distribution of royalty fees deposited under this section. If the Tribunal determines that no such controversy exists, it shall, after deducting its reasonable administrative costs under this section, distribute such fees to the copyright owners entitled, or to their designated agents. If it finds that such a controversy exists, it shall, pursuant to chapter 8 of this title, conduct a proceeding to determine the distribution of royalty fees.
- (5) The fees to be distributed shall be divided as follows.
 - (A) to every copyright owner not affiliated with a reproducing rights organization, the pro rata share of the fees to be distributed to which such copyright owner proves entitlement.
 - (B) to the reproducing rights organizations, the remainder of the fees to be distributed in such pro rata shares as they shall by agreement stipulate among themselves, or, if they fail to agree, the pro rata share to which such organizations prove entitlement.



- (C) during the pendency of any proceeding under this section, the Copyright Royalty Tribunal shall withhold from distribution an amount sufficient to satisfy all claims with respect to which a controversy exists, but shall have discretion to proceed to distribute any amounts that are not in controversy.
- (6) The Copyright Royalty Tribunal shall promulgate regulations under which persons who can reasonably be expected to have claims may, without expense to or harassment of the libraries, obtain such information with respect to copies made and distributed as may be reasonably necessary to determine, by sampling procedures or otherwise, the proportion of copyring from the works of different copyright owners. Any person who alleges that he or she has been denied the access permitted under the regulations prescribed by the Copyright Royalty Tribunal may bring an action in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia for the cancellation of the compulsory license and the court shall have the power to declare the compulsory license thereof invalid from the date of issue thereof.

(d) Definition.—

For purposes of this section a "reproducing rights organization" is an association or corporation that licenses the making of copies on behalf of copyright owners such as the Copyright Clearance Center.

A few comments on this proposal seem necessary. First, it should be noted that under this proposal, the royalty is to be paid on *all* copies made and distributed under the license, not just those still under copyright. The purpose of this suggestion is for ease of administration and to make it unnecessary to make a determination about copyright status each time a work is distributed. This could have come out another way, but the burden of making copyright determinations for each transaction would be significant. Although such a change would reduce the number of royalty payments, the amount per page would then have to be higher to generate an appropriate amount of revenue for subsequent claimants.

The suggestion of 0.1 cents per page as a royalty payment is wholly arbitrary. It is suggested based on the royalties noted above for foreign jurisdictions which amount to an average of about 2 cents per page²¹⁵ for protected works. The lower amount paid on all copies seems reasonable, to generate a similar amount of revenue.

Like the existing law, this proposal strikes a middle ground between compulsory and voluntary licensing. The compulsory license is created, but administration of royalties is largely left to one or more voluntary organizations like the Copyright Clearance Center.

E. Set Up Internal Royalty Payment Fund

The reaction of some librarians to the proposals for a statutory amendment, such as the amendment to Section 108 or the creation of a compulsory license, has been negative. They are aware of the difficulty there would be in carrying such a proposal through Congress. It has been suggested, for example, that any such proposal would have to come to Congress with the joint support of both the publishing and library communities. While such a bipartisan approach is a possibility, the past history of copyright negotiations suggests that agreement will not be easy. Moreover, there is also a sense it may still be too soon to reopen the copyright discussion, that doing so will simply reopen the wounds from the copyright revision battles of the 1970's. Thus, there is significant appeal to the idea of finding a means to allow the preservation program to go forward without a statutory change.



²¹⁵ See nt. 211, supra.

Without any statutory amendment, cooperating libraries could follow some of the ideas set out above. They could, for example, negotiate with publishers where possible, but in any event, assess themselves a specific amount of money to set aside for the potential payment of royalties. Again, the amount of money is likely to be somewhat arbitrary, but the ultimate goal would be to create a pool of funds from which the libraries could pay any legitimate claimants the royalties to which they are due. The fund should be large enough to cover attorney's fees and any litigation expenses that might also be necessary. The actual amount set aside might be 1 cent per page or a dollar per volume, indexed to inflation, and it might vary with the activity—more for copies distributed, less for making the preservation master.

It must be stressed that this idea is not the equivalent of the compulsory license without the statute. Most importantly, unlike both statutory amendments suggested here, it would give libraries no greater rights than already exist under the statute. Both proposed amendments have tried to legalize the conversion of materials into electronic formats. That idea would not be accommodated by this proposal. Moreover, the compulsory license proposal accommodates newer materials by allowing a limited copying and distribution privilege for materials at least ten years old. Without a statutory amendment, such copying would continue to be problematic.

This proposal to cross a royalty payment fund would create some level of financial security by establishing a pool or funds that could be used to pay legitimate claimants and hire legal counsel should that become necessary. However, it will also increase the transaction costs since there will be a need to negotiate with individual claimants and make decisions about how much compensation they should be given for the use of their work. In the end, of course, if the claimants are not satisfied, they could still bring legal action. Thus, although this route may seem easier at the outset because it avoids the necessity of seeking a Congressional amendment, in the long run it may actually create more problems and take more time.

F. Create Quasi-Governmental Corporation

In addition to the foregoing ideas, consideration should also be given to creating a quasigovernmental corporation that would provide a financial base for the preservation infrastructure and would create a permanent organization for carrying out the preservation agenda. Such an organization could be modeled on the Corporation for Public Broadcasting and could operate in the public interest.

There was a discussion about a similar organization for the ill-fated National Periodicals Center (NCP) in 1979. Interestingly, the goal of that earlier effort was similar to the long-term goal of the Commission. The goal of the NPC, as articulated in the draft bill, was:

to serve as a national periodical resource by contributing to the preservation of periodical materials and by providing access to a comprehensive collection of periodical literature to public and private libraries throughout the United States.²¹⁶

The Commission has stated its "ultimate vision" as:

the existence of a collective knowledge base, in digitized format, from which individual institutions and individual scholars can obtain a variety of formats to serve their scholarly objectives and programs. Initially, this "national collection" could take the form of a centralized depository of microfilms with access through on-line bibliographic services and efficient twenty-four hour delivery mechanisms with the expectation that storage, access, and service enhancements will evolve with the increasing use of technology by scholars and expanded availability of network capabilities to the research community.²¹⁷

^{217 &}quot;Commission on Preservation and Access [3], mimeo (January 1988)



²¹⁶ Discussion draft of S B 1839, Sec 241, Purpose 41

The 1979 draft bill would have authorized the creation of a Corporation and established its governance structure. It was to be a tax-exempt corporation with a director and a 15-person Board. Its base budget from federal appropriations was to be set at \$750,000, but it would have had the authority to obtain grants and make contracts with individuals and with private, state and federal agencies, organizations and institutions.

Unfortunately, the National Periodicals Center foundered largely because of a fear from the publishing industry that it would become a large central library on which other libraries would rely, causing the cancellation of large numbers of subscriptions to current periodical literature. In that sense, while the proposal for the NPC was a good one, it failed to deal with the legitimate concerns of publishers and the need to provide an adequate mechanism to assure the payment of appropriate royalties. There was language in the bill that suggested the Corporation should take these concerns into account but no mechanism was created for doing so. It may be that a quasi-governmental corporation focused on the preservation of non-current materials with a clear mechanism for the payment of royalties similar to that proposed under the compulsory license section, supra, would have a better chance of success.

The success of a proposal such as this will depend on it having support from both the library and the publishing communities. The publishing community may be receptive to the idea if it (1) does not undermine the current subscription base, and (2) creates a clear mechanism for the payment of appropriate royalties.

VI. LEGISLATIVE OR OTHER FOLLOW UP-ACTION

A. Decisions to be Made

At several points during this paper, the issue under discussion could be resolved in different ways depending on the goals of the preservation program. For example, if limited to the making of facsimile copies (i.e., microform copies) of old, out-of-print, deteriorated material for preservation purposes only, the program will follow one course and the statutory obstacles will be relatively low. If, on the other hand, the goal is to build an online datafile of current material for distribution to libraries and individual users worldwide there will be another set of considerations and the barriers will be significant.

If the goals are indeed broader, then some mechanism must be in place either to negotiate with publishers individually or to provide for collective administration of royalties. This may require a statutory change. If, on the other hand, the focus is more limited, it may be possible to proceed without a statutory change on those materials that are now in the public domain. As a middle ground, participating libraries may wish to proceed on materials not yet in the public domain, but also not current (e.g., older than ten years) and may, the ofore, wish to seek to have the limitation to "facsimile form" removed. Again, this will require either a statutory change or negotiation with individual copyright owners.

The library community also needs to decide about questions of access. Will access to publications be available only to libraries? Only to libraries that already held the title and now find it deteriorating? What about libraries that never held the title but now wish to add it to their collections? What about individual scholars and researchers? The answers to these questions will help to focus the discussion about what should be done next. The more closely the answers are related to goals that are already accepted by the Act—i.e., preservation, not general distribution—the easier it will be to proceed without a statutory amendment. The broader the goal becomes, the more necessary it will be either to compensate copyright owners or to seek a statutory amendment.



B. Discussion and Agreement among Library Groups

Once there is a clear decision about these matters in the preservation community, a discussion should be initiated with other library groups, directed at gaining a consensus about the priority need for a solution to the copyright issues involved in the preservation program. Any changes to the Copyright Act are likely to be difficult to achieve since there are so many players that have a vested interest in the status quo. The library community will need to have a clear view of what is needed and a unified approach to the issue as they enter subsequent discussions with the publishing industry and with members of Congress.

C. Discussion with the Publishing Community

It is clear from the quotation that opened this paper that progress before Congress is unlikely unless the library community and the publishing community are able to reach agreement on the importance of the problem and the appropriateness of the changes to the Act that might be suggested. The Copyright Office is not willing to formulate the solution but it is looking to the interested parties to take the lead to propose solutions for review and possible endorsement. Similarly, several individuals have commented that Congress will not do anything in this area that turns out to be contentious. Regrettably, the library associations also seem to shy away from major proposals, probably because it has taken so long to recover from the battles of the copyright revision effort of the 1970's. Few seem willing to reopen the old questions, prefering instead to live with the equilibrium that now seems to exist, even if it leaves some unanswered questions.

Preservation, however, is an issue that has widespread support, and which might be a good vehicle for exploring a limited sphere of copyright issues. It would probably be useful, therefore, for a preservation-oriented leadership group to follow the approach taken by the National Library of Medicine and convene a small working group of librarians/preservationists and publishers' representatives to discuss the issues and possible solutions. If it is possible through those discussions to come up with some agreement then either the agreement itself might make a statutory change unnecessary or it could lead to a joint legislative proposal.

D. Discussion with Congressional Staff and the Copyright Office

Finally, at an early stage, the issues involved here should be discussed with staff members of the relevant Congressional Committees and with members of the Copyright Office staff. Support from those two areas will be critical as any proposed legislation proceeds. Moreover, they are in the best position to give advice on how they see the issues, what are the competing considerations, and who should be involved in any further discussions that might take place before a bill is introduced.



APPENDIX

Copyright Clearance Center Publisher List



Note: All Norwegian, Spanish & New Zealand publishers participate in the

AA Balkema AA Publishing Division AAT Publishing, Inc.

ABP Investments (Australia) Pty. Ltd.

A & C Black (Publishers), Ltd.

A C Croft, Inc.

ADAC Verlag GmbH A Francke Verlag GmbH AG B Westbourne, Ltd.

AH Stockwell, Ltd. A I Week Inc.

A J Burke Books A Jour

AKS ev ALKIM Communication Production Co.

AMACOM

A L S-Verlag GmbH AO L-Verlag A Pedone A Q-Verlag

ASHRAE, Inc. AS M International AT-Fachverlag Aardvark Enterprises

Abacus Kent, Ltd. Abbey Press

Ablex Publishing Corp. Abson Books

Academia Verlag Richarz GmbH Academic Press, Inc.

Academic Press, Ltd., UK Academie Nationale de Medecine

Acheron Publications Acoustical Publications, Inc. Acropolis Books, Ltd.

Acta Chemica Scandinavica Addison-Wesley CmbH

Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Australia

Adis Press Australasia Pty. Ltd. Administrative Management Society Administrative Science Quarterly, Cornell

University Adolf Bonz Verlag Adventure Simulations

Advertising Trade Publications, Inc.

Aegis-Verlag Aeolus Press

Aerospace Medical Association Affholderbach & Strohmann

Afloat Press Agathon Press Agra-Europe Presse Agricola-Verlag GmbH

Agricultural Institute of Canada

Ain Agricole Austhesis Verlag Alan R. Liss, Inc.

Alano Verlags- & Medienver Alba Buchverlag GmbH & Co., Alba Publikation Alf Teloken GmbH

Albatross Books Pty. Ltd. Albert Langen-Georg Mueller

Alberta Oil Sands Technology and Research

Authority (AOSTRA) Albrecht Knaus Verlag Alert Publishing, Inc. Alexander Baier-Presse Alfred Kroener Verlag GmbH Alfred Mewner Verlag GmbH Alicia Patterson Foundation

Allen and Unwin (Australia) Pty., Ltd.

Allerton Press, Inc.

AllTech Communications, Inc. Allured Publishing Corp. Almarco Trading Corp.

Almquist and Wiksell International

Aloes Books Alpha Academic Alphamed Press, Inc.

Alpmann & Schmidt Verlags Altman and Weil Publications, Inc.

Aluminium-Verlag Amber Lane Press Ambient Press, Ltd.

American Academy of Neurological and

Orthopaedic Surgery

American Academy of Periodontology American Association for Artificial Intelligence

American Association for the Advancement of Science

American Association of Cereal Chemists American Association of Cost Engineers American Association of Immunologists American Association of Museums American Association of Neuroscience

Nurses

American Association of Petroleum

Geologists

American Banker - Bond Buyer American Ceramic Society American Chemical Society American College of Physicians American Concrete Institute

American Demographics

American Farm Building Services, Inc.

American Geological Institute American Geophysical Union American Health Consultants

American Industrial Hygiene Association American Institute of Aeronautics &

Astronautics (AIAA)

American Institute of Biological Sciences American Institute of Chemical Engineers

American Institute of Chemists, Inc. American Institute of Nutrition American Institute of Physics

American Journal of Economics & Sociology,

American Lung Association American Marketing Association American Mathematical Society American Medical Association American Medical Reports American Microscopical Society American Nuclear Society

American Oil Chemists Society American Paint Journal American Pharmaceutical Association

American Physiological Society American Phytopathological Society American Powder Metallurgy Institute

American Psychiatric Association American Psychological Association American Public Health Association American Public Welfare Association

American Resort and Residential Development Association

American Roentgen Ray Society American Sciences Press

American Society for Information Science American Society for Microbiology

American Society for Nondestructive Testir q

American Society for Personnel Administration

American Society for Testing and Materials American Society of Agricultural Engineers American Society of Biological

Chemists

American Society of Brewing Chemists American Society of Civil Engineers American Society of Hospital Pharmacists American Society of International Law American Society of Law and Medicine American Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene

American Type Culture Collection American Veterinary Publications American Water Works Association

American Welding Society Ami-Verlag GmhH

An Foras Taluntais/The Agricultural Institute

Analytic Publishing Co.

Anglican Information Office (A10 Press) Angus & Robertson

Annenberg School of Communications

Annual Reviews, Inc. Anrich Verlag GmbH Ansay Ptv. Ltd.

Antenna Edicoes Tecnicas Ltda

Anthony Clarke Books Anton H Konrad Verlag Appleton and Lange Applied Computer Research Applied Industrial Hygiene

Applied Probability Trust, University

Sheffield

Applied Psychological Measurement, Inc.

Arani-Verlag GmbH Arcady Pooks, Ltd. Arch and Baudetail Archibook Verlags- GmbH Architectural Press, Ltd. Arena-Verlag

Argument-Verlag GmbH Argua Health Publications, Ltd.

Aris and Phillips, Ltd. Arlington Books

Armed Forces Communications & Electronics Association

Arms & Armour Press Arsenal Ver fuer Kult & Pol Art & Text Pty. Ltd. Art Guide Publications Ltd. Artquest International

Aschendorffsche Verlagsbuchhandlung

Ashlee Publishing Co., Inc. Ashton Scholastic Pty. Ltd. Aspen Publishers, Inc.

Asphalt Roofing Manufacturing Association Associated Business Publications

Associated University Presses Association Ciencias Naturales/Del Litoral

Association des Hautes Etudes Hospitalieres Association for Computing Machinery (ACM)

Association for Information and Image Management

Association for Preservation Technology Association for the Study of Jewish

Languages Association Generale des Medecins de

Association Nationale de la Presse Mutualiste



Association of American Publishers, Inc. (AAP) Association of Caribbean Studies Association of Czechoslovakia Medical Society Association of Official Analytical Chemists Association of Trial Lawyers of America Asso Verlag A Althoff Astam Books Pty. Ltd. Aster Publishing Corp. Atcom, Inc. Atelier Verlag Andernach Athenaeum Verlag GmbH Atlantis Luzern Atlantis Verlag GmbH & Co Aula-Verlag GmbH Aulis Verlag Deubner und Co KG Aureal Publications Aurora GmbH Australasian Educational Press Pty. Ltd. Australasian Publishing Co. Australian Academy of Science Australian Broadcasting Corporation Australian Business Communication **Association** Australian Council for Educational Research Ltd. Australian Federation of Modern Language Australian Government Publishing Service Australian Mathematical Publishing Association, Inc. Australian Postgraduate Federation in Medicine Australian Professional Publications Australian Tax Research Foundation Australian War Memorial Avian Pathology, Ltd. **BC** Diffusion B C R Enterprises, Inc. PG Teubner GmbH B L V Verlagsgeselschaft mbH B McCall Barbour BNA, Inc. BT Batsford, Ltd. Bace Verlag Badenia Verlag & Druckerei Bacrenreiter Verlag Baetech Publishing Co. L.P. Bankers Publishing Co. Bardtenschlager Verlag GmbH Barker Publications, Itd. Barks Publications, Inc. Barry Rose Publishers, Ltd. Bartels & Wernitz Druckerei und Verlag Bartach Verlag KG Busil Blackwell, Ltd. Basis Verlag Baskerville Publishers, Ltd. **Battert Verlag** Bay Booka Ltd. Bayerische Verlagsanstalt Bayerischer Schulbuch-Verlag Baylor University Beaconsfield Publishers, Ltd. Bechtle Verlag Beech Tree Publishing Bell & Hyman, Ltd. Bell Laboratories Belser Verlag Benn Electronic Publishers, Ltd Benn Publications, Ltd. Berghouse Floyd Tuckey Publishing Bergmoser & Hoeller Verlag Bergverlag Rudolf Rother Berlin Verlag Bernhard Thalacker

Bertelsmann Fachzeitschriften GmbH Bertelsmann Fach- Gueter Beton-Verlag GmbH Betriebswirtschaftlicher Verlag Dr Th Gabler KG Beuth Verlag GmbH Bibliograph-Institut AG Bibliomed Med Verlags - mbH Biederstein Verlag Bill Communications **Biochemical Society** Biological Society of Pakistan Biometric Society Bionics Bioscience Ediprint, Inc. Bird Behaviour Press Birkhauser Boston, Inc. Birkhaeuser Verlag, FR Bit-Verlag Black Lightning Press Blackwell Scientific Publications, Inc. Blackwell Scientific Publications (Australia) Pty. Ltd. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Ltd., UK Blanvalet Verlag GmbH Bleicher Verlag GmbH & Co Bloodaxe Books, Ltd. Blubber Head Press Boehlau Verlag GmbH Bonifatius Druckerei GmbH Bonnkontakt Verlag Boobook Publications Pty. Ltd. Book Industry Study Group, Inc. Bordas/Dunod/Gauthier-Villars Bouvier Verlag Herbert Grundmann Bowley Publications, Ltd. Boxes & Arrows Inc. Boydell & Brewer, L 1. Bratt Inst fuer Neues Lern Breitkopf & Haertel Brezeni Pty. Ltd. British Antartic Survey British Cave Research Association British Film Institute British Geological Survey British Medical Association British Psychological Society British Society for the History of Science British Telecommunications Engineering Journal British Veterinary Association Broadcasting Publications, Inc. Brodie Publishing Broenner Verlag Breidenstein GmbH Brolga Books Pty. Ltd. Brookings Institute Brown, Boveri, Kent, Ltd. Bruderverlag Bruecken-Verlag GmbH Brunnen Verlag GmbH Brunswick Hills Press Buchhaendler-Vereinigung GmbH Bund Demokratischer Wissen Bund-Verlag GmbH Burckhardthaus-Laetare Verl Bureau of Business Research Bureau of National Affairs Bureau of Scientific Publications Business Communications Co., Inc. Business Publishers, Inc. Buske Verlag Hamburg Butterworth Publishers Butterworth Scientific, Ltd., UK Butterworths Pty. Ltd., Australia Button wood Farms, Inc.

C B-Verlag Carl Boldt C Bange Verlag GmbH & Co. KG C C Buchners Verlag CCH Australia Ltd. CEP Information Professions CF Mueller GmbH CF Mueller Jurist Verlag CH Becksche Verlagsbuchhandlung CIS Educational CITA International C Louis Bandy Publishing Co. CML, Inc. CM L Publications, UK CPS Communciations, Inc. CRCPress CSIRO CTE Publications, Inc. C V Mosby Co. CW Communications, Inc. C Winter Universit-Verlag CW Leske Verlag und Budrich C W Shilling Auditory Research Center Caan Verlag GmbH Cahners Magazine California Institute of International Studies California Management Review Calwer Verlag Cambridge Institute of Education Cambridge Medical Publishers, Ltd. Cambridge University Press Cambridge University Press, Australia Cambridge University Press, Ltd., UK Camera workers Press Campus Verlag GmbH Canadian Anaesthesists Society Canadian Chiropractic Association Canadian Medical Association Canadian Public Policy Canadian Society of Exploration Geophysicists Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists Cantena Verlag Capitol Publications Inc. Cappella Musikproduktion Carcanet Press, Ltd. Carfax Publishing Co. Carl Ed Schuenemann KG Carl Ernst Poeschel Verlag Carl Hanser Verlag Carl Heymanns Verlag KG Carl Link Verlag Carnegie Endowment for International Peace Carnegie Library of Pittsburgh Carroll's Publishing Carson & Comerford, Ltd. Carussell Verlag Casimir Katz Verlag Cassette Information Services Catena Verlag Cecilie Dressler Verlag Centaur Press, Ltd. Centaurus-Verlagsges mbH Center for Birth Defects Center for Christian Studies Center for Computer/Law Central Electrochemical Research Institute Centre d'Etudes de Documentation et de Recherches Centre for Independent Studies Centro de Estudios Postuniversitarios Chalkface Press Pty. Ltd. Chapman and Hall Chapter Three Publications Charles Griffin Inc., Ltd. Chatto & Windus/Hogarth



C A Starke Verlag

Chemical Institute of Canada Chevron Publishing Group Child's Play International, Ltd. Chilton Co. Chiron Verlag Chmielorz GmbH Christian Kaiser Verlag Christliche Verlagsanstalt Christliches Verlagshaus Christophoprus-Verlag GmbH Churchill Livingstone Inc. (New York) Churchill Livingstone, UK Church Society Claverton Down Bath Quinquereme Cleveland Clinic Educational Foundation Cleworth Publishing Co. Cliggot Publishing Co. Coast Publishing, Inc. Coastal Education & Research Foundation, Inc. Coastwise Communications Coghill Publishing Cognition Corp. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Colectivo de Estudios Poeticos Cole Publications Collegiate Microcomputer Colloquium Verlag Otto H Hess GmbH Columbia Journal of World Business, Columbia University Columbia University Press Comite van Beheer van hey Bulletin Commission on Professionals in Science & Technology Communications Channels, Inc. Communications Concepts Communications Publishing Group Communications Research Association Compass Publications, Inc. Comprehensive Guide, Ltd. Computer Educators, Inc. Computer Grafik Info Computerist, Inc. Computer Science Press, Inc. Computer World Communications Computing Technology Concours Medical Sarl Concrete Construction Publications, Inc. Confederation Nationale dea Syndicats Dentaires Conference of Educational Admin. Serving the Deaf & Con. of Am Instructors of the Deaf Congressional Quarterly, Inc. Constable Publishers Conway Data, Inc. Cooryco Media Pty. Ltd. Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. Copyright Society of the U.S.A. Cornell Hotel & Restaurant Administration Quarterly Cornelsen & Oxford Univ Press GmbH Cornelsen-Velhagen & Klasing Cornelson Ver Schwann-Girar Corporate Technology Information Services,

Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.
Copyright Society of the U.S.A.
Cornell Hotel & Restaurant Administration
Quarterly
Cornelsen & Oxford Univ Press GmbH
Cornelsen Velhagen & Klasing
Cornelsen Ver Schwann-Girar
Corporate Technology Information Services
Inc.
Costello (Publishing), Ltd.
Cote des Arts
Council of Graphological Soc.
Crafts Council
Craftsman's Press Pty. Ltd.
Crain Communications, Inc.
Crane Company — Engineering Division
Crane Russak & Co., Inc.
Croom Helm Australia Pty. Ltd., Australia

Croom Helm Ltd., U.K. Crop Science Society of the Philippines Culpepper and Associates, Inc. Currency Press Pty. Ltd. Curt R Vincentz Verlag Curzon Press, Ltd. Cutter Information Corp. D Meininger Verlag und Druckerei DPW Verlagsgesellschaft DR W-Verlag Weinbrenner-KG D Reidel Publishing Co. D W Thorpe Pty. Ltd. Dabill Publications Daedalus, American Academy of Arts and Sciences Daedalus Enterprises Daedalus Verlag Daerr Expeditions Service Dalloz Dana Chase Publications, Inc. Darling Downs Institute Press Darnell Research, Inc. D'artagnan Publishing Darton Longman and Todd Data Base Publications Data Becker Verlag GmbH Data Processing Digest, Inc. Data Processing Management Association Data Trace Chiropractic Publishers, Inc. David Boyce Publishing Deborah J. Mysiewicz Pub, Inc. Delbridge Publishing Co. Delp'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung KG Delphic Associates Delphin Verlag Delius, Klasing & Co. Delta Communications Demmig Verlag KG Demokrit-Verlag Der Deutsche Schreiner Verlag GmbH Der Jurist Verlagsgellschaft mbH Desktop Computing/C W Communications, Peterborough Deubner & Lange Verlag GmbH Deutsche Landwirtschraft-Gesellschaft Verlags-Gesellschaft-mbH Deutsche Rechtsprechung Verlags-Gesellschaft mbH und Co KG Deutsche Verlags-Anstalt Deutscher Apotheker-Verlag GmbH Deutscher Betriebswirte-Verlag Deutscher Fachschriften-Verlag Deutscher Gemeindeverlag Deutscher Katecheten Verein Deutscher Klassiker Verlag Deutscher Kunstverlag GmbH Deutscher Sparkassenverlag GmbH Deutscher Theaterverlag Deutscher Verkehrs-Verlag Deutscher Verlag für Kunstwissenschaft GmbH Deutscher Verlag für Schweisstechnik GmbH Deutsches Ueberesee Institut Dezsery Publications Pty. Ltd. Dialog-Verlag GmbH Diana Verlag AG Dietrich Reimer Verlag Digital Design Publishing Corp. Digital News Publishing Diogenes Verlag AG Dipa Verlag & Druck GmbH Directory Systems, Inc. Dirk Nishen Verlag in Kreuz

Doin Editeurs Domino Verlag G Brinek Gmbh Don Bosco Verlag Dorling Kindersley, Ltd. Doubleday Australia Pty. Ltd. Dovcom Nominees Pty. Ltd. Dr Alfred Huethig Verlag GmbH Dr Curt Haefner Verlag Dr Dietrich Steinkopf Verlag Dr Dobb's Journal Dr Ernst Hauswedell und Co. Dr Friedrich Pfeil Verlag Dr G O Okikiolu Dr Hans Peters Verlag Dr Heinrich Buchner Verlag Dr Josef Raabe & Co. Verlags Dr Ludwig Reichert Verlag Dr Peter Deubner GmbH Dr Reinhard Kaden Verlag Dr Rudolf Georgi GmbH & Co. Dr Rudolf Habelt Verlag Dr W Junk Publishers BV Dr Wolfram Hitzeroth Verlag Drei Brunnen Verlag Drew University Drilling Contractor Publishing, Inc. Droemersche Ver Th Knaur Droste Verlag GmbH Druck & Verlag Ernst Voeg el Druckerei & Ver August Lax Druckspiegel-Fachzeitschristen-VerlagsmbH Duke University Press Dun & Bradstreet Publishing Corp. Duncker & Humblot Dunod Gauthier-Villars Dushkin Publishing Group, Inc Dustri-Verlag Dr Karl Feistle Dyad Services Dyllansow Truran Dynamedia, Inc. E C Baumann KG E E P (Division of Reed Publishing) EF B-Verlags GmbH E J Brill GmbH E J Dwyer (Australia) Pty. Ltd. EMAP National Publications, Ltd. ENERCOM FSCOM Science Publishers B.V. ESF Editions E Schweitzerbart'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung EW Communications, Inc. Ebel-Doctorow Publications Ebner Verlag GmbH & Co. Echter Verlag GmbH Economic Geology Economist Newspaper Ltd. Economist (The) Edison Electric Institute Editio Cantor Edition Achteinhalb Edition Ausbild in Schule Edition Cordeliers Edition Nautilus Verlag Edition Sigma R Bohn Verlag Edition Text & Kritik GmbH Edition Venceremos Verlag **Editions Ampere** Editions Bailliere Editions de L'Epargne Editions de Medecine Practique Editions de Physique Editions du Medecine Generaliste Editions du Seuil Editions Francis Lefebvre Editions Frudictor



Dod's Parliamentary Companion, Ltd.

Editions Hatier Editiona J Editions Jibena-G H Publications Editions la Decouverte Editions la Simarre Editions Magnard **Editions Marc Bancquart Editions Pierron** Editions Similia Editions Techniques Editions Techniques Pour L'Automobile et L'Industrie Editions Tonua Editions V M Editorial Experts, Inc. Edizioni Riviste Scientifiche Educational Foundation for Nuclear Science Educational Supplies Pty. Ltd. Educology Research Associatea Edward Arnold (Australia) Pty. Ltd. Edward Arnold, Ltd. Ehlers Verlag GmbH Ehrenwirth Verlag GmbH Electrochemical Society of India Electronic Design, VNU Business Publishing Elefanten Press Verlag Elf Aquitaine Edition Ellia Horwood, Ltd. Elsevier Applied Science Pubs, Ltd., UK Elsevier Editions Scientifiques, France Elsevier International Bulletins, UK Elsevier Science Publishing Co. Elsevier Science Puba BV/Biomedical Division Netherlands Elsevier Science Puba Ireland Ltd., Ireland Elsevier Science Publishers/Phya Science & Engineer, of Division Elsevier Sequoia SA, Switzerland Elwin Staude Verlag Emma Frauen Verlag GmbH Employee Benefit Research Institute Endoscopia Energiewirtschaft & Technik Verlagsgesellschaft Energy Research Associatea Engineering Information, Inc. Ensslin & Laiblin GmbH Enterprise Moderne d'Edition Entomological Society of America Entropie Equal Employment Advisory Council Era Publications Erde International Eremiten-Presse Eres Edution Horst Schubert Erhard Friedrich Verlag Eric Schmidt Verlag Erich Wewel Verlag Zweigniederlassung der Verlag Erika Klopp Verlag GmbH Ernst Kabel Verlag GmbH Ernst Kaufman Ernst Klett Verlag Ernst Reinhardt GmbH Ernst und Werner Giescking, Ernst Waamuth Verlagsbuch Erwin Bochinsky Verlag Eugen G Leuze Verlag Eugen Salzer Verlag GmbH Eulenhof-Verlag Erhardt Heinold Europa-Fachpresse-Verlag GmbH Europa Union Verlag Europaeische Verlagsanstalt Eurostudy Publishing Co., Ltd. Evangelischer Presseverband für Baden e V Evangelischer Presseverband in Hessen **Evolutionary Trends in Plants** Excellence in Exercise Excerpta Medica, Inc. Executive Enterprises Publications Executive Health Report Exley Publications, Ltd. Expansion Scientifique Française Expert-Verlag GmbH Express Edition GmbH Extenda Productions, Inc. Exxon Co., U.S.A. Eyre & Spottiswoode Pub. Eyrolles F A Davis Co. F A Herbig Verlagsbuch FASEB (Federation of American Societiea for Experimental Biology) F-D-C Reports, Inc. F K Shattauer Verlag GmbH F N-Verlag der Deutschen Faber & Faber, Ltd. Fabula-Verlag mit Ver 3 & S Facht & Mercator Verl Wolf Fachy fuer Rev & Treuhand Fachverlag Oskar Ohler Fachverlag Schiele & Schon Fackeltraeger Verlag GmbH Facts on File Publications Fairfax Syme & Weldon Associates Fairmont Press, Inc. Falken-Verlag KG Family Health Publications Farrand Press Federation of Societies for Coatings Technology Feldhaua Verlag Felix Dietrich Verlag GmbH Felix Meiner Verlag Ferd Duemmler's Verlag Ferdinand Enke Verlag Ferdinand Schoeningh Fertilite-Sterilite-Contraception Fidula-Verlag GmbH Financial Services Information Co. Financial World Findlay Publicationa Ltd. Finishing Publications, Ltd. Fischer Taschenbuch Verlag GmbH Five Mile Press Flammarion Flannel Flower Presa Pty. Ltd. Flechsig Verlag Fleischhauer & Spohn Verlag Florida International University Floris Books Focus-Verlag GmbH Food Trade Press, Ltd. Forbes, Inc. Fordham University Press Forest Products Research Society Foreign Policy Research Institute Forge Books Foris Publications Forkel Verlag GmbH Fortschritte der Med Verlag Forum Press, Inc. Foundational Book, Ltd. Frances Pinter (Pubs), Ltd. Francke Bern Francke Verlag Franckhische Verlagshandu-Franke-Griksche, Ekkehard, und Gisela Frankfurter Fachverlag Franklin H. Martin Memorial Foundation Franklin Insight, Inc.

Franklin Watts Frankonius Verlag GmbH Franz Ehrenwirth Veralg Franz Schneekluth Verlag KG Franz Schneider Verlag Franz Steiner Verlag Weisbaden GmhH Franzis-Verlag Frech-Verlag GmbH & Co Free Association Books Fremantle Arts Centre Press Friedr Vieweg & Sohn, Verlagsgesellschaft mbH Friedrich Bahn Verlag GmbH Friedrich Frommann Verlag Friedrich Kiehl Verlag GmbH Friedrich Vieweg & Sohn Friedrich Wittig Verlag Fritz Knapp Verlag GmbH Fusion Energy Foundation Futura Publishing Co., Inc. G H Marshall G Henle Verlag G J Manz Verlag und Druckerei AG GMP Trends Inc. G & R Publications Gardner Publications, Inc. Gas Processors Report Gebr Mann Verlag GmbH & Co Gebruder Borntrager Verlag Genel Basin Yayin ve Tec, Ltd. Geo Abstracts, Ltd. Geographical Press, Ltd. Geographical Publications, Ltd. Geographical Society of Ireland Geological Association of Carada Geological Society Publishing House Georg Bitter Verlag KG Georg Siemens Verlagsbuch Georg Westermann Verlag George Allen & Unwin George Ronald Publisher George Thieme Verlag Geothermal World Publishers Gerald Loue Verlag Gerhard kautenberg Drucker Gernsback Publications, Inc. Geron-X Inc., Publishers Gert Wohlfarth GmbH Geyer-McAllister Publishers, Inc. Giesel Verlag fuer Publizitaet Giesserei-Verlag GmbH Gildefachverlag GmbH & Co KG Giselher Gollwitz Verlag Global Network Glock und Lutz Verlag Glycoconjugate Journal Aktierolag Godishen Zbornik Na Medicinsckiot Fakultet Vo Skopje Golden Press Pty. Ltd. Goldhirsh Group Goldstadt-Karl A Schaefer Grabert Verlag Graceway Publishing Company Graefe und Unzer GmbH Grafton Books Greenhouse Publications Pty. Ltd. Grosse Verlag GmbH Grosvenor Books Groupe Expansion Grund Grune & Stratton Grupo Editor S.R.L. Guenter Olzog Verlag GmbH Guilford Preus Gulf Publishing Co. Gunter Narr



Gustav Bosse Verlag Gustav Fischer Verlag Gustav Luebbe Verlag GmbH Gym- Mat- Luther Kirche HE I Publishing, Inc. HFL (Publishers), Ltd. H L L Publications H Th Wenner GmbH & Co. Hachette Hahnsche Buchhanbdlung Hal Publications Inc. Hale and Iremonger Hallwag Verlagsgesellschaft Hamlyn Publishing Handelsblatt GmbH Hanle / & Belfus, Inc. Hans-Alfred Herchen & Co. Hans-Bredow-Institut for Rundfunk und Fernschen am der Universitat Hamburg Hans Carl GmbH & Co KG Hans Christians Verlag Hans Marseille Verlag Haenssler-Verlag Harald Boldt Verlag Harcourt Brace Joyanovich Group (Australia) Pty. Ltd. Hargreen Publishing Co. Harker's Specialist Book Importers Harper & Row Publishers Inc/Medical Journals Division Harper & Row (A/Asia) Pty. Ltd. Harper's Magazine Foundation Hart Publications, Inc. Harvard Group (The) Hasler Ltd. Haude & Spensersche Verlags Haymarket Publishing LTD Health Administration Press/University of Michigan Health Care Communications Health Science Press Heckners Verlag Heinemann Educational Books, Inc. Heinemann Publishers (Australia) Pty. Ltd. Heinrich Ellermann Verlag Heinrich Schwab Verlag Heinrich Vogel Fachzeits Heironymus Verlag GmbH Heldermann Verlag Berlin Heldref Publications Helmut Daehmlow Verlag Hemisphere Publishing Corporation Her Majesty's Stationery Office Heraus-Wertpapier-Mitteil Herbert Wichmann Verlag Herd Hatje Kunst- & Archit Herder & Herder GmbH Hermann Bauer KG Hermann Luchterland Verlag Heron Publishing Hesperian Press Hestia-Verlag GmbH Hestra-Verlag Heyden & Son Ltd. Hill of Content Publishing Co. Pty. Ltd. Hippiatrika Verlags- GmbH Hippokrates Verlag GmbH Hippos Verlag Joachim Schilling KG Hirmer Verlag Hirschgraben-Verlag Hispanic Business, Inc. Histochemical Society, Inc. Hobby International Hoch-Verlag GmbH Hodder & Stoughten (Australia) Pty. Ltd.

Hodja Educational Resources Co-Operative Ľtd. Hoefling Verlag Dr V Mayer Hoernemann Verlag Hohenstaufen Verlag KG Hoke Communications Inc. Hollan & Josephans Verlag Holt-Atherton Pacific Center for Western Studies Home Study Video Hong Kong Psychological Society Horan Wall & Walker Horizon House-Microwave, Inc. Horst Deike Verlag Horst-Werner Dumjahn Verlag Horus Buchhandlung Horus-Versand Horwitz Grahame Books Pty. Ltd. Hospitality Press Pty. Ltd. Howard Publications Howard Rausch Associates, Inc. Hubertus-Verlag Hudson Hills Press Inc. Hudson Publishing Service Pty. Ltd. Huethig und Pflaum Verlag Hugo Graefe Verlag Hulton Educational Pub. Human Factors Society, Inc. **Human Sciences Press** Humana Press. Inc. Hutchinson Publishing Group, Ltd. Huthig & Wepf Verlag Hyland House Pty. Ltd. ICIWO. vzw I C Publications Ltd. I D W-Verlag GmbH IEEEInc. IEE Publishing Department IFS Publications, Ltd. I H Sauer-Verlag GmbH IM P Verlagsgesellschaft IPC Magazines, Ltd. IR L Press, Ltd. ISTA Mielke GmbH IT O M International Co. Ian Allan, Ltd. Ian Henry Publications, Ltd. Igiene e Sanita Publica Illuminating Engineering Society Imaging Systems Publications Imperial Society of Teachers of Dancing Imray Laurie Norie & Wilson, Ltd. Indian Society of Desert Technology Indian Society of Gastroeuterology Indiana University Folklore Institute Indiana University Mathematics Journal Industrial and Labor Relations Review Industrial Trade Journals, Ltd. Industrieverlag von Hernhaussen KG Infopro Systems Information Design Journal, Ltd. Information Intelligence, Inc. Information Store (The) Information Verlags-GmbH Inficienm, Inc. Infotechnology Publishing Corp. lnge-Maria von Hacht Verlag Inkata Press Pty. Ltd. Input Output Publishing Co. Insel Verlag Insight Magazine Institut de Documentation Jurdique et Fiscale Institut fuer Asienkunde Institut fuer Intl Archit-Dok Institut Wohnen & Umwelt GmbH

Institut zur Entwicklung Modern Institute for Econometric Research Institute for Fiscal Studies Institute for International Economics Institute for Invention & Innovation Institute for Scientific Information Institute of Chemical Engineers Institute of Environmental Sciences Institute of Food Science & Technology Institute of Industrial Engineers Institute of Internal Auditors Institute of Management Sciences Institute of Mathematical Statistica Institute of Navigation Institute of Noise Control Engineering, Auburn Unversity Institute of Physics Institute of Real Estate Management Institution of Electronic & Radio Engineers Instrument Society of America Inter-Varsity Press Intercept, Ltd. Intercontinental Marketing KK Interests, Ltd. Intermediate Technology Publishers International 99/4 Users-Group International Academy at Santa Barbara International Academy of Nutrition and Preventive Medicine International Association for Dental Research International Centre for Diarrhoeal Diseases Research International Economic Review International Executive Reports International Facility Management Association International Journal of Government Auditing International Publishing Corp. International Scientific and Management Publications/RMC, Ltd. International Scientific Publicationa International Thomson Publishing Ltd. International Union of Crystallography Intertec Communications Intertec Publishing Corp. Intratech Communications Iowa Communication Association Iowa State University Press Iris Publishing Co. Pty. Ltd. Israel Physical Society Israel Science Publishers, Ltd. Iudicum Verlag Ivan Corbett Publishing JAAD Publishing J B Bachem Verlag GmbH J B Bailliere et Fils J B Lippincott Co. J B Metzlersche Verlags J C B Mohr Verlag J C L AlJournal of Comparative Literature and Aesthetics J D Sauerlaender's Verlag J Fink-Kuemmerly & Frey J G Oncken Nachf (Kassel) J G Oncken Nachf (Wuppert) J H Haynes & Co. Ltd. J Lindauer Verlag J M Dent & Sons, Ltd., U.K. J M Dent (Australia) Pty. Ltd. J P Peter Gebruder Holstein J R Merrick J R Prous S A J R Research Services J Schweitzer Verlag



J Whitaker & Sons, Ltd. Jabiru Press, Pty. Ltd. Jacaranda Wiley Ltd. Jacques Carre S A R L James Nicholas Publishers James Nisbet & Co., Ltd. Jane's Publishing Co., Ltd. Janet Sloane Japan Institute of Heterocyclic Chemistry Japan Snake Institute Jedko Gamea Pty. Ltd. Joachim Beyer Verlag Joachim Hempel Jobst Institute, Inc. Joh Heider Druckerei und Verlag GmbH Johann Heider Verlag Johann Michael Sailer Verlag Johannes Stauda Verlag John Bartholomew & Sons John Blanch Publishing Pty. Ltd. John Calder (Publishers), Ltd. John Ferguson Pty. Ltd. John G Delinassios John Goodchild Publishers John Kerr Pty. Ltd. John Murray Publishers, Ltd. John S Herold Inc. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. John Wright & Sons Ltd. Johns Hopkins University Press Jonas Verlag fuer Kunst & Lit Jonathan Cape, Ltd. Josef Keller Verlag Journal des Notaires et Des Avocats Journal of Advertising, College of Commerce and Industry Journal of Business Forecasting Journal of Chemical Education Journal of Consumer Research, University of California Journal of Drug Issues, Inc. Journal of Endocrinology, Ltd. Journal of English Linguistics Journal of International Affairs, Columbia University Journal of Management, Texas Tech University Journal of Reproductive Medicine Journal of Social History Journal of Systems Management Journals of Reproduction & Fertility, Ltd. Journeyman Press, Ltd. Juliua Groos Verlag Julius Hoffman Verlag Juliua Klinkhardt Verlags Juniua Verlag GmbH Jupiter/Editions Juridiques Associees Juventa Verlag K G Saur Verlag KG K Thienemanns Verlag GmbH Kalikasan Philippine Journal of Biology Kalpana Corp. Kangaroo Press (Australia) Pty. Ltd. Karl F. Haug Verlag GmbH Karl H Henssel Verlag Karl Mildenberger Lehrmit Karl Rauch Verlag GmbH Karl Robert Langewiesche Karl Wachholtz Verlag Katzmann Verlag KG Kaynar GmbH Kehrer Verlag KG Keller International Publishing Corp. Kenneth Mason Publishers, Ltd. Kent State University Press

Kevin Weldon & Associates Pty. Ltd. Key Communications Group Kiepenheuer & Witsch Kindler Verlag GmbH Kingsway Publications, Ltd. Kirchheim & Co. GmbH Kirschbaum Verlag Kiess GmbH Agent & Verlag Klariest Verlage mbH Klasing & Co. Klaus Boer Verlag Klaus Dieter Vervuert Verlag Klaus Guhl Verlag Klett-Cotta Verlag Klinkhardt & Biermann Verlag Klosterhaus-Verlag Kluwer Academic Publishers Kluwer Law and Taxation Publishers, Netherlands Kluwer Publishing Ltd., UK Knowledge Industry Publications Koesel-Verlag GmbH & Co. Koffler G. oup (The) Kogan Page, Ltd. Kommentator Verlag Niederlassung der Kluwer Verlagsgruppe GmbH Kommunal-Verlag GmbH Kommunalschriften-Verlag Jehle Konkordia Verlag GmbH Konrad Theiss Verlag Konradin Industrie Konradin Fachzeitschriften Konradin-Verlag Robert Kohlhammer Korean Society of Animal Sciences Krafthand Verlag Walter Schulz Kreuz-Verlag Kriminalistik-Verlag GmbH Kubon-Sagner Kunstatoff-Verlag Giesel-Verlag GmbH Kunstverlag Weingarten GmbH Kursbuch Verlag Kurt Nane Juergensen Verlag Kurt Schreoder Ohg LT U-Vetriebsgesellschaft La Fleur-Verlag Laaber-Verlag Laal Companies Laboratory of Comparative Human Cognition, University of California San Diego Lacy Institute (The) Lady (The) Lahn Verlag GmbH Laidlaw Brothers Publishers Lake Publishing Corp. Lambert Schneider GmbH Lammare Poinat Lamuv Verlag Lamy S A Lana & Ernst Kuhn Landbuch-Verlagsgesellschaft mbH Landscape Landwirtschafsverlag Lange Verlag GmbH & Co. KG Langen Mueller Langewiesche-Brandt KG Laser Verlag Vis-a-Vis Lasers & Optronics Laux Co., Inc. La Villeguerin Editions Lavoisier Abonnements Law & Technology Press Law Institute of Victoria Lawler Communciations Co., Inc. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc. Leaf Coppin Publishing, Ltd.

Learned Information Leeds Philosophical & Literary Society Leicester University Press Leros Press Leske Verlag & Budrich GmbH Leuchtturm Verlag Zebisch Lexington Books Libra Books Librairie Arnette Librairie Fernand Nathan Librairie Generale de Droit et de Jurisprudence/ Editions Juridiques Associees Librairie Larousse Library of Australian History Lightbulb (The) Limes Verlag Limpert Verlag GmbH Linstok Press, Inc. Lippincott & Peto Inc. Litarvan Literature Little Brown & Co. Little Hills Press Liverpool University Press Lloyd-Luke (Medical Books), Ltd. Lobrecht Verlag Max Rauscher Locke Science Publishing Co. Loewes Verlag F Carl GmbH Log Home & Alternative Housing Builders Magazine Longman Cheshire Pty. Ltd. Longman Group Ltd., Books Division, UK Longman Group Professional Reference & Information Div. J, UK Lothar Stiehm Verlag GmbH Lothian Publishing Co. Pty. Ltd. Lotus Publishing Corporation Louisiana State University Press Ludwig Auer Verlag Lutheran Publishing House Lutherisches Versigshaus M & A Verlag Fur Messen Ausstellungen und Kongresse M B R Press, Inc. M C B University Press _td. M C M Publishing, Ltd. MIT Press, Journals Department M LR Publishing (The Hay Group) M M V Medizin Verlag (GmbH) MTP Press, Lad. M W J Publishing Group MacDonald & Evans, Ltd. Maclean Hunter Publishing Co. Macmillan Company of Australia Pty. Ltd. Macmillan Journals, Ltd. MacNair-Dorland Co. Macor Publishing Co. Magna Publications, Inc. Mai Verlag GmbH & Co Maks-Publikationen Malcolm Stewart Books, Ltd. Maloines S.A. Editeur Manchester University Press Mandala Verlag Peter Meyer Mai. all Publishing, Ltd. Manthano-Verlag Manufacturing Productivity Center, IIT Center Marcel Dekker Inc. Marcol Publications Marine Technology Society Market Street Press Marketing Intelligence Service, Ltd. Markt & Technik Verlag AG Maro Verlag & Druck Martinus Nijhoff Publishers



Marxistische Blaetter GmbH Mary Glasgow Publishers Massachuretta Medical Society (New England Journal of Medicine) Masson Materials Research Society Mathematical Association of America Matthias-Gruenewald-Verlag Matthiesen Verlag I Paulsen Mauritius-Verlags-, Messe- und Werbe-Gesellschaft mbH Max Colwell Publications Max Hueber Verlag Max Niemeyer Verlag Max Rein Verlag Max Schmidt-Roemhild Verlag McCrone Research Institute McCulloch Publishing Pty. Ltd. McGraw Hill Book Company, Australia Pty. Led. McGraw-Hill Inc. - Magazines McPhee Gribble Publishers Mead Ventures Inc. Mechanical Engineering Pubs, Ltd. Meckler Corporation Medecine du Sport Medica Press Medizinisch-Literarische Verlagsgesellschaft Meisenbach GmbH Meister Publishing Co. Melbourne University Press Melliand Textilberichte KG MelNic Press, Inc. Melville F. Spindle, Jr. Menard Press Menninger Foundation Mercian Publications, Ltd. Merlin Press, Ltd. Merlin Verlag A Meyer Verl Merrow Publishing Co., Ltd. Mervyn Peake Review Metal Bulletin PLC Metall-Verlag Metallurgical Society (The) Miba-Verlag Werner Walter Weinstotter Michael Hesemann Michael Montague Cannon Michael Mueller Verlag Michael Proegel Paedagogische Verlagsanstalt Michigan Association of Osteopathic Physicians and Surgeons Inc. Michigan Entomological Society (Michigan State University) Microcomputing/C W Communications, Peterborough Micropaleontology Press Mid-America American Studies Association Midland Counties Pub. (Aerophile), Ltd. Miller Freeman Publications, Inc. Mineralogical Society of America Minerva Publikation Saur Mining Journal, Ltd. Montchrestien/Editions Juridiques Associees Moorland Publishing Co., Ltd. Moreton Bay Publishing Moretus Press, Inc. Morgan-Grampian PLC Mountain Spring Press Mouton de Gruyter

Multiscience Publications, Ltd. Munksgaard International Publishers, Ltd. Musicological Society of Australia Muster-Schmidt Verlag N G Elwert-Verlag N S W University Press Nachrichten-Verlags-GmbH National Association of Accountanta National Association of Business Economists National Association of Corrosion Engineers National Christian Education Council National Council for US-China Trade National Extension College National Federation of Christian Life Communities National Forum Journals National Lubricating Grease Institute National Magazine Co., Ltd. National Pasta Association National Reprographic Center for Documentation National Research Bureau, Inc. National Trust for Historic Preservation Nation's Business Nautilus/Nemo Press Navarre/Editions Juridiques Associees Navigator Publishing Corp. Neckar-Verlag Herbert Holtzhauser Neue GildefachVerlag GmbH & Co KG Neue Wirtschafts-Briefe Neukirchener Verlag GmbH Neuland-Verlagsgesellschaft Neuroptera International Neville Spearman, Ltd. New Era Books & Records New Directions for Women, Inc. New Directions Publications, Inc. New England Publishing Group, Inc. New Era Books & Records New Media Publishing New York Botanical Garden Newsletter Management Corp. Nicolai'sche Verlagsbuch Night Owl Publishers Nitasha Publications Nitz Verlag No Till Farmer, Inc. Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft North Oxford Academic Publishing Ltd. North Stirling Press Northeastern Science Foundation Nouvel Economiste Nouvelle Editions Fiduciaires Noyes Publications Nymphenburger Verlags- GmbH OTC Research Corp. OTC Review, Inc. Oase Verlag Obst & Gartenbauverlag Octagon Press, Ltd. Ohio State University Press Oil Daily Company Oildom Publishing Co. Okikiolu Scientific & Industrial Company Oldmeadow Booksellers (Australia) Pty. Ltd. Old Northwest Omnibus Books Omnibus Press Online, Inc. Open Apple Operations Research Society of America Optical Society of America Orell-Fuessli Verlag Organ L Bau Organischer Landbau Verlag

Organizational Ethics Newsletter Orion Publications Orlando Press Pty. Ltd. Otto Harrassowitz Verlag Otto Heinevetter Verlag Otto Sagner Verlag Otto Wilhelm Barth-Verlag Outdoor Press Owen Martin Publications Pty. Ltd. Oxford University Press Oxford University Press, Australia Oxford Unviersity Press, UK P D V Hannover P D V Sachbuchverlag GmbH PJD Publications, Ltd. P Keppler Verlag GmbH und Co KG P MS Industries, Inc. PR & Brancheninfodienst PRAPress PYCEdition Faedagogischer Verlag Burgbucherei Schneider Paedagogischer Verlag Schwann-Bagel GmbH Paedagogisches Buero Renate Paedex-Verlagsgesellschaft-GmbH Pageant Publishing Pahl-Rugenstein Verlag Pakistan Society of Otolaryngology Palmer Publications, Inc. Pan Books Pan Books (Australia) Pty. Ltd. Pan News Pty. Ltd. Panaf Books, Ltd. Panama Productions Pannonia-Verlag Panorama Books Paper Industry Management Association Parliamentary Research Services Pascoe Publishing Pty. Ltd. Pasha Publications, Inc. Passavia Druckerie AG Paternoster Press Limited, (The) Patmos Verlag GmbH Patrick Stephens, Ltd. Paul CR Arends Verlag Paul Hancke Fachverlag Paul List Verlag GmbH & Co Paulinus Verlag Pemberton Press, Inc. Pendragon-Verlag G Butkus Penguin Books Australia Ltd. Penguin Books, Ltd. Pennwell Publishing Co. Pennsylvania State University Press Penton Publishing Inc. Publishing Division Pergamon Press (Australia) Pty. Ltd. Pergamon Press, Inc. Periodica Personalist Forum (The) Personnel Psychology, Inc. Peter Hammer Verlag Peter Hanstein GmbH Peter Hohl Verlag Peter Isaacson Publications Pty. Ltd. Peter Kirchheim Verlag Peter Lang Verlag AG Peter Lang Verlag GmbH Peter Peregrinus, Ltd. Peter-Rump-Verlag Petroleum Analysis, Ltd. Prassemeiler Presse Herta Phaidon Press Ltd. Pharmacotherapy Publications Inc. Pharmedtax Verlage mbH Phoenix Publishing Co. Pty. Ltd.

•



Moving Into Maths Pty. Ltd.

Muenster- Arbeit- fuer Semi

Muller & Kiepenheuer Verlag

Multi-Science Publishing Co., Ltd.

Phoenix Publications Brisbane Philip Alan Publishers, Ltd. Phillips Publishing Inc. Philosophia Verlag PhotoSource International Physiologica Plantarum Pick Publications, Inc. Pinedale Press Pitman Publishing, Ltd. Pitman Publishing Pty. Ltd. Planning Forum Plastics and Rubber Institute Plenum Publishing Corp. Ploetz GmbH & Co KG Verlag Pluto Press Point Foundation Point Publishing Co. Point Veterinaire Polaris Publications Polygraph-Veralg GmbH Polymer Research Association Press Population Investigation Committee Possev-Verlag Postskriptum Verlags GmbH Posy Publications Preaching Resources, Inc. Fiedicasts, Inc. Premier Publications Prentice Hall of Australia Pty Ltd. Presse de la Foundation Nationale des Sciences Politique Presse Informations Agentur GmbH Presse Universitaires France Pressever Bert Schnitzler Prestel Verlag Price Milburn & Company Ltd Primary Sources Primavera Press Princeton Scientific Publishing Co., Inc. Princeton University Fress Prisma Verlag GmbH Productivity, Inc.
Professional Training Associates Inc. Profil Verlag GmbH Prometh Verlag GmbH & Co. KG Promotion Presse Internationale Prospect Publishing Provesa-Verlag Psychiatrie-Verlag GmbH Psychological Record Psychonomic Society, Inc. Psy-Ed Corporation **Publicare** Publications Albert Patin Publications Medicales Internationales Publisher Services, Inc. Pudvan Publishing Co. QE D Information Sciences, Inc. Quality Medical Publishing, Inc. Quarterly of Applied Mathematics, Brown University Que Corporation Quelle und Meyer Verlag GmbH Quintessence Publishing Co., Inc. R Brockhaua Verlag R D Martin Pty. Ltd. R H Chandler, Ltd. RK L-Lehrmittel GmbH R Oldenbourg Verlag R v Decker's Verlag G Schenck GmbH Radio Resource Co. Radius Verlag Rainbird Publishing Rainer Hampp Verlag

Raven Press Ltd. Rat Publishing Real Estate Digest Reedbooks, Ltd. Reed Business Publishing Ltd. (EEP Division) Regio Verlag Glock & Lutz Rehabilitations-Verlag GmbH Rembrandt-Verlag GmbH Research Studies Press Resources Resources for the Future Retz Revue de Jurisprudence Commerciale Revue Generale d'Electricite Rhein-Eifel-Mosel-Verlag Rheinisch-Bergische Druckerei- und Verlagagesellschaft Rheinland-Verlag GmbH Rheinverlag Richard Boorberg Verlag Richard Pflaum Verlag Richmond Publishing Co. Rigby Education Ringier Verlag GmbH Rita G Fischer Verlag Rivendell Foundation, Inc. River Scine Press River Scine Publications Robert Andersen and Associates Robert Brown & Associates Pty. Ltd. Robert Pfutzner GmbH Robert Scott Milne Robert Sessions Publishers Pty. Ltd. Robotics Publications Rockefeller University Press Rodale Press, Inc. Rosenheimer Verlagshaus Rosgarten Verlag GmbH Rotbuch Verlag Rothchild Consultants Rothmans Publications Routledge & Kegan Paul, Ltd. Rowohlt Taschenbuch Verlag Rowohlt Verlag GmbH Roy W Walters and Associates Inc. Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Royal Australian Ornithologists Union Royal College of Pathologists of Australia Royal Dutch Geographical Society KNAG Royal Geological & Mining Society of the Netherlands Royal Institute of Public Administration Royal Swedish Academy of Science Rudof Habelt Verlag GmbH Rudolf Schneider Verlag Runzheimer and Co., Inc. Rustra Verlag SAMPE S D V Saarbruecker Drucker S Fischer Verlag GmbH S Hirzel Verlag SIGS Publications, Inc. S Karger AG SOCIDOC/BIP SOPROGESSA S P Verlag N Schueren GmbH S Roderer Verlag ST Publications S V K-Verlag GmbH Sage Publications, Inc. Salamander Books Ltd. Sakoga Pty. Ltd. Sauer Private Reference Library

Scandinavian Journal of Work Environment & Health Scaneg Verlag Scanning Microscopy International Schaeuble Verlag Scherz Verlag GmbH Schluetersche Verlagsunstalt und Druckerei Schlumberger Technology Corp. Schnell Publishing Co., Inc. Scholastic Publications (Magazines) Ltd. Schroedel Schulbuchverlag Schwaneberger Verlag Science Editors, Inc. Science History Publications, Ltd. Science of Life Books Science Printers & Publishers, Inc. Scientific Am. rican, Inc. Scientific Research Society (Sigma XI) Scientific & Technical Press, Ltd. Scolar Press Scottish Academic Press Scranton Gillette Communications, Inc. Scribe Pty. Ltd. Scripta Technica, Inc. Scriptor Verlag GmbH Second Back Row Press Pty. Ltd. Sckretaerinnen-Verlag Selecta-Verlag Sellier Verlag GmbH Seminars in Dialysis Sepaic Seth Gregory Enterprises Pty. Ltd Sewance Review, University of the South Sheffield University (SUBIS) Shepherd-Walwyn Publishers Shillington House Shire Publications Sidgwick and Jackson, Ltd. Siebert & Englebert Dessart Siemens AG Siemens Aktiengesellschaft Sigs Publications Sigert Veriag GmbH Silberhurg-Verlag Simmons-Boardman Publishing Corp. Singuer Associates, Inc. Sirco International Sirey Sixteenth Century Journal, Northeast Missouri State University Sky Publishing Corp. Slack Inc. Sloan Management Review Association Smart's Societa Italiana di Fisica Societe d'Edition de Publications Medicales Societe d'Editons Scientifiques Societe d'Editions et de Publicites **Professionnelles** Societe d'Expansion Teci, sique et Economique Societe d'Exploitation de la Gazette Medicale de Frame Societe d'Information Economique et Financiere Societe d'Informations Agricoles et Commerciales (SIAC) Soceite de Presse et de Publications Specialisees Societe de Publications Specialisees Societe Europeene d'Edition Scientisique Societe Francaise d'Editions Medicales Societe Française de Microscopie Electronique Societe Française de Publications Angeiologiques



Randolph Press

Randin Lengths Publications, Inc.

Societe Generale de Presse Societe Nationale Elf-Aquitaine Society for Advancement of Electrochemical Science and Technology Society for Advancement of Management. Inc. Society for Applied Spectroscopy Society for Computer Simulation Society for Economic Analysis, Ltd. Society for Experimental Mechanics Society for Health Systems Society for Induririal and Applied Math Society for Ind. trial Microbiology Society for Information Display Society for Psychical Research Society for Research into Higher Education Society for Scholarly Publishing Society for the Advancement of Electrochemical Science & Technology Society for Theatre Research Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc. Society of Cosmetic Chemists Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Society of Exploration Geophysicists Society of Hospital Pharmacista Society of Logistics Engineers Society of Manufacturing Engineers Society of Petroleum Engineers Society of Photographic Science & Engineering Society of Plastics Engineers, Inc. Society of Toxicology Sociological Forum Sode par Soft Images South African Institute of Mining & Metallurgy Southern Cross Education Division Southwest Review Souvenir Press, Ltd. Spectra-Lehrmittel Verlag Spee-Buchverlag Spindle wood Spencer International Enterprises Spokesman Springer Publishing Springer-Verlag New York, Inc. Springhouse Corp. St. George Books St. Louis Journalism Review St. Luke's Press St. Martin's Press Stanford Resources, Inc. Stanley Thornes (Pub.), Ltd. Stattbuch Verlag GmbH Stephanie Naglachmid Stockmann Buchverlag KG Stollfuss Verlag Bonn Stonemoss Services Stony Brook Foundation, State University of New York Strategic Corp Studienveri Dr N Brockmeyer Success Magazine Co. Sueddeutscher Paedagog Verlag Suedwest Verlag GmbH & Co Suedwestdeutsche Verlagsanstalt GmbH & Co KG Suhrkamp-Verlag KG Sutton Publishing Co., Inc. Sutton-Siebert Publications, Ltd. Swets & Zeitlinger b.v. Swiss Chemical Society Sybex Verlag GmbH

Symposium on Computer Applications in Medical Care Syndikat Authoren- & Verlage Systems Educational Assoc., Inc. T & A D Poyser, Ltd. TA&PRRoberta TPR Publishing Co., Inc. T R Verlageunion Tablet Publications Co., Ltd. TAPPI Tarquin Publications Tax Analysts Taylor & Francis, Ltd. Tayloria Fachverlag Stiegler Teaching Philosophy Association, Inc. Techn Tran Consultants, Inc. Technical Analysis, Inc. Technical Insights Inc. Technical Press Technical Publications, Inc. Techniques de L'Ingenieur Sarl Technischer Verlag Resch Technology Conferences Technomic Publishing Co., Inc. Ted Barkus Co., Inc. Telephony Publishing Corp. Terra-Verlag Tertiary Oil Recovery Project, University of Kansss Tesseloff Verlag Tetzlaff Verlag GmbH Teviot-Kimpton Publications Textile Research Institute Thales Verlag Thames & Hudson (Australia) Pty. Ltd. Therapeutic Research Press Thermochemicstry Inc. Thermodynamics Research Center Thesen Verlag Vowinckel Thierae Medical Publishers, Inc. Thiemig K Third World Foundation Thomas Nelson (Australia) Ltd. Thomas Nelson and Sons, Ltd. Thomas Telford Ltd. Tiger Publications Tileprint Ltd. Times Mirror Magazines, Inc. Tissue Culture Association Today & Tomorrow's Printers & Publishers Tomas Verlag GmbH Topographikon Ver R Mueller Trade Data Reports, Inc. Traffic Service Corp. Transaction Periodicals Con ortium, Rutgers University Transit Buchverlag A E & K Trautvetter & Fischer Nf Travel Trends Publishing, Inc. Tribune Medicale Tuduv Verlagsgesellschaft Turton & Armstrong Twelvetrees Publishing Company U.Form-Verlag H Ullrich URJA U.S. Law Library Alert, Inc. Ulrich Steiner-Verlag Umschau Verlag Breidenstein United Communications Group Universal Press Pty. Ltd. Universita Degli Studi di Firenze Universitaetsverlag Konstanz GmbH Universities Federation for Animal Welfare University of Akron Business and Economic Review

University of Al. bama Press University of Baltimore University of California Press University of Chicago Press University of Illinois Press Unrersity of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign University of Lund, Department of Animal Ecology University of Minnesota Press University of Missouri University of North Carolina Press University of Notre Dame Press University of Pittsburgh Press University of Texas Press University of Toronto Press University of Western Australia Press University of Wisconsin Press University Press of New England University Tutorial Press Unsere Arbeit Verlagsgea Unwin Hyman Update Publicare Co. Urban & Schwarzenberg Verlag Urban & Vogel V B U-Verlag V C H Publishers, Inc. V D E-Verlag GmbH V D I-Verlag Gmbh V V-Gmbh Volkswirtschaftlicher Verlag V W P Verl Wissen & Praxis Van Nostrand Reinhold Co. Van Nostrand Reinhold Co., Ltd. Vandenhoeck und Ruprecht Vas-Verlag fuer Ausbildung Velber Verlag GmbH Verein Nordfriesisches Institut e V Vereinigte Fachverlage Krausskopf-Ingenieur Digest GmbH Vereinigte Motor-Verlag Verlag A Bernecker Verlag Aare Verlag Anton Hain Meisenheim Verlag Anton Pusiet Muenchen Verlag Arbeiter- & Gesell Verlag Architektur & Baudetail Gmbl: Yerlag Aurel Bongers KG Verlag Barbara Franzbecker Verlag Bernh Friedr Veigt Verlag Beste Unternehmensfuehrung Verlag Brigitte Test Verlag CILIP Verlag C W Niemeyer GmbH Verlag Christian M Silinsky Verlag Christian Weise Verlag Deitrich Schneider-Henn Verlag der Deutscher Apotheker Verlat der eV Luth Mission Verlag der H1 Hiob von Pocaev Verlag der Zeitschrift für Naturforschung Verlag Deutsche Polizie GmbH Verlag Diagnosen Verlag Dietrich Pfachler Verlag Dietrich Schneiderhenn Verlag Dr Albert Bartens Verlag Dr Felix Buechner Verlag Dr Hartmut Jungjohann Verlag Dr Joh Koenigshi vaen Verlag Dr Max Gehlen GmbH und Co. KG Verlag Dr Otto Schmidt Verlag Dr Rudolf Georgi GmbH und Co. KG Verlag & Druckerei-Meininger GmbH Verlag Duerrsche Buchhand Verlag Engelbert Dessart Verlag Erns, and Werner Gieseking Verlag Eugen Ulmer Verlag Europa-Lehrmittel



Sycamore Press, Ltd.

Verlag F A Brockhause Veriag F Bruckmann KG Verlag Ferdinand Schoeningh Verlag Frauenoffensive Verlag Friedrich Pfeil Verlag Friedrich Pustet Verlag Freies Gesitesleben GmbH Verlag fuer Amerikanistik Verlag fuer Christlich-Islam Verlag fuer Deutsche GmbH Verlag fuer Mod Lernmethoden Verlag fuer Poliz Fachschrift Verlag fuer Tech & Handwerk Verlag fur Aufbereitung Verlag für Chemische Industrie H Ziolkowaky Verlag fur Internationale Politik GmbH Verlag für Medizin Dr Ewald Fischer Technik GmbH und Co. Verlag Georg D. W. Callwey Verlag Georg Olms

Verlag fur Wissenschaft, Wirtschaft und Verlag Gerhard Rautenberg Druckerie und Verlag Verlag Glueckauf GmbH Verlag GmbH Hoeller & Zwick Verlag Goecke und Evers Verlag Guenther Neaks Verlag H Luehr Verlag Haag & Herchen GmbH Verlag Handwerk & Technik Verlag Hans Carl KG Verlag Hans Dieter Mummendey Verlag Hann Richarz Verlag Heimich Voegl Fachzeitschristen GmbH Verlag Helmut Richardi GmbH Verlag Herder GmbH & Co KG Verlag Hoffman & Campe Verlag Horst Deike Verlag Ingrid Czwalina Verlag J F Schreiber Verlag J G Oncken Nachf Verlag J H W Dietz Nachf Verlag J Knecht Verlag Juliua Beltz Verlag Karl Alber GmbH Verlag Karl Hofmann Verlag Konrad Wittwer KG Verlag Lambert Lensing GmbH Verlag M und H Schaper Verlag Mensch & Arbeit Verlag Michael Hesemann Verlag Michael Lassleben Verlag Moderne Verlags Verlag Modernes Lernen Verlag Mcritz Diesterweg Verlag Neue Gesellschaft Verlag Neue Kritik KG Verlag Neue Stadt GmbH Verlag Neue Wirtschafts-Briefe Verlag Nikolaus Mielke Verlag Normann Rentrop Verlag Otto Harrassowitz Verlag Passavia Verlag Paul Parey

Verlag Philipp Reclam Junior

Veralg Reckinger & Co KG

Verlag Reinhard Fischer

Verlag Rolf Gremmer

Verlag Sigrid Person Verlag Simon & Magiera KG

Verlag Theo Schuster

Verlag Stahleisen

Verlag Piper & Co

Verlag Ullstein GmbH Verlag Urachhau a Verlag Valentin Koerner GmbH Verlag Volker Spiesa Verlag W Kohlhammer GmbH Verlag W W T GmbH & Co KG Verlag Walter E Keller Verlag Weltarchiv GmbH Verlag Wirtschaftskriminalitaett Verlag Wissenschaft & Politik Verlag Wort & Bild R Becker Verlags- A G die Arche Verlags. Rudolf Mueller Verlags- und Wirtschafagesellschaft der Elektirzitaeswerke GmbH

Verlags- W P Sachon KG Verlagsanstalt Alexander Koch Verlagsbuch- Carl Marhold Verlagsbuch-Werner Dausien Verlagsgesellschaft Recht und Wirtschaft Verlagsgesellschaft Schulfernsehen Vermont College of Norwich University Versuchs & Lehranst Veterinary Medicine Publishing Co. Victimology, Inc. Victor Gollancz, Ltd.

Victorian Medical Postgraduate Foundation Association Victorian National Parks Association Inc. Video Barter Video Marketing Virago Press Ltd.

Visible Language, Cleveland Museum of Art Vito von Eichborn GmbH

Vittorio Klostermann Vogel-Verlag KG Vogt-Schild AG Druck Und Verlag

Volkswirtschaft Verlag GmbH Voltaire Foundation Vorgaenge

Vulkan Verlag Dr H Classen Vulkan-Verlag Dr W Classen W B Saunders Co

W Bertelsmann Verlag KG W D Okrafo-Smart & Co WE C Publications W Girardet Fachzeit-Verlag W Ludwig Verlag KG W&R Chambers, Ltd. WRS Verlag

W Sachon GmbH & Co Wakefield Press Wakeman/Walworth, Inc. Walker's Manual, Inc. Walrus Books Australia Walter Braun Verlag Walter De Gruyter & Co Walter Haedeck Verlag

Walter Rau Verlag GmbH & Co Walter Stutz Verlag Walthamstow Antiquarian

Ward's Communications, Lic. Warner Booka, Inc.

Warner Books-Mysterious Press Warren Gorham & Lamont, Inc.

Washington Business Information, Inc. Washington Monitor, Inc.

Washington Regulatory Reporting

Association Water Pollution Control Federation Watermark Press

Wayland (Publishers) Weber Systems, Inc. Weidmannsche Verlagsbuch Wela Publishing, Ltd.

Welsh Arts Council

Weltkreis-Buecher im Pahl-Werk Verlag Dr Banaschewski Werk-Verlag Dr Edmund Ecnaschewskf Werkschriften-Verlag GmbH Werner Publishing Co., Ltd. Wener'sche Verlagsges mbH Werner-Verlag GmbH Wertpapier-Mitteilungen West Coast Review West World Productions Westdeutsche Verlagsanstalt GmbH Westdeutscher Verlag GmbH Western Publishing Company, Inc. Western Specialty Publications Westholsteinische Verlags Wheldon & Wesley, Ltd. White Eagle Publishing Trust Whitehall Press Whiting & Birch, Ltd. Wichern-Verlag GmbH Wils Verlag für Wirtschaftswerbung Wils Verlag Wilhelm Lampl Wild & Woolley Pty. Ltd. Wilhelm Fink Verlag Wilhelm Goldmann Verlag Wilhelm Hagemann Lehrmittel Wilhelm Heyne Verlag Wilhelm Schmitz Verlag William Alanson White Institute William Brooks & Co. Ltd. William Collins Pty. Ltd. William Collins Sons & Co., Ltd. William F. Bland Co. William Heinemann, Ltd. William Reeves Bookseller, Ltd. Williams & Wilkins Co. Willows Publishing Group WindBooks, Inc. Winklers Verlag G Grimm Wire Journal International Inc. Wirtschaft- N W Verlag Wissenschaft- Buchgesell Wissenschaft- v Spiess GmbH Wissenschaftliche Verlagsgesellschaft mbH Witherby & Co., Ltd. Wochenschau Verlag Wolfgang Weidlich Women-in-Literature Inc. Women's Review Inc. Woodhead-Faulkner (Pub.) Woodlands Publications Pty. Ltd. Woods Hole Oceanographic Institute Wordsworth Trade Press, Ltd. World Bank, Johns Hopkins University World Bureau of Metal Statistics World Future Society World Outlook Worldwide Videotex Wyoming Geological Association Year Book Medical Publishers, Inc. Yaakov, Bar-Shalom Yorkshire Naturalists' Union, University of Bradford Zechner & Huethig Verlag Zed Booka Zeitschrift-RBDV

Zinn-Wolfram Explorations Zoological Society of Pakistan 73 for Radio Amateurs/C W Communications, Peterborough 80 Micro/C W Communications, Peterborough